PROMOTING EUROPEAN GROWTH, PRODUCTIVITY, AND COMPETITIVENESS BY TAKING ADVANTAGE OF THE NEXT DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY WAVE



ITIF.ORG

ROBERT D. ATKINSON AND STEPHEN EZELL | MARCH 2019

PREFACE

In the second half of 2019, Finland will assume the presidency of the European Council. One key issue for the Finnish government as it occupies that role will be how to better position Europe for the next phase of the digital economy. To help better understand this, the Finnish government (Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment) has asked the Information Technology and Innovation Foundation (ITIF) to provide an analysis and recommendations for how Europe can best achieve digital success, as seen from a non-EU perspective.

ABOUT ITIF

The Information Technology and Innovation Foundation is a nonprofit, nonpartisan research and educational institute focusing on the intersection of technological innovation and public policy. Recognized as the world's leading science and technology policy think tank, ITIF's mission is to formulate and promote policy solutions that accelerate innovation and boost productivity to spur growth, opportunity, and progress.

DISCLAIMER

The ideas and proposals herein represent the views of ITIF and not those of the Finnish government or the upcoming Finnish EU presidency.

CONTENTS

| Executive Summary | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|
| Introduction: How Economies Transform Through Waves of Innovation9 | | | | |
| The Task Ahead: Transforming Europe Through Connectivity, Automation, and Smart Systems (CAS) | | | | |
| Where Does the EU Stand Vis-à-Vis Digital Technologies? | | | | |
| Innovation Policies and Systems Targeting CAS24 | | | | |
| Key Strategic Issues for the EU44 | | | | |
| Policies for CAS Transition | | | | |
| Why Does Europe Need a Stronger and More Comprehensive Digital Policy? 50 | | | | |
| Framework Conditions | | | | |
| Trade | | | | |
| Resources for Firms | | | | |
| Technology/Sector/Firm Policies | | | | |
| Culture and Institutions | | | | |
| Conclusion | | | | |
| Endnotes | | | | |
| Acknowledgments | | | | |
| About The Authors | | | | |
| About ITIF | | | | |

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

A new suite of digital technologies is reshaping advanced economies and promising increased rates of innovation, productivity, and economic growth, along with improvements in quality of life. However, the EU will not gain the full benefits of this next innovation wave without the right policies.

This report begins by discussing the emerging digital technology transformation, what is required for success, and where Europe stands vis-à-vis progress on digital development and adoption. It then compares Europe with China, Japan, and the United States in terms of indicators of both digital economy development and adoption as well as key policies and factors related to digital economy success. It then lays out six key strategic issues for the EU as it seeks competitive advantage and growth from the next technology wave. Finally, the report presents a series of policy recommendations for the EU, organized into five sections: regulatory framework conditions, trade policy, resources for firms (including data, R&D, skills and digital infrastructure), technology/sector/firm policies, and culture and institutions.

The Task Ahead: Transforming Europe Through Connectivity, Automation, and Smart Systems (CAS)

Europe faces a set of important new challenges and opportunities as the next wave of ICT-based innovations emerges. Advanced nations and regions are in the beginning stages of a major technology wave; a transformation to a more sophisticated, powerful, and wide-ranging digital system. This system will be much more connected (a massive number of "things" will be connected through more advanced networks), automated (devices and systems will enable more work to be done by "machines"), and smart (algorithms will play important roles in making sense of and acting on all this information). As a shorthand, we call this system connected, automated, and smart (CAS).

Successful development and adoption in the EU will likely lead to significant benefits, not the least of which includes the potential return to the kinds of robust rates of productivity growth EU nations enjoyed from 1980 to 1995. Indeed, this next innovation wave holds the potential to reverse the 20-year productivity growth lag suffered by the EU. Moreover, CAS adoption will help address pressing EU challenges, including in the areas of education, environment, health, and transportation. And CAS development could boost EU global competitiveness.

Because of the nature of this next wave, especially its potential transformation of "atom-based" industries, the EU is better positioned to succeed than it was in the last ICT wave, as Europe has many strengths it can leverage for success, including strong research universities, a highly skilled workforce, a large market, world-leading firms, and. importantly, core engineering strengths and a willingness to engage in public-private digital transformation projects. However, the EU also faces challenges, including lower ICT industry investment in R&D than in the United States and Japan, lower rates of ICT patenting, lower levels of entrepreneurial risk taking and a weaker ecosystem (e.g., venture capital) that accompanies it. The EU also has a much larger

share of small firms than the United States, which limits innovation, investment, and productivity. Firms in the EU also invest less in ICT and spend less on digital services (including cloud computing and other information services).

Key Strategic Issues for the EU

As the EU considers how it wants to fully support and capitalize on the innovations emerging from the coming CAS transformation, it needs to consider several strategic factors.

1. Focus on the Future, Not the Past

The EU missed many of the opportunities from the last two ICT waves, including in personal computers, smartphones, cloud computing, Internet search, and social media. Because of the enormous economies of scale and scope, and first-mover advantages global leading firms have in these areas, it will be extremely difficult for the EU to break into these industries in a serious way. This implies the EU should focus on the industries and technologies of the future, and not on gaining market share in the current wave of ICT industries. The business and national winners in the CAS system (e.g., robotics, autonomous systems, blockchain, quantum computing, artificial intelligence, 5G, Internet of Things, etc.) are not preordained, and any current competitive advantage by no means assures future advantage. As such, the EU should focus on winning global market share in the emerging CAS technology areas.

2. Focus on Areas of Competitive Advantage

The EU also needs to focus on areas of existing competitive advantage. Previous digital technology waves were largely about "bits"; in other words, purely digital technologies. The next wave will be increasingly about "bits and atoms," or, the emerging technology system increasingly combining digital technologies with physical things and activities (e.g., smart agriculture, smart cities, smart grids, smart manufacturing, autonomous vehicles, etc.). This plays well to the EU's considerable strengths in engineering, provided, however, the EU improves and expands its software capabilities. However, this means conceiving of "Industry 4.0" broadly, and not just on manufacturing. The digital transformation of "atom-based" industries is much broader than just manufacturing. All physical systems, including agriculture, buildings, infrastructure, logistics, and transportation, are being digitized—all areas wherein the EU has real strengths.

Another area of strength for the EU is technology-enabled business services, including in accounting and finance, engineering services, supply chain and logistics, environmental compliance, consulting, graphics design, and biometrics. Moreover, this is an area wherein East Asian capabilities are much less developed. The EU can build on both its own and national government policy efforts in areas such as health IT and genetic records, e-government services, digital IDs, fintech, blockchain-enabled logistics, and others. In particular, global liberalization of the services trade provides a core opportunity for Europe, especially as more services are being digitized and able to be more easily traded across borders, and the free flow of data across borders is enabled.

The EU should focus on the industries and technologies of the future, not the recent past, and build on existing core competencies.

3. Address Unequal Adoption of Digital Tools Between Firms, Industries, and Nations

If the EU is to fully succeed in the CAS era, it needs to successfully address three key gaps. The first is too many EU organizations lag in their adoption of past and current waves of ICT. There is a considerable gap between leading firms and "zombie firms" (firms with low productivity growth and limited ICT adoption). And the EU has a significantly larger share of employment in small, relatively low-productivity, low-ICT-using firms protected by public policies that provide incentives to not get big, as getting big brings with it a host of regulatory and tax obligations.¹

Second, the gaps are not just between firms, but industries. ICT adoption is less even between European industries than it is in the United States. This is a major reason the gap between the most-productive and least-productive firms in any particular EU industry is higher than in the United States.

The third gap is between nations. Some EU nations, such as the Nordic nations, are on par with, or even ahead of, the United States. But many other EU nations, including the EU-10 and southern EU nations, lag significantly behind EU leaders in ICT development and adoption.

4. Shift the Strategic Focus of the EU's Digital Policies

There are three principal types of digital economy policies: foundational, field clearing, and proactive. Foundational policy activities are focused on addressing potential harms from ICT or ICT companies. Field-clearing policies are focused on clearing barriers and limiting future barriers to digital innovation. Proactive policies seek not just to open markets and enable digital entrants to compete, but to actively support EU-wide digital transformation. While EU member states and the European Union have taken steps in all three areas, much of the focus has been on foundational policies, and relatively less on field-clearing and proactive policies.

Yet, proactive digital policies represent the next big opportunity for EU digital policy. These include policies to expand and improve the resources firms rely on for success, including ICT R&D, data, broadband networks, and digital skills. The latter is particularly important, as Europe lags behind the United States in the share of the workforce with software skills, which is arguably the key ingredient for digital economy success. But proactive policies, often implemented through public-private partnerships, also support digital innovation and adoption in key technology areas, such as AI, digital IDs, high-performance computing, and robotics, and key application areas such as health IT, smart grids, and smart cities.

5. Build on the EU's Unique Advantages

While the EU lags behind the United States and China in several areas related to the digital economy, it has several unique advantages, particularly over the United States. To win in the next CAS wave, the EU needs to double down on these advantages. There are two that deserve particular focus. First, compared with the United States, the EU is much more open to supporting proactive policies to help drive digital transformation in particular areas, such as the smart grid, smart cities, health IT, E-IDs, etc. Taking advantage of this can not only produce needed transformation, but also give EU firms a leg up in global competition.

Second, the EU can take advantage of policy innovation going on in all EU nations, particularly in many of the smaller nations. National digital advantage in many technology and application areas depends both on coordination of multiple actors (a task that can be extremely difficult in large nations such as the United States) and policy innovation. But the EU has numerous nations that have shown a willingness and ability to be more innovative and flexible. The Commission should take advantage of these innovations, seeking to spur more bottom-up policy innovation and then bring those innovations fully to market, diffusing them throughout all of the EU. As such, a key challenge for the EU going forward will be to identify its many strengths and build on them while at the same time identifying weaknesses and taking steps to overcome them.

6. Win Through Out-Investing the United States

One reason for America's lead in the last two ICT waves is significant public investment from the 1960s to the 1980s, especially in R&D, including through the Department of Defense, NASA, and the National Science Foundation. But years of budget neglect have resulted in the United States now ranking eighth among Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) nations in the ratio of government-funded R&D to GDP. And current budget challenges in the United States suggest this will only get worse. This provides the EU with a real opportunity to gain ground on the United States through more robust public investment, particularly in R&D focused on CAS technologies. However, the EU will also need more effective technology transfer and commercialization —an area in which the United States does quite well—if it is to get the most out of increased investments in R&D.

Policy Recommendations

The report makes a number of recommendations in five main areas: regulation, trade policy, resources for firms (including data, R&D, skills and digital infrastructure), technology/sector/firm policies, and culture and institutions. These are not intended to be set in stone, but rather as suggestions of the kinds of steps the EU may want to consider.

Regulatory Framework Conditions

- In efforts to "level the playing field" between industries and firms, the EU should be focused more on equivalent protection, not equivalent regulation. In other words, the goal should not be to subject new digitally-based business models to the same regulation as incumbents—which often limits innovation.
- The Commission should actively support national efforts to reform and improve regulation. In particular, this will mean a greater embrace of the "innovation principle" when considering government response to new technologies.
- In order to enable digital single market, the Commission should be given political-level support to preempt digital economy regulations individual member states adopt.

- The Commission should create within the Regulatory Scrutiny Board an Office of Innovation Review whose mission would be to serve as an "innovation advocate" in the regulatory process.
- The Commission and member states should continue developing "regulatory sandboxes"—frameworks that enable firms to work with regulators to test their innovative products, services, and business models with real consumers in a controlled environment on a trial basis.

Trade Policy

- The Commission should be given the authority to review and approve or reject acquisitions of EU firms from nations practicing state capitalism.
- The EU should—within the text of its trade agreements, not outside of them—develop provisions to protect the role data flows play in digital trade in order to ensure other nations do not use privacy as a cover for digital protectionism, as it would make these measures subject to a trade dispute.
- The EU's digital trade agreement provisions should emphasize that firms will be held accountable for ensuring a country's data protection rules flow with the data.
- To better establish an EU single market for services, the EU needs to develop a
 more robust process to identify barriers to entry and operation in service
 markets, and reporting and transparency mechanisms to publicize relevant
 rules and regulations alongside a parallel effort to ensure regulatory agencies
 have the capability to enforce relevant rules and laws.
- The EU should take a leading role in reviving negotiations over an ambitious Trade in Services Agreement within the World Trade Organization.

Resources for Firms: Data, Research, Skills, and Infrastructure

- Every EU member state should appoint a chief digital officer to not only champion data innovation domestically, but also to serve on an EU-wide advisory panel charged with counseling the European Commission on development of a cohesive vision and strategy for capturing the full benefits of data-driven innovation.
- The Commission should adopt an ICT R&D funding system that gives EU industry much more say in determining the technology areas the EU funds. In contrast, for individual academic researchers and academic research centers, the Commission should identify areas of importance for ICT research and devote funds to projects in these areas.
- The Commission should reduce its role as a direct funder of large numbers of individual research projects and instead fund many more industry-funded university R&D centers on multiyear contracts.
- The Commission should establish an ICT-based Industry-University Cooperative Research Center program, wherein the research areas are determined by universities and industry working collaboratively.
- The Commission should establish a program to make awards of €1 million per year for 5 years to the top 100 or so individual academic researchers doing work in advanced ICT areas, such as AI, that industry values. This will help

the best academic talent not only stay and develop in Europe, but also stay in academia rather than being lured to industry.

- The current proposal for the Directorate General for Research and Innovation for funding for R&D in robotics and artificial intelligence should be supported.
- The Commission should provide matching grants to member states to establish teacher-certification programs in computer science (CS) as the EU lags behind the United States in the production and employment of CS workers.
- The EU should build on public-private partnerships for computer science education and digital skills development. Many leading companies making or using digital technologies would likely be active participants in such programs.
- The Commission should fund a pilot program that would establish more maker spaces in European high schools, in order to boost digital manufacturing and engineering skills.
- The EU should consider the U.S. experience in creating a continent-wide telecom service market, including in spectrum, and assess its applicability in the EU.
- Wherever there are at least two competing broadband providers (e.g., wireline telecommunications, cable providers, or 5G wireless) in a market, the Commission should allow national governments to remove price regulations and wholesale network unbundling requirements.
- The EU should lower costs of deployment for 5G infrastructure by encouraging local authorities to streamline their infrastructure siting requirements.
- EU policymakers should continue to evaluate the benefits of differentiated network services, and whether existing net neutrality regulations impede innovative new broadband network applications.

Technology/Sector/Firm Policies

- The Commission should chart out steps articulating how it can help member states drive CAS applications through public-private partnerships. This should include heading an effort to help member states become lead adopters of emerging CAS technologies.
- The EU should focus on using existing programs and policies that affect particular industries to drive CAS transformation (e.g., agriculture and DG AGRI; financial and DG ECFIN; transportation and DG MOVE; etc.).
- Each major Directorate General should establish a position of chief technology officer to ensure Directorates' policies are aligned with CAS sector transformation.
- The EU should fund the establishment of an EU-wide version of America's Digital Manufacturing and Design Innovation Institute.
- The EU should fund a network of "manufacturing universities" focused on skills and R&D relevant to manufacturers in the EU.

- The EU should develop an "EU Smart City App Store"—a common repository of approved commercial applications and open-source code—other EU cities can adapt and reuse.
- The Commission should establish competitive programs to support member states that establish innovative CAS-related projects and initiatives.

Culture and Institutions

- The Commission should lead a dialogue that explores adopting the innovation principle, rather than the precautionary principle, when it comes to CAS.
- The EU should expand support for EU universities and colleges to create entrepreneurship education programs.
- The EU should provide challenge grants to universities to reform university engineering curricula toward more project-based learning and entrepreneurship.
- The EU should support innovative new organizational models in areas such as health care, transportation, and education.
- The EU should establish an EU-wide productivity agency to identify specific policies to spur faster technology-based productivity, and to act as a champion of stronger productivity policies. While the Commission encourages the establishment of National Productivity Boards, many key issues can only be addressed at the EU level.² Moreover, many of the national productivity boards focus on macroeconomic and regulatory framework issues, rather than the more critical industry-, technology-, and firm-specific issues related to productivity and policy.³

The EU has a significant opportunity to make major strides in the next wave of digital transformation, but it will need to adopt a forward-looking policy perspective that focuses foremost on the benefits the next generation of digital technologies can bring to Europe's economy and society. In particular, Europe should leverage its distinct strengths in areas such as collaborative public-private partnerships and advanced industrial engineering to position itself to be a global leader in the coming CAS transformation. While the EU should be attuned to potential digital harms, it should also remember that, in total, these are well-outweighed by digital benefits, and manage its digital policymaking framework accordingly.

INTRODUCTION: HOW ECONOMIES TRANSFORM THROUGH WAVES OF INNOVATION

The conventional economics view of innovation, to the extent economists have one, is that innovation is linear in nature—something that just proceeds regularly. In this view, innovation is, as economist Robert Solow wrote, "Manna from heaven."⁴ But in fact, technological innovation appears to follow a pattern of repeating "S curves" with waves of technology emerging, developing, and then stagnating before the next new wave. This is what Joseph Schumpeter argued when he wrote that, "each of the long waves in economic activity consists of an 'industrial revolution' and the absorption of its effects."⁵ The idea is that innovation progresses in regular cycles or waves approximately half a century long, with initial modest growth followed by a period of robust adoption and growth followed by stagnation.⁶ As Schumpeter wrote:

These revolutions periodically reshape the existing structure of industry by introducing new methods of production—the mechanized factory, the electrified factory, chemical synthesis, and the like; new commodities, such as railroad service, motorcars, electrical appliances; new forms of organization—the merger movement; new sources of supply—La Plata wool, American cotton, Katanga copper; new trade routes and markets to sell in and so on. This process of industrial change provides the ground swell that gives the general tone to business; while these things are being initiated we have brisk expenditure and predominating prosperity interrupted, no doubt, by the negative phases of the shorter [business] cycles that are superimposed on that groundswell.⁷

The key to Schumpeter's analysis is the insight that innovation is not a continuous process bringing steady incremental improvements but rather a discontinuous process that leads to waves of technological innovations. He also noted:

These revolutions are not strictly incessant; they occurred in discrete rushes which are separated from each other by spans of comparative quiet. The process as a whole works incessantly, however, in the sense that there is always either revolution or absorption of the results of revolution, both together forming what are known as business cycles.⁸

This process of technological change has two critical characteristics that make it an important determinant of economic and social change. First, these long waves are not a large collection of incremental improvements in the existing technology system that emerge at the same time. Rather, they are waves of radical innovations that disrupt the current technology and production system. For example, the steam engine and the automatic spinning and weaving mill were not improvements on existing technology, but fundamentally new ones that reshaped British—and later continental European and American—economies in the first half of the 19th century. Likewise, while the microchip performed the same function as a vacuum tube, it was a radical and disruptive technology.

Second, these disruptive technologies do not just emerge one or two at a time, but rather burst onto the scene as an entire array that forms a mutually reinforcing technology system. The emergence of cheap steel in the 1880s and 1890s transformed not just the steel industry but also almost all of manufacturing, as a wide array of industries could then take advantage of low-cost, high-strength steel. These new technology systems periodically emerge and sweep through and transform the entire economic order. This is not to say innovation ceases after these revolutionary new technology systems emerge. Rather, it takes on a more incremental character, reinforcing and gradually improving, rather than disrupting, the newly formed technology system.

According to this periodization, there have been five waves to date: the steam engine, beginning in the 1780s and 1790s; iron, beginning in the 1840s and 1850s; steel and electricity, beginning in the 1890s and 1900s; electromechanical and chemical

Technological innovation appears to follow a pattern of repeating "S curves," with waves of technology emerging and then stagnating before the next new wave. technologies, beginning in the 1950s and 1960s; and information and communications technologies, beginning in the 1980s and 1990s (see figure 1).⁹



Figure 1: Technology Long-Wave Periodization

This periodization points to several important conclusions. First, despite all the discussion about the world being in the midst of a Fourth Industrial Revolution, one can make a reasonably strong argument that we are closer to the end than the middle of the current digital technology S curve. This is true for two reasons. First, with regard to the existing information and communications technology (ICT) innovations, most are significantly less transformative than those of a decade or two ago. Take broadband telecommunications. Moving from a 56K dial-up modem to a 2 MB broadband connection in the late 1990s and early 2000s was a huge improvement. Not only did speed increase by a factor of 36 and did users have an always-on system, broadband supported a wholly different set of applications than did the old ones, including voice and video. Going from 2 MB to 12 MB was still valuable, but it represented only a sixfold increase in speed. And while it enabled the emergence of video streaming and cloud computing, much of the rest of Internet applications (e.g., search, e-commerce, etc.) were improved, but not enabled. Likewise, going from 12 MB to 100 MB or even a gigabit per second is not a game changer, as some existing applications will work slightly better. It is possible that new applications that require super-fast speeds, such as holographic communications, could be developed. But so far, they are not here. We can see similar dynamics in operating systems wherein the shift from DOS to Windows was a major improvement, but the regular improvement in operating systems now, while helpful, are not transformational. Similarly, moving from the x86 Intel microprocessor series to the Pentium in the mid-1990s was a huge step. Going from Pentium to today's core processors, though certainly providing a major increase in performance, is less important, at least to the average personal computer user's experience. Today, many people talk about the emergence of cloud computing as a similar revolution for the Internet. But as useful as the cloud is in reducing costs and improving functionality, it is a stepwise increase in Internet functionality, compared with the emergence in 1995 of the Netscape browser and client-server computing. This

ICT maturity, more than any other factor, likely explains the slowdown over the last decade in both capital investment and productivity in advanced economies.¹⁰

Second, the emerging applications many point to today—artificial intelligence (AI), autonomous vehicles (AVs), drones, flexible robots, etc.—are still relatively nascent and generally are too expensive and not effective enough to drive economy-wide productivity. For example, despite the excitement over "Industry 4.0" and Internet of Things technologies, most manufacturers appear to be in the very early stages of adopting these systems. A 2017 Sikich study found that 77 percent of U.S. small to medium-sized manufacturers still have no plans to implement Industrial Internet of Things solutions within the next three years.¹¹ Likewise, while there is considerable excitement about machine learning software systems, their current capabilities remain relatively limited, notwithstanding promising early applications. Fully autonomous cars at a price point most consumers can afford are likely at least 15 years away.¹² And fully dexterous robotic hands are not likely to be in the market before 2030, or even 2040.¹³ As Rodney Brooks wrote, "Having ideas is easy. Turning them into reality is hard. Turning them into being deployed at scale is even harder."¹⁴

If this periodization is correct, it suggests that the current period of incremental innovation and relative productivity stagnation will eventually be replaced with a sixth technology wave grounded in new technologies that will be so powerful that organizations and people will be compelled to buy them en masse. Several technologies look like candidates to comprise the next innovation wave, including Internet of Things, 5G wireless systems, advanced robotics, blockchain, autonomous machines, and, perhaps the most important, AI.¹⁵ AI has many functions, including but not limited to learning, understanding, reasoning, and interaction.¹⁶ There are two very distinct types of AI: narrow and strong. Narrow AI describes computer systems adept at performing specific tasks, such as Apple's Siri virtual assistant, which interprets voice commands.¹⁷ Strong AI, also referred to as artificial general intelligence (AGI), is a hypothetical type of AI that can meet or exceed human-level intelligence and apply its problem-solving ability to any type of problem.¹⁸ Many of the fears about AI, such as it leading to the elimination of most jobs, stem from the notion AGI is feasible and imminent.¹⁹ However, for the foreseeable future, computer systems that can fully mimic the human brain are only going to be found in Hollywood scripts- not labs in Silicon Valley.

If this next wave of innovation follows prior technological trajectories, the technologies will likely experience rapid price declines and significant performance improvements over the next decade. As this occurs, they will provide a compelling value proposition for a wide range of organizations to scrap existing technologies that have not been fully depreciated, and replace them with more productive new technology systems.²⁰

This is particularly important for the EU as, compared with the United States, it has suffered from lagging productivity growth since 1995. U.S. labor productivity growth averaged 1.7 percent per year from 1980 to 1995, rose to 2.6 percent per year from 1995 through 2007, and then slowed to 1.1 percent yearly growth between 2007 and 2017.²¹ Annual EU-15 productivity growth declined from 2.3 percent per year from

One recurring factor with shifts in long waves is that each has come with a shifting geographic center of gravity. 1980 to 1995 to 1.4 percent between 1995 and 2007 to just 0.6 percent since then (see figure 2).²²



Figure 2: EU-15 and U.S. Average Annual Labor Productivity Growth, 1980–2017²³

These lower rates have big implications. If the EU-15 nations had maintained the productivity growth rate they enjoyed from 1980 to 1995 through to 2017, their real GDP would be 31 percent larger today.²⁴ If EU labor productivity were to grow over the next 25 years at its 1980–1995 average of 2.3 percent per year, real output per capita would increase by 73 percent, which is significantly more than enough to pay for the increased retiree population, while at the same time ensuring after-tax worker incomes continue to rise. However, if Europe's current low productivity growth rate persists, real output per capita will grow by only 15 percent—not even enough to cover increased retirement costs from the greater share of retirees.²⁵

THE TASK AHEAD: TRANSFORMING EUROPE THROUGH CONNECTIVITY, AUTOMATION, AND SMART SYSTEMS (CAS)

One recurring factor, with shifts in long waves, is that each has shifted the geographic center of economic activity. Britain led the first and second waves, Germany and the United States led the third, and the United States led the fourth (with Germany and Japan being robust competitors). The United States also leads the current fifth wave, largely as leading American companies effectively embraced first the Wintel system (Windows and Intel), wherein companies specialize in particular components, and later the Internet system, wherein leading companies gained global market share by relying on economies of scale and network economics. Moreover, between the fourth and fifth waves, the center of gravity shifted in the United States, with the former largely centered on the East Coast and the Midwest industrial heartland, and the fifth centered on the West Coast and a few East Coast pockets (e.g., Boston's Route 128). In 1974, Montoro Yuasa wrote about this phenomena, arguing that the geographic center of scientific and engineering creativity shifts over time.²⁶ If this is true, it suggests that the emergence of new technology systems represent inflexion points that not only raise risks to leading regions, but also enable regions that had not led in the earlier era to gain leadership in the new era. Clearly, China appears poised, or is at least seeking, to

gain leadership in the next technology era. But this framing suggests that there is an opening for Europe to regain a leadership position.



Figure 3: The Emerging Connected, Automated, and Smart (CAS) Technology System

The current fifth technology wave is grounded in information and communications technology. It has evolved to include computing devices (computers, cell phones, servers, etc.) connected to the cloud, with many functions operating on platforms for search, e-commerce, and social media. However, advanced nations and regions are in the beginning stages of a next major technology wave; a transformation to a more sophisticated, powerful, and wide-ranging digital system. This system will be much more **connected** (a massive number of "things" will be connected, many by advanced wireless networks); **automated** (devices and systems will enable more work to be done by machines); and **smart** (algorithms, some of which have been developed by machine learning, will play important roles in making sense of and acting on all this information, including in helping to power machines). As a shorthand, we call this system **CAS**: connected, automated, and smart, as depicted in figure 3.

The challenge for any advanced nation or region is to be able to ensure a reasonable level of global competitiveness in CAS-based industries wherein firms are developing the technology and applications. It is also to ensure all sectors of the economy, including for-profit, nonprofit, and government organizations, adopt CAS technologies. In other words, ensuring most organizations in most industries are transformed by these technologies. Successful development and adoption in Europe will likely lead to enormous benefits, not the least of which include the potential return to the kinds of robust rates of productivity growth Europe enjoyed from 1980 to 1995 that eliminated the gap in productivity with the United States.²⁷ Moreover, CAS adoption will help address pressing EU challenges, including in the areas of education, environment, health, and transportation. And if through the process of CAS adoption more CAS development (research and development, design, and production) takes place in Europe, that will boost EU global competitiveness.

Going forward, therefore, the foundational question for Europe—both the EU and its member states—will be: Does Europe embrace or resist CAS adoption? And if it embraces it, are political leaders willing to make this a top priority above many other concerns, including funding for public investment? This matters greatly because nations and regions that embrace CAS will reap significant benefits and gain competitive advantage over nations that do not.

There are two key factors in assessing where Europe stands: its CAS-producing firms and its CAS-using firms. With regard to the former, information technology firms are not uniform, as they differ in terms of type of technology and business model. One useful typology is to divide firms into those for hardware, those for software, Internet platform companies, and IT-based business service firms. CAS-producing firms include semiconductor manufacturers (e.g., ARM, Intel, Infineon, NXP, STMicroelectronics) and manufacturers of devices (e.g., Apple, Ericcson, Nokia, Schneider Electric) such as computers, displays, services, smartphones, etc.. Software firms include business solutions (e.g., Adyen, B&R, Dassault Systemes, Oracle, SAP, Wolters Kluwer) and consumer-facing ones (e.g., Microsoft). Internet platform companies include search (e.g., Google), social media (e.g., Facebook, Twitter, Viadeo), applications (e.g., Spotify, Uber,), and e-commerce firms (e.g., Amazon, eBay, Schwarz, Zalando). ITbased business service firms (e.g., Accenture, Atos) help other firms adopt and adapt IT solutions. Most companies span more than one industry (e.g., SAP provides both software and business services).

Where Does the EU Stand Vis-à-Vis Digital Technologies?

While Europe benefited considerably from the last technology wave (e.g., computing, Internet, mobile, cloud, etc.) it faces several challenges. First, as is widely known, many of Europe's information technology firms largely missed this wave, with U.S. information technology firms (and not only the so-called GAFA [Google, Apple, Facebook, and Amazon] but many others as well) and to a somewhat lesser extent Chinese firms, gaining strong global market-leading positions. To be sure, some European information technology firms, such as SAP, innovated and adapted. And others, such as Skype and Spotify, were successful entrepreneurial tech start-ups. But overall, European firms did not capture the wave as successfully as U.S. and Chinese firms.

There are many reasons explaining why more European firms did not capture significant global market positions, including a lack of understanding of the importance of new "ecosystem-based" business models (e.g., Apple took market share from Nokia in part because it was able to leverage technology to create a unique customer experience leveraged through a product-service, ecosystem-based business model); a focus on mechanical engineering at the expense of software capabilities (as Marc Andreesen famously stated, "software is eating the world"); difficulty in supporting disruptive business models that allow new entrants to transform into "unicorns"; and, finally, the lack of an integrated EU market that would have enabled firms to gain scale quickly—something that is at the core of success for digital firms that have high fixed costs and low marginal costs and whose businesses often benefit from network effects.²⁸ For the emerging CAS, system scale also matters for many

Nations and regions that embrace CAS will reap significant benefits and gain competitive advantage over nations that do not. industries and firms because successfully developing digital technologies requires relatively high fixed costs—particularly those for R&D and software engineering. The more customers these costs can be amortized over, the more successful a company will become, earning profits it can reinvest in the next generation of products or services.

Development of Information and Communication Technologies

Before discussing Europe's position regarding digital technology industries, it is worth noting that there are several terms used to describe these industries, including digital industries, information technology industries, and ICT. The latter is perhaps the broadest, as it includes not just digital services firms, but also information technology hardware firms and communications services firms (e.g., Internet services providers and wireless providers). For this reason, this report will mostly use the term ICT to refer to the broad suite of industries involved in producing ICT products or providing ICT-based services. Of course, many "traditional" industries are becoming digital industries, as they adopt more ICT goods and services, and their offerings become more digitally based. More products (e.g., connected vehicles, smart electric grid, etc.) are becoming digitally enabled, and more processes are being powered by digital technologies (e.g., smart agriculture). But for the purposes of this report, ICT firms are those whose major output is information and communications goods and services.

There are a number of indicators of innovation industry success—not just for digital industries, but for all innovation-based industries. One is R&D. The EU lags behind other nations, including Japan, the United States, and China, in total R&D as a share of GDP (see figure 4). Likewise, the number of companies in the EU that are among the world's top 2,500 R&D-investing companies (per \$100 billion of GDP) lags behind that of the United States and Japan, and is on par with China (see figure 5). And the R&D intensity (R&D as a share of sales) of these companies is lower in the EU than in the United States (see figure 6).



Figure 4: Gross Domestic Expenditure on R&D as a Percentage of GDP, 2016²⁹



Figure 5: Number of Companies Among World's Top 2,500 R&D Investors per \$100 Billion of GDP. 2016³⁰

Figure 6: Average R&D Intensity of Enterprises in EU Industrial R&D Investment Scoreboard, 2017³¹



When it comes to ICT industry investment in R&D, companies in the United States invest almost three times more than companies in the EU and China, on average, with Japan investing at a little more than double the EU's rate, as figure 7 shows. South Korea (based on leading companies such as Samsung), as well as Finland, lead the ICT sector in overall business R&D as a share of GDP. Similarly, as figure 8 shows, the United States and Japan lead slightly in terms of the size of the ICT sector, with South Korea leading on this indicator overall.



Figure 7: Business R&D in the ICT Sector as a Percentage of GDP, 2015³²





As David Moschella wrote in *Seeing Digital*, Europe competes across most of the technology stack (from hardware to applications and services), but not always as successfully as it would like (hence the thin line in figure 9). In other words, while Europe and the United States both have a presence across the technology stack of what Moschella has defined as global services firms, lead customers, global brands, software skills, system design, and advanced components (unlike China and India, which have major strengths, albeit confined to fewer areas), Europe's overall strength in all areas is less than that of the United States.³⁴



Figure 9: National IT Strengths and the IT Stack³⁵

For example, as shown in figure 10, while in 2016 Europe had 27 digital platforms with 109,000 employees in fiscal year 2105 and a combined market capitalization of \$181 billion, the Asia-Pacific region had 82 digital platforms with approximately 350,000 employees and a combined market capitalization of \$930 billion, and North America had 82 digital platforms worth over \$3 trillion, with most being American. Likewise, a study of artificial intelligence start-up companies around the world estimated that in 2018 the United States was home to 1,393 AI companies, with Europe home to 769, China 383, and Japan 113.³⁶ European firms include companies such as Tangent Works in Belgium, Unsilo in Denmark, HeadAI in Finland, DCBrain in France, 12k Research in Germany, AImotive in Hungary, Artomatix in Ireland, Holsys in Italy, 904 Labs in the Netherlands, Aisens in Poland, Epinium in Spain, and Veridict in Sweden.³⁷



Figure 10: Digital Platform Companies by Region, 2015³⁸

Per GDP, the United States also files about twice as many ICT patents under the Patent Cooperation Treaty (generally more important patents than those filed only in

individual nations), than Europe, while China files about 2.5 times as many, and Japan 4 times as many (see figure 11). Moreover, as figure 12 shows, relative to GDP, the United States has vastly more technology unicorns (privately held technology start-up companies valued at over \$1 billion) than Europe, Japan, and China each of which has fewer unicorns than would be expected, controlling for the size of their economies. And venture capital investments in the United States as a share of GDP are approximately 10 times higher than in the EU and about one-third higher than in China, as figure 13 shows.



Figure 11: Patent Cooperation Treaty Patents Filed in ICT per Billion USD of GDP, 2014³⁹

Figure 12: Number of Tech Unicorns and Exits/GDP (GDP Figures in \$ Millions)





Figure 13: Venture Capital as a Percentage of GDP, 2016⁴⁰

Adoption of Digital Technologies

Supporting the growth of ICT firms is important, but to drive economic growth it is even more important to ensure widespread and robust adoption of digital technologies across all sectors of the economy. Moreover, as much as the focus today is on ensuring most industries adopt the next wave of CAS technologies (e.g., technologies such as artificial intelligence, the Internet of Things, autonomous systems, blockchain, etc.), Europe has been slow to fully adopt the current wave of technologies.

A number of indicators illustrate the EU's lagging position. For example, the 2016 World Economic Forum's Networked Readiness Index survey showed the EU-15 and EU-13 nations trailing the United States in digital technology adoption, business-tobusiness Internet use, business-to-consumer Internet use, and staff digital technology training, as figure 14 shows.⁴¹





Likewise, U.S. digital technology investment is significantly higher as a share of total investment than most EU nations, as figure 15 shows. The United States is also ahead of Europe in the adoption of digital technology services. Van Ark wrote, "Business spending on digital services (including cloud computing and other information services) relative to output has increased from 1.5 per cent in 2000 to 1.9 per cent in 2014 in the United States, from 2.2 per cent in 2000 to 3.0 per cent in 2013 in the United Kingdom, and from 1.0 per cent in 2000 and 1.8 per cent in 2012 in Germany."⁴³ Similarly, digital technology investment as a share of GDP is about 20 percent higher in the United States and Japan than in the EU, as figure 16 shows.

Figure 15: ICT Investment as a Share of Total Investment, 2016 (or Latest Data Available)⁴⁴



Figure 16: ICT Investment by Capital Asset as a Percentage of GDP, 2015⁴⁵



The EU also appears to be behind the United States in cloud computing adoption. One study estimated that "the United States will be the largest market for public cloud services, accounting for more than 60 percent of worldwide revenues throughout the forecast with total spending of \$163 billion in 2021. Western Europe will be the second-largest region with 2021 spending levels of \$52 billion."⁴⁶ In other words, as a share of GDP, by 2021, U.S. spending on cloud computing services is projected to be over two times greater than western European spending as a share of GDP.

When it comes to industrial robot adoption, the United States outperforms Europe as a whole. South Korea was the world's largest adopter of industrial robots in 2017, with 710 robots per 10,000 workers, Germany was third with 322 robots, Japan was fourth with 308, and Sweden was fifth with 240. The United States ranked seventh with 200 industrial robots per 10,000 workers. Belgium, Italy, the Netherlands, Austria, Spain, Slovenia, Finland, France, the Czech Republic, and the United Kingdom all lag behind the United States (see figure 17).



Figure 17: Robots per 10,000 Manufacturing Workers, 2017⁴⁷

Moreover, notwithstanding the emergence of artificial intelligence, robotics, and the Internet of Things, European productivity growth has slowed, and continues to lag behind U.S. productivity growth rates, as figure 18 shows.⁴⁸ Since the financial crisis, labor productivity in the 28 EU member states has grown just 0.7 percent annually. Only one EU-15 country, Ireland, has managed a higher productivity growth rate than that of the United States since 1995. Moreover, compared with the United States, Europe has experienced far smaller productivity gains from digital technologies. Although the contribution of digital technology varies between European countries, only two Scandinavian nations (Denmark and Sweden) have gained more from ICT than the United States; other EU nations have been able to reap fewer benefits (see figure 19).



Figure 18: EU-15 and U.S. Average Annual Labor Productivity Growth, 1980–2017⁴⁹

Figure 19: ICT Contribution to Average Annual GDP Growth Rate, 1985–2016⁵⁰



Innovation Policies and Systems Targeting CAS

Most developed and developing nations are putting in place policies to support CAS development or adoption—or both. This section examines innovation policies and systems, especially those related to the development and use of current and next wave ICT technologies in Europe, China, Japan, and the United States—although many other nations including Canada, India, South Korea, and Taiwan are actively seeking competitive advantage in advanced digital technologies. Indeed, global CAS competition will only increase. Europe and Japan largely missed the last transformation from mainframes to PCs and the Internet. China initially was not ready, but caught up through proactive policies that supported the development of its own indigenous digital technology firms. Today, more nations understand the evolving contours of CAS, and as such, if they fail to capture CAS competitive advantage, it will likely not be for lack of understanding. Rather, it will be for other reasons: lack of full support for

China is both building up its domestic S&T capacity and harvesting the S&T competencies of others. the transformation; organizational, cultural, and institutional factors making it more difficult to innovate; and weak or poorly designed government policies.

China

The Chinese government is driven by an animating ambition to become the world's leader in science- and technology- (S&T) based industries, both for the purposes of achieving global economic leadership and to rival, if not surpass, the military capacity of the United States. A preponderance of China's leaders are educated in S&T fields, and thus have a deep appreciation of how science and technology underpin economic and military prowess. Further, China's leaders have proven unabashed at leveraging every tool at their disposal to turbocharge S&T-based economic growth, including by providing hundreds of billions of dollars in subsidies for advanced-technology industries and implementing supporting policies (e.g., government-funded research, support for digital-based infrastructure, export financing, etc.).

China has also put in place "innovation mercantilist" policies designed to compel foreign enterprises, including European ones, to transfer technology, know-how, and intellectual property (IP) to Chinese companies—and migrate advanced manufacturing activity there. In other words, China is both building up its domestic S&T capacity and harvesting the S&T competences of others. Also, it is important to understand that China has invested considerable sums of money to achieve this goal, including generous subsidies to individual firms. The Chinese strategy to dominate technology fields is to spend as much and to do whatever it takes.

China's latest innovation strategy is described in its *Made in China 2025* plan, which identified 10 key technologies the Chinese government intends to focus on and gain market share in. For instance, with regard to digitally enabled manufacturing (i.e., smart manufacturing), the strategy calls for Chinese firms holding 80 percent domestic market share of high-end computer numeric-controlled machines by 2025; 70 percent for robots and robot core components; 60 percent for big data; 60 percent for IT for smart manufacturing; and 50 percent for industrial software.⁵¹ China's goal is for its companies to ultimately supplant foreign technology companies both in China and in markets around the world.⁵² In other words, China seeks not comparative (or even competitive) advantage in global S&T industries, but rather absolute advantage that results in its ability to meet domestic demand with domestic production, and to gain a considerable share of global markets.

The weaknesses of China's S&T system rest primarily in the fact that China's headlong push for S&T leadership results in a substantial misallocation of resources, whether in redundant efforts to build semiconductors or life-sciences facilities and enterprises across multiple competing provinces, or in the production of publications and patents that are of dubious quality. Many of these technologies will find their way into state-owned or state-supported enterprises that do not have to compete on true market-based terms and thus are not likely to be as competitive as the global leaders in their fields. Misallocation of capital is likely a major reason why total Chinese factory productivity actually fell around 1.5 percent per year from 2007 to 2012.⁵³

More generally, China's assertive use of mercantilist techniques to grow S&T-based industries is now engendering significant pushback from countries negatively impacted by such practices, which is likely to constrain China's "going-out" strategy of tapping into global markets to support an export-driven economic growth strategy (as we are seeing today with the Trump administration's tariffs on Chinese imports and other policies to pressure the Chinese government to roll back its innovation mercantilist policies, and the increasing number of other nations taking action regarding Chinese inward direct investment).

For over a decade, China reassured the world that it was embracing a path of "rebalancing" to become more dependent on domestic consumption and less on investment and exports.⁵⁴ But that has not come to pass, particularly after Xi Jinping became president. President Xi has reinforced China's focus on trying to grow through changing its industrial composition to higher-value-added export-oriented sectors. While that may generate some gains, particularly over the next decade or two, it is not a sustainable path to growing the Chinese economy, in large part because advanced industries can never be a large enough share of a nation's GDP to overcome slower growth in the rest of the economy. Indeed, research from the McKinsey Global Institute found that countries that outperform their peers economically do not have a more favorable sector mix (e.g., more high-tech industries), but instead have individual firms across all sectors that are more productive.⁵⁵ Moreover, in many cases, Chinese policies to support advanced industries come at the cost of higher productivity growth in the rest of the economy, especially in policies that limit access to global best-in-class technology, such as tariffs and incentives, and pressures to buy lower-quality domestic technology. As such, China should, but likely will not, focus more on raising productivity across the board in all sectors.

China has launched a major effort to develop and deploy emerging digital technologies, including several Internet of Things initiatives. In 2011, China's Ministry of Industry and Information Technology (MIIT) issued a "Five-Year Plan for the Development of the Internet of Things," outlining how the government intends to support the technology, such as by setting standards and demonstrating real-world applications. This plan called for creating an Internet of Things "special fund" to support R&D, with investments totaling \$774 million from 2011 to 2015. In August 2013, China's State Council issued guidance to support smart city pilot programs, with a particular focus on smart utilities and transportation; and the Chinese Development Bank agreed to establish financing programs for smart city pilots. Also in 2013, China established an interagency council to guide national policy on the Internet of Things and issued guidance to support the technology, including fostering industry development, workforce training, and R&D targets.

In May 2015, China's State Council issued a China Manufacturing 2025 strategy (i.e., *Made in China 2025)*, a 10-year plan laying out a strategy for the country to become a "world manufacturing power," especially by strengthening its intelligent manufacturing capabilities. On March 31, 2016, China's MIIT announced an Implementation Plan for the 2016 Intelligent Manufacturing Pilots Special Project, with the plan including a detailed timeline for intelligent manufacturing pilots in which companies are to

upgrade their facilities with a range of intelligent technologies. The plan orders 60 pilot projects across a number of Chinese industrial sectors with the following directives:

- Leverage intelligent technologies to upgrade discrete manufacturing sectors (such as electronic information, machinery, aviation, aerospace, and automotive);
- Leverage intelligent technologies to upgrade process-manufacturing sectors (such as oil exploration and petrochemicals);
- Promote "network-cooperative manufacturing" in integrated circuits, communication products, machinery, automobiles, household appliances, and related industries; and
- Leverage cloud computing to carry out large-scale customization for digital products and other related sectors.

In April 2016, MIIT complemented the Intelligent Manufacturing Pilots Special Project with an Implementation Plan for 2016 Special Project on Innovatively Promoting the Integration of Industrialization and Informatization. The plan urges Chinese manufacturers to promote the incorporation of next-generation information technologies into their manufacturing processes. The plan seeks to build Internet-based service platforms to boost entrepreneurship and innovation, with the goal of over 50 percent of leading enterprises in key industries having access to such platforms; while also cultivating a batch of service platforms using cloud and industry big data and achieve a 20 percent annual increase in the number of "industry cloud corporate users."

To achieve these goals, the plan for Innovatively Promoting the Integration of Industrialization and Informatization outlines seven priority work streams, including beginning the development of cyber-physical systems (CPS) testing and evaluation platforms and verification test beds, launching CPS application pilots, and formulating CPS-related standards. Finally, in part to help fund these and other initiatives, in June 2016, China's National Development and Reform Commission, Ministry of Finance, and Ministry of Industry and Information Technology announced the launch of a \$3 billion (¥20 billion) fund that will invest in the advanced-manufacturing sector, promote modernization of traditional industries, and boost high-end manufacturing. The funds were contributed by China's central treasury, its State Development and Investment Corporation, and the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China.

As part of *Made in China 2025*, China is also launching a network of Manufacturing Innovation Centers (MICs) modeled directly after America's Manufacturing USA initiative. In fact, the first two Chinese institutes, focused on additive manufacturing and wide-bandgap power electronics (or, power batteries), were a copy of America's first two Institutes of Manufacturing Innovation. By 2020, based on China's 13th 5-Year National Plan, the number of MICs is expected to be 15—and by 2025 China intends to grow the number of MICs to 40.⁵⁶

In short, China's government has instituted several key initiatives and made significant investments toward ensuring the country's manufacturing industries adopt and embrace smart manufacturing technologies and processes as quickly as possible. As Paul Tate, an analyst for market-research firm Frost and Sullivan, observed, "Overall, the aim of this new strategy [*Made in China 2025*] is to put China on par with other industrialized countries such as the United States and Germany ... in accelerating the adoption of digital technologies and advanced production approaches." Table 1 summarizes the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats of China's S&T system.

Table 1: SWOT Assessment of China's S&T System

Strengths

Weaknesses

| • | National mission of achieving global technology leadership | • | Weaker at original, "first-to-world" innovation | |
|---|---|---|---|--|
| • | Massive government investment in S&T | | Questionable ability of regulatory regime to validate safety/efficacy of cutting-edge projects (e.g., issues around shoddy high- speed rail, counterfeit pharmaceuticals, etc.) | |
| • | Ability to acquire foreign technology without paying for it, including through cyber vectors and using large domestic market to compel technology transfer | | | |
| • | Robust build-up of new technology-based military weapons | | Overall poor quality of patents (although improving) | |
| | Large numbers of science and engineering | • | Scientific publications infrequently cited | |
| | (S&E) graduates | • | Few world-class universities | |
| • | Reverse engineering, fast following, absorptive capacity | • | Science funding system not based as much on merit and peer review | |
| • | Large domestic market making it compelling for foreign innovation-based companies to invest in China | · | Overinvestment in some sectors leading to overcapacity and wasted capital | |
| | | • | Dominance of state-owned enterprises crowding out more innovative and efficient private enterprises | |
| | | • | Education system not instilling creative thinking | |
| | | · | Relatively poor corporate management skills | |
| | | • | Lack of capabilities higher in the "ICT stack," especially ICT services | |
| | | • | Lack of well-perceived global brands | |
| | Raising of strengths at original innovation | | Aggressive "innovation mercantilism" | |
| | Widespread adoption of ICT across all | | having triggered responses from other | |
| | sectors Translation of investments in emerging sectors—semiconductors, life sciences, robotics, and clean energy—into global leadership Use of power and funding to shape international and national economic policies/institutions (e.g., World Bank; Asian Infrastructure Development Bank; One Belt, One Road initiative) | | nations, thereby limiting China's access to markets and possibly provoking new trade | |
| • | | | and security arrangements | |
| | | · | Rising costs shifting lower-skilled production to lower-cost nations | |
| • | | · | Difficulty in moving up innovation value chain | |
| | | • | Overinvestment and waste threatening financial stability; too much low-quality debt | |
| | Our month with the second | | Thracks | |
| | Upportunities | | Inreats | |

Notwithstanding the growth of China's ICT firms and the focus of the Chinese government on these sectors, overall ICT use lags behind global leaders, in large part because China is still a developing economy. China ranked 65th out of the 193 countries ranked in in the *2018 United Nations E-Government Development Index*.⁵⁷ According to another recent study, China ranks 141st among 200 countries tested in average broadband speeds.⁵⁸ In 2016, 53 percent of individuals used the Internet, compared with 90 percent in the Netherlands and 94 percent in Japan.⁵⁹

Japan

Japan's ICT industry accounts for 9 percent of Japan's GDP and 7 percent of its employment (4 million workers).⁶⁰ In 2015, Japan's share of the ICT world market stood at 10.9 percent, a 1.4 percent decrease from the 12.3 percent share it commanded in 2013.⁶¹ Copy machines, liquid-crystal TVs, and notebook PCs comprise the three ICT goods sectors in which Japanese manufacturers command the largest share of global markets. Computers, telecommunications, and the manufacture of electronic components/ circuit boards account for close to 90 percent of the value added by Japan's ICT sector, as figure 20 shows. However, Japanese ICT manufacturers have been steadily losing global market share in ICT product categories across the board, which may suggest that Japan's ICT sector is shifting towards services—although Japan has been losing global share in virtually all ICT services sectors except for hardware product support since 2011.⁶² Employment in Japan's ICT goods manufacturing sectors has declined 20 percent since 2011.⁶³





Nevertheless, the Japanese government expects Japan's ICT industry to increase in value before 2020, with much of the growth expected to come from the Internet of

Computer and related activities

Things sector, as Japanese network operators create partnerships with foreign device manufacturers, providing domestic and export customers with cost-effective solutions.⁶⁵

Japanese enterprises have lagged behind global peers in leveraging ICTs as a platform for innovation, including the creation of new products, services, and ICT-enabled business models. In fact, Japanese companies have traditionally used ICTs to cut costs, not increase profits, with only 16 percent of Japanese corporations reporting that they use ICTs to raise profits.⁶⁶

In June 2014, Japan's Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications (JMIAC) issued "A Declaration to be the World's Most Advanced IT Nation" and released the *Smart Japan ICT Strategy* as the country's new national ICT Strategy roadmap. The *Smart Japan ICT Strategy* features two co-equal components: "The ICT Growth Strategy II"—which is domestically focused on "creating new innovations by connecting various things and services with ICT"—and the "Initiative on Intensification of International Competitiveness and Global Outreach in the Field of ICT," which focuses on enhancing the competitiveness of Japan's ICT product manufacturers and ICT services players in global markets.⁶⁷ The internationalization component of the *Smart Japan ICT Strategy* aims to increase annual overseas sales of ICT goods and services to ¥17.5 trillion (\$147 billion) by 2020 (which would double the \$73 billion of ICT goods exports Japan shipped in 2012).⁶⁸

In 2016, the Japanese government enacted its *5th Science and Technology Basic Plan*. One key focus was on CAS technologies, which they refer to as a "Super Smart Society, the Society 5.0."⁶⁹ The focus will not just be on industry, but CAS adoption in many sectors, including health care, cities, and transportation. Japan sees its vision of Society 5.0 as "balancing economic advancement with the resolution of social problems by incorporating new technologies such as Internet of Things, robotics, AI, and big data in all industries and social activities," providing goods and services that equitably address social needs.⁷⁰ At least 14 Japanese ministries are involved in executing various facets of Japan's Society 5.0 transformation.

Japan's National Institute of Information and Communications Technology has identified five key research focus areas for Japan's Society 5.0 vision. These include: 1) Sensing fundamentals (e.g., remote sensing); 2) Integrated ICT infrastructure (e.g., wireless networks, photonic networks, innovative networking, etc.); 3) Data utilization and analytics platforms (e.g., multilingual speech translation, computational neuroscience and brain ICT interfaces, social knowledge analysis, etc.); 4) Cybersecurity (e.g., next-generation cyberattack analysis, lightweight cryptography and authentication, etc.); 5) Frontier research (e.g., optics, quantum engineering, nanotechnology, biotechnology, etc.).⁷¹

Japan's *ICT Strategy* recognizes the foundational role the application of ICTs plays in boosting the productivity and innovation potential of all Japanese industries, noting

"The utilization of ICT is one of the key means of boosting the growth of Japan's economy, and of contributing to global society."⁷² Japan's *ICT Strategy* calls out seven ICT-enabled Important Projects to be carried out by industry, academia, and

Japanese enterprises have lagged behind global peers in leveraging ICTs as a platform for innovation, including the creation of new products, services, and ICT-enabled business models. government: 1) Data utilization; 2) Broadcast/contents; 3) Agricultural value chains; 4) Regional revitalization; 5) Disaster prevention; 6) Medicine, nursing, and health; and 7) Natural resources.

In terms of leveraging ICT assets for innovation, Japan's *ICT Strategy* sets four priorities: 1) promotion of open data, such as utilizing geospatial information; 2) strengthening of cybersecurity (including the establishment of the Cybersecurity Research Center); 3) building world-class ICT infrastructure; and 4) promotion of R&D to create innovation.⁷³

While many have attributed the influence of Japan's Ministry of International Trade and Industry (MITI) with playing a decisive role in the creation of the leading sectors of Japan's economy post-World War II, the reality is MITI's role in shaping the information technology sector was much less pronounced than in other sectors such as automotive, steel, shipbuilding, or even consumer electronics. As Justin Bloom wrote in Japan's MITI as a Policy Instrument in the Development of Information Technology, "MITI has been a relatively small participant in influencing the course of development of information technology through direct financial support of R&D in this field."74 In fact, by 2014, MITI "had practically given up on the idea of industrial policy in the fast-changing ICT sector," according to Dr. Stefan Lippert, a professor of International Business Studies at Temple University's Japan Campus.⁷⁵ This does not mean MITI has given up on supporting Japan's ICT industries-indeed, it is providing hands-on support to firms and cultivating professional human resources in conjunction with JMIAC and helping to establish bases of ICT security evaluation and certification for critical infrastructures-although it has gotten out of the business of directing development of the sector.⁷⁶

Public investment in ICT R&D in Japan totaled \$4.2 billion in 2014, equating to 9.08 percent of total Japanese public R&D investment (and 0.071 percent of Japanese R&D).⁷⁷ In the private sector, ICT investment reached \$29.7 billion in 2011, with ICT-related R&D accounting for 23 percent of all R&D conducted by Japanese enterprises.

JMIAC serves as the lead government agency "promoting [the] ICT research and development that maintains and expands the vitality of Japan's ICT industry."⁷⁸ Current ICT R&D priorities for JMIAC include big data; communications platform technologies for smart grids; high-speed, large-capacity, and low-power optical network technology; electromagnetic wave sensing technologies; neural information communications technologies; technologies for achieving ICT networks that are resilient to disasters; and space communications technologies.⁷⁹

JMIAC administers several programs designed to turbocharge ICT-enabled innovation in Japan. For example, the "INNOvation Program" ("inno" actually means "unusual talent" in Japanese), promotes "challenges by disruptive-creative persons who are not bound by traditional thinking" while the Strategic Information and Communications R&D Promotion Programme (SCOPE) funds innovative research topics submitted from universities or companies. JMIAC has also made available its test bed network that integrates elemental technologies for next-generation networks to drastically resolve problems such as security and energy consumption.⁸⁰

On October 1, 2013, Japan introduced a tax reform outline to stimulate private-sector investment that included a tax incentive to promote capital expenditure on productivity-enhancing equipment. Implemented through the Industrial Competitiveness Enhancement Act, expenditures on any machinery, tools, appliances, buildings, facilities, structures, or software used as "equipment for production" that qualifies as "productivity-enhancing equipment" can qualify for immediate 100 percent depreciation or a 5 percent tax credit; while expenditures on such items made after April 1, 2016, but before March 31, 2017, are eligible for 50 percent depreciation or a 4 percent tax credit.⁸¹

Japan's government has prioritized ICT as a key enabler of broader Japanese economic growth and driver of productivity and innovation across all industries. Japan's government has also endeavored to be a leading user of ICT-based solutions. Total public procurement of ICT products in Japan reached \$18 billion (0.03 percent of GDP) in 2013.⁸² Japan consistently scores among the top three comparator nations (with Singapore and the United States) in measures of e-government sophistication, such as the United Nations' E–Government Development Index, E-Participation Index, and Online Services Index. By 2012, Japan had made 7,188 applications, notifications, and other national administrative procedures available online, with 41.2 percent of all such forms submitted online.⁸³ To accelerate provincial application of e-government solutions, in 2014, JMIAC announced the ten guidelines to accelerate e-local government initiatives.⁸⁴ Japan is a member of the Government Procurement Agreement.

Japan's government has made the deployment of high-speed broadband a cornerstone of its national ICT strategy. At the end of March 2013, ultra-high-speed broadband services were available in 53.8 million, or 99.4 percent of all, Japanese households. Today, broadband services are available to 100 percent of Japan's 54.2 million households.⁸⁵

Japan also adopted its Open Government Data Strategy in July 2012 and signed on to the G8 Open Data Charter in 2013.⁸⁶ However, in the Japanese government's action plan to fulfill its commitments to the charter, several key commitments were excluded, such as releasing data by default, applying open licenses to datasets, and releasing data for improved governance.⁸⁷ Although Japan has published a large number of datasets on its national data portal, many of them do not utilize machine-readable formats.⁸⁸ In an analysis of G8 countries' progress toward fulfilling their commitments to the charter, ITIF's Center for Data Innovation (CDI) ranked Japan sixth.⁸⁹ Japan ranked 10th out of 193 countries in government ICT use and efficiency in the 2018 *United Nations E-Government Development Index*.

Moreover, ICT deployments to enable smart cities are a key component of the *Smart Japan ICT Strategy*. Japan's Ministry of Economy, Trade, and Industry (METI)—the successor to MITI—has been investing in smart city projects since 2010, with METI providing financial support to establish 10 Japanese "smart communities" in 2012 that

feature integrated intelligent transportation systems, smart electric meters in homes and businesses, and smart electric grids incorporating renewable energy sources. The economic value of smart city business in Japan is expected to grow from \$1.12 trillion in 2011 to \$3.8 trillion (\$30.5 billion) by 2020.⁹⁰ In particular, Japan has long been a global leader in the deployment of intelligent transportation systems.⁹¹

To make Japan the world's most advanced IT nation, in 2015, the Japanese government announced plans to establish a council of public- and private-sector organizations that would support the development of specific Internet of Things technologies, including information-processing technologies that can analyze immense volumes of data collected from connected devices, and systems for safely disabling Internet-connected autonomous devices, such as self-driving cars, in the event of a safety or security risk. Japan also launched the Artificial Intelligence Technology Strategy Council in April 2016 to craft a roadmap for the development and commercialization of AI. Published in May 2017, this roadmap outlines priority areas for R&D, primarily focusing on the themes of productivity, mobility, and health. The strategy also encourages collaboration between industry, government, and academia to advance AI research, as well as stressing the need for Japan to develop the necessary human capital to work with AI.

With regard to digital technology education, as recently as 2007, it did not factor heavily into Japan's national education policy. But by 2011, the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology recognized the headway Japan needed to make with regard to ICT in education, rolling out The Vision for ICT in Education.⁹² Under this vision, the Ministry targets information literacy— a compulsory subject in secondary schools—and knowledge deepening through ICTs.⁹³ The Ministry also released ICT guidelines for educators in 2010, with targets for each stage of a student's development.⁹⁴ However, *The Japan Revitalization Strategy*, released by the prime minister's office in 2014, fails to mention how ICTs will play a role in Japan's education.⁹⁵ Table 2 offers a strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (SWOT) assessment of Japan's science and technology system.

Table 2: SWOT Assessment of Japan's S&T System

Strengths

| · · · · · · | Third-highest national R&D intensity World's highest corporate R&D investment Third in researchers per capita and fourth in higher-education attainment, among 44 nations studied Strong base of medium-sized industrial firms: the <i>chuken kigyo</i> that command more than 70 percent of the world market in at least 30 technology sectors worth more than \$1 billion Robust network of Industrial Technology Research Institutes (Kohsetsushi Centers) supports technology adoption and invention by manufacturing enterprises of all sizes Second-highest number of Nobel laureates in S&T fields Strengths in autonomous systems and robots | | Weak new-firm formation system ("organization man" culture stunts entrepreneurship) Low levels of venture capital Middling level of government R&D investment Middling level of quality scientific publications Very weak levels of foreign direct investment Relative weak ability to master software Relatively low levels of ICT use in industry Low productivity in services sectors Limited number of leading global ICT firm: High corporate taxes Strict immigration policies impede ability to attract high-skill foreign workers, especially in the technology sector |
|-------------|--|---|---|
| • | A leading developer and adopter of a number of advanced manufacturing product and process technologies, including robotics, industrial automation, 3D printers, and nanotechnology Government push to support key industrial and technology sectors | • | Proved adept with a MITI-led industrial catch-up strategy through to the 1980s; has proven less adept at driving the frontie of innovation in fields such as ICT and biotech Continuing anemic broader economic growth environment; deflation and the lost decade Aging population will limit innovation and government investment China presents a challenge to many of its core industries |

Opportunities

Threats

Weaknesses

The United States

On an absolute basis, the United States retains the world's most robust science and technology ecosystem and infrastructure.⁹⁶ However, on a per-GDP basis, the United States is not the leader, and some global competitors are gaining ground fast.

To understand the U.S. innovation system, it is worth examining the history of the United States in terms of innovation and innovation policy.⁹⁷ For its first 125 years after independence, the United States was not at the global technology forefront—that advantage was held by select European nations: first the United Kingdom, and then Germany. However, with the emergence of the steel-based industrial revolution of the late 1890s, the United States joined the ranks of the world leaders, producing a host of

leading-edge innovations. As business historian Alfred Chandler showed, the large American market enabled U.S. firms to successfully enter new mass-production industries, such as chemicals, steel, and meat processing—and later autos, aviation, and electronics.⁹⁸ Because scale mattered so much to innovation and firm competitiveness, U.S. firms such as DuPont, Ford, GE, GM, Kodak, Swift, and Standard Oil became global leaders.

Scale helped, but the United States had other advantages. One was the "greenfield" nature of development. Unlike Europe, which had to overcome a preindustrial, craftbased system, the American economic canvas was fresher, enabling new forms of industrial development to be more easily established. Another advantage was the unrelenting commercial nature of the American culture and system, wherein commercial success was valued above all else. As President Calvin Coolidge famously stated, "The business of America is business."

World War II provided an enormous boost to U.S. technological innovation, and helped drive the emergence of a more science-based system of innovation (inspired in part by Vannevar Bush, director of the U.S. Office of Scientific Research and Development during WWII) which would become dominated by large firms and the federal government. The establishment-initially in the Great Depression and then after the war-of large, centralized corporate R&D laboratories helped drive innovation in an array of industries, including electronics, pharmaceuticals, and aerospace. On top of that, the massive federal support for science and technology in WWII helped develop the "arsenal of democracy" the Allies used to beat back the Axis powers.⁹⁹ This strong federal role continued after the war, with substantial funding for a system of national laboratories and significantly increased funding of research universities. Federal funding for research helped drive innovation and played a key role in enabling U.S. leadership in a host of industries, including software, hardware, aviation, and biotechnology. For the most part, this research was funded through mission-based agencies seeking to accomplish a particular federal mission (e.g., defense, health, energy), and through a system of peer-reviewed basic research funding at universities.

Attempts by the federal government to explicitly support commercial innovation were at best made in fits and starts, and never really got off the ground. Moreover, they were not guided by an overriding vision or mission—unlike the government's efforts to develop defense and space technology—which were motivated by the need to respond to the Soviet threat. And they certainly were not linked to overall economic policy, which remained focused principally on reducing business cycle downturns and, depending on the political party in power, reducing poverty.

This system began to gradually change in the late 1970s with the emergence of competitiveness challenges from nations such as Japan and Germany. It was with the election of President Jimmy Carter in 1976 that the federal government began to focus in a more serious way on the promotion of technology, innovation, and competitiveness. The motivation for this was the major recession of 1974 (the worst since the Great Depression), the shift in the U.S. balance of trade from one of surplus
to one of deficit, and the growing recognition that nations such as France, Germany, and Japan posed a serious competitiveness challenge to U.S. industry.

These efforts were followed by efforts by Congress and the Reagan and first Bush administrations. Policymakers responded with a host of major policy innovations, including passage of the Stevenson-Wydler Act (for federal lab reform), the Bayh-Dole Act, the National Technology Transfer Act, and the Omnibus Trade and Competitiveness Act. They created or reformed a long list of alphabet-soup programs to boost innovation, including Small Business Innovation Research (SBIR), an expanded National Technical Information Service (NTIS), a reformed Small Business Investment Company (SBIC), Manufacturing Extension Partnership (MEP), and cooperative research and development agreements (CRADAs). This legislation put in place the R&D tax credit and lowered capital gains and corporate tax rates. It also created a host of new collaborative research ventures, including SEMATECH; the National Science Foundation (NSF) Science and Technology Centers and Engineering Research Centers; and the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Advanced Technology Program. And they put in place the Baldridge Quality Award and the National Technology Medal.

U.S. industrial innovation and competitiveness gained renewed attention after a period of relative optimism in the mid-1990s and 2000s, followed by the manufacturing job losses of the 2000s, the Great Recession, and the emergence of robust new technological competitors, including, but not limited to ChinaBecause of this, the Obama administration established Manufacturing USA, a network of 14 cooperative industry R&D centers, increased funding for science agencies (including NSF, NIST, and Department of Energy); put in place policies to expand the number of science, technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM) graduates; and passed legislation to reform the patent system. Under the Trump administration, the main effort has been to push back against unfair Chinese trade policies.

However, partisan differences, fueled in part by growing populism from the Right and the Left (anti-government for the former; anti-corporate for the latter) coupled with a large federal budget deficit and a political unwillingness to raise taxes on individuals or cut entitlements, has meant progress to shore up the weaknesses in the U.S. innovation system has been extremely limited. Coupled with the dominance of neo-classical, free-market economists who decry innovation policy as intrusive meddling in the natural working of the economy, the result is a lack of a national, coordinated innovation policy system in the United States. While many nations (e.g., Finland, Germany, and Sweden) have developed national innovation strategies, as ITIF wrote in *The Global Flourishing of National Innovation Foundations*, the United States has not.¹⁰⁰

Clearly the United States appears to have sustainable strengths in a number of areas, including managerial talent, enterprise use of ICT, and business cultural factors such as demanding customers and a collaborative culture.

In the United States, most commercial activities are conducted by private, for-profit firms. The United States generally does not support R&D directly in firms, unless that R&D is related to achieving a core mission, especially defense. For example, on a perGDP basis, Korea invests 89 times more in industrially oriented R&D than the United States, 43 times more than Germany, and 15 times more than Japan.¹⁰¹

However, the federal government does support an array of policies to help firm-level innovation. For example, in 1981, Congress established a tax credit for business research and development expenditures. This provision, the first of its kind in the world, allowed companies to claim a 20 percent tax credit on increases in expenditures on research. In addition, the Small Business Innovation Research Program (which requires federal agencies to allocate a small share of their R&D budgets to small business research projects related to agency mission goals) was established in 1984. Likewise in 1984, Congress passed the Cooperative Research and Development Act, which allowed companies to gain an antitrust exemption when participating in precompetitive R&D consortia.

All of these measures are largely technology and firm agnostic, supporting innovation itself (e.g., the R&D credit). However, the federal government has supported some industry-specific efforts related to industry R&D. For example, SEMATECH and the STARnet program have supported advanced R&D in the semiconductor industry.¹⁰² The latter program funds a number of university research centers focused on advanced semiconductor research, leveraging industry and government funds to do so.

There are a number of factors wherein the U.S. position is trending down, especially in relation to other national innovation systems. These include funding support for universities and federal labs and other innovation inputs. There is also a turn to "neo-Ludditism" in America as many public interest groups, journalists, and elites adopt an anti-innovation attitude, whether it relates to genetically modified organisms, the use of data, or automation.

Moreover, a continuing challenge for the United States remains transforming scientific discoveries and inventions made at U.S. universities, national laboratories, and corporate research labs into products that are commercialized and manufactured at scale in the United States. Table 3 provides a SWOT assessment of America's science and technology system.

| Strengths | Weaknesses |
|---|--|
| Strong entrepreneurial system Strong corporate managerial practices S&T capabilities built upon 60 years of global leadership Leading research universities High productivity and ICT use in most sectors. Strengths in software Attractive location for high-skill immigrants Relatively strong industry-university links and tech-transfer from universities to industry Relatively strong national government that can invest in R&D and preempt state government actions that lead to market fragmentation A commitment to high levels of defense spending, much of which goes to innovation | Weak tax incentives for innovation and investment Relatively low levels of domestic STEM talent production Lack of national S&T strategy and aversion to anything that smacks of "industrial policy" Declining government S&T funding |
| Innovation in cutting-edge ICT areas such as data, artificial intelligence, and Internet of Things More robust trade enforcement policies could significantly change equation regarding trade balances in high-tech industries | Continued fiscal pressures at federal and state levels will reduce funding for innovation policies Corporate short-termism reduces S&T investments Growing anti-technology attitudes in the U.S. political economy Growing foreign "innovation mercantilist" policies and programs Growing global isolation of the United States |

Table 3: SWOT Assessment of The United States' S&T System

Opportunities

Threats

In 2013, the United States accounted for 9 percent (\$144 billion) of the world's exports of ICT goods and 8.7 percent (\$33 billion) of the world's ICT services exports.¹⁰³ The United States' ICT sector value-added accounted for 7.6 percent of U.S. GDP in 2013.¹⁰⁴

The U.S. government's investments in research into and early procurement of information and communications technologies has played a catalytic role in launching and sustaining the global ICT revolution. In fact, as ITIF wrote in *Federally Supported Innovations: 22 Examples of Major Technology Advances that Stem from Federal Research*, the combination of federal R&D and defense-based procurement played an instrumental role in the development of a number of early ICTs, including integrated circuits (ICs), semiconductors, databases, and supercomputers.¹⁰⁵

U.S. federal government investment in ICT R&D in 2014 totaled \$11.1 billion, representing 0.069 percent of U.S. GDP.¹⁰⁶ The Networking and Information Technology Research and Development Program (NITRD) serves as America's lead funder of R&D focused on cutting-edge information technologies. NITRD's mission is to coordinate with disparate federal agencies to efficiently use federal R&D dollars to facilitate breakthroughs in advanced IT fields, including high-performance computing (HPC), networking, cybersecurity, and software.¹⁰⁷ In FY 2014, NITRD received \$3.97 billion in federal funding, with 27 percent of the budget supporting R&D in high-performance computing, 22 percent in human computer interaction and information management, and 20 percent in cybersecurity.¹⁰⁸

The U.S. National Science Foundation also invests in information technology and computing systems research through its Computer and Information Science and Engineering (CISE) Directorate. In FY 2013, CISE invested \$865 million in research activities, with \$211 million directed toward advanced cyberinfrastructure, \$212 million to computer and network systems, \$179 million to computing and communications foundations, \$176 million to information and intelligent systems, and \$85 million to information technology research.¹⁰⁹

The United States has never developed an explicit national ICT strategy. However, in March 2010, the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) released *Connecting America: The National Broadband Plan*.¹¹⁰ The plan set an ambitious goal of providing at least 100 million homes with affordable access to actual download speeds of at least 100 Mbps and actual upload speeds of at least 50 Mbps by 2020. It also recommended the FCC make 500 MHz of spectrum newly available for broadband use by 2020.¹¹¹ However, for the most part, the plan has not been used to guide specific policy measures.

In 2013, government procurement of ICT goods and services (at all levels) totaled \$178 billion, accounting for 14 percent of the \$1.2 trillion spent in the U.S. ICT marketplace. Total U.S. government spending on ICT as a percentage of GDP equaled 1.1 percent in 2013. However, the United States also scored below average in its peer group in government ICT use and efficiency: 11th overall out of the 193 countries in the 2018 *United Nations E-Government Development Index*.

The U.S. federal government has launched a number of initiatives to spur development of specific ICT technologies over the years. SEMATECH is a not-for-profit consortium that performs research and development to advance chip manufacturing. Originally launched in 1987 in partnership with the U.S. government as a nonprofit consortium with the mission to address the high costs of R&D and to improve the competitiveness of the U.S. semiconductor industry, over time, SEMATECH has evolved into an international collaborative R&D institution serving the entire nanoelectronics value chain.¹¹²

More recently launched was STARnet, a joint program operated by Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA) and the U.S. semiconductor industry that funds early-stage research at leading U.S. research universities. STARnet encourages a large, multi-university research community to look beyond current evolutionary directions to make discoveries that drive technology innovation beyond what can be imagined for semiconductor electronics today.¹¹³ Similarly, in 2018, DARPA launched the Joint University Microelectronics Program (JUMP). JUMP consists of a half-dozen university-based research centers, each dedicated to a different technology theme and collectively supporting fundamental microelectronics research with a goal of catalyzing innovations enhancing the performance, efficiency, and overall capabilities of broad classes of electronics systems for both commercial and military applications. DARPA expects funding for the five-year effort to exceed \$150 million, with DARPA providing 40 percent of that funding and consortium partners collectively contributing 60 percent.¹¹⁴

In July 2015, the White House announced the National Strategic Computing Initiative (NSCI), an effort to create a cohesive, multi-agency strategic vision and federal investment strategy in high-performance computing. The NSCI is envisioned as a collaboration between government, industry, and academia to develop computer systems with the processing capability and storage capacity to solve computational problems that are beyond the capability of existing systems.¹¹⁵ In 2018, Congress passed the National Quantum Initiative Act that calls for making significant investments in U.S. quantum computing leadership. The act directs federal agencies to invest more in quantum computing R&D and increase funding for quantum computing education and training. The legislation would allocate \$1.275 billion to quantum information science R&D over the next five years—with \$125 million annually to support up to five competitively awarded National Quantum Information Science Research Centers—plus funding to create a National Quantum Coordination Office that would be responsible for developing a national quantum computing strategy.¹¹⁶

America's Manufacturing USA innovation network (formally called the National Network for Manufacturing Innovation (NNMI)) includes several Institutes of Manufacturing Innovation that touch on ICT-related issues, notably the Digital Manufacturing and Design Innovation Institute (DMDII), which assists U.S. manufacturers in applying digital manufacturing and design technologies; the Clean Energy Smart Manufacturing Innovation Institute (CESMI), which promotes the use of smart manufacturing techniques for more energy-efficient manufacturing practices; the Power America Institute, which focuses on innovation in wide-bandgap semiconductors; and America Makes, which focuses on additive manufacturing (i.e., 3D printing).¹¹⁷ In October 2018, the Trump administration released a new report, *Strategy for American Leadership in Advanced Manufacturing*, which affirmed smart and digital manufacturing as one of its key focus areas, noting, "The emergence of

widespread, high-speed information and communications technologies provides the opportunity to capture tremendous new productivity gains, but only if information technology can be properly integrated and leveraged with operational technology (OT)."¹¹⁸

President Obama launched the Open Government Directive in 2009, shortly after the launch of the country's national data portal, to require government agencies to improve the quality of government information and publish their agencies' information online.¹¹⁹ Then, in 2013, President Obama issued an executive order requiring government data to be made open and machine-readable by default.¹²⁰ Subsequent guidance from the administration, defining requirements for usability, licensing, timeliness, and quality, has enabled the United States to become a world leader in open data.¹²¹ The United States is a signatory of the G8 Open Data Charter and a founding member of the Open Government Data Partnership.¹²² ITIF's Center for Data Innovation ranked the United States second in the G8, tied with Canada, in fulfilling its commitments to the G8 Open Data Charter.¹²³ In January 2019, President Trump signed the OPEN Government Data Act that requires the federal government to make government data available to the public in a nonproprietary and machine-readable format by default. In addition, it requires federal agencies to designate chief data officers and establishes a Chief Data Officer Council to promote best practices for data management across the federal government.

The Obama administration launched a Smart Cities Initiative in September 2015, committing \$160 million in funding (\$105 million in new spending as well as reprogrammed funds) supporting a wide array of Internet of Things applications, including, but not limited to, smart cities. The Smart Cities Initiative includes support for a range of programs including the National Institute of Standards and Technology's (NIST) Global City Teams Challenge, which encourages the development of smart city applications and Internet-connected vehicle pilots, and the establishment of Internet of Things research test beds. The federal government's Networking and Information Technology Research and Development Program also released its Smart Cities and Connected Communities Framework—a guide to coordinating federal agency investment and collaboration for smart city technology. And in December 2015, the Department of Transportation launched the Smart City Challenge, which awarded \$40 million in March 2016 to Columbus, Ohio, to implement connected technologies to reduce congestion, improve transportation safety, protect the environment, and support economic growth.

To date, the Trump administration has launched few new major initiatives related to ICT. It has announced the need for additional support for AI research, and DARPA has recently announced a \$2 billion AI R&D initiative.¹²⁴ And, as noted, the Trump administration recently announced increased funding for quantum computing research, and Congress is considering quantum-computing support legislation.¹²⁵

Finally, although the United States has a strong tertiary computer science education system, its primary and secondary education systems are wanting. In 2014, only 18 percent of U.S. high schools offered rigorous computer usage or computer science classes, and many curricula focus on instilling basic literacy instead of teaching ICT-

based principles and problem-solving skills.¹²⁶ A current push in the United States, led by nonprofits such as code.org, has placed more focus on computer science education in the United States. Some progress has been made, with enrollment in computer science advanced placement (AP) courses up by 85 percent since 2010 after being stagnant for much of the 1990s and 2000s.¹²⁷ Importantly, this increase seems to have been prompted by 25 U.S. states passing reforms allowing computer science to count as a math or science course—whereas just a few years ago all states counted computer science as an elective. By 2018, the number of U.S. high schools teaching computer science had almost doubled to 34 percent.¹²⁸

The European Union

While risky to generalize over 28 member states, it is clear Europe has a number of strengths in science and technology. In particular, overall, the EU is blessed with strong engineering capabilities, which is reflected in strong industries in areas such as chemicals, automobiles, and equipment, among others. And while the overall research university system is not as strong as in the United States, it is still extremely strong globally. In addition, both at the EU and the member-state level, there are a wide array of well-conceived and strong innovation policies and programs that help EU enterprises innovate and gain global market share.

At the same time, Europe faces several weaknesses. A key one is lower levels of entrepreneurial risk-taking, and the ecosystem (e.g., venture capital) that accompanies it. In fact, from 1995 to 2010, the United States invested \$321 billion more in venture capital in young, innovative entrepreneurial companies than EU nations did, with the United States investing \$478.4 billion, versus the EU's \$157.2.¹²⁹ Similarly, according to survey data from the Euro Flash Barometer, approximately 41 percent of Americans and 24 percent of Chinese strongly agree that in general they are willing to take risks, compared with 8 percent in Spain and 10 percent in Germany.¹³⁰ This is likely improving as the younger generation of Europeans sees entrepreneurship and risk-taking as positive, although it is still a relative weakness. And of course, the relatively less-integrated EU market holds back innovation, given that innovation industries are characterized by high fixed costs (e.g., R&D) and benefit from large markets.

Europe also has a much larger share of small firms than the United States, which limits innovation, investment, and productivity. In particular, Italy, Greece, and other Mediterranean countries stand out as having an unusually high proportion of their employment in small firms. In Europe, the economies with the highest productivity— Germany, Switzerland, and the United Kingdom—employ the smallest proportion of workers in small firms and have some of the highest labor productivity rates.¹³¹ On the other hand, the countries in Europe with the lowest productivity (such as Greece) often have the highest percentage of small firms (e.g., two-thirds of Greek firms have under 20 workers).¹³² Larger firms are usually more productive, in part because they can take greater advantage of economies of scale when they invest in capital stock, including ICT.¹³³

In addition, while the management quality of EU firms is strong, Bloom, Sadun, and van Reenen discovered U.S. firms are considerably more likely to employ management practices that enable organizational changes that harness the benefits of ICT—and the

authors attribute nearly half of the U.S.-EU productivity differential from 1995 to 2005 to this "organizational capital."¹³⁴ Furthermore, they found that IT-using intensive industries such as retail and wholesale had the greatest productivity benefits from better management practices. Previous work by Bloom and van Reenen found that American management quality was better overall than European management across a range of management quality indicators.¹³⁵ These indicators show up in sourcing decisions as well: Outsourcing by U.S. firms is more likely to be driven by transformative strategies such as reengineering processes, gaining access to new technology, and developing new analytical capabilities, whereas in Europe, the primary concern is straightforward cost-cutting.¹³⁶ Similarly, Fabiano Schivardi and Tom Schmitz found that, "Southern Europe's recent slowdown in productivity growth and the ensuing divergence with the rest of the OECD can be partially explained by the interaction between the IT Revolution and the inefficient management practices of Southern European firms."¹³⁷

When it comes to ICT policy, Europe has made significant efforts to grow ICT firms and spur ICT adoption, at the Commission level and in many member states, including through the EU's recent Digital Single Market (DSM) initiative and the provision of considerable funding for digitally related R&D and skills training.

Many of the EU digital policies of the last decade can be characterized as foundational. Foundational policy activities are focused on addressing potential harms from ICT or ICT companies. While addressing real challenges, these policies do not do as much to spur wider and deeper digital adoption as do more proactive policies, many of which are proposed or adopted, such as regulating platforms; privacy rules such as the General Data Protection Regulation (although as discussed below components of that have been "field clearing" in nature); regulations of platforms and hate speech; regulating the "gig economy"; digital taxes; regulating roaming charges; geo-blocking rules; regulating video platforms as traditional audiovisual providers; providing more power to national governments to enforce consumer rights online; copyright reform; e-privacy rules; antitrust enforcement actions against technology companies; extending copyright to news links; regulating net neutrality; changes in international taxation rules regarding digital activity and firms; VAT reform; and promoting fairness and transparency for business users of online intermediation services.

However, there is an opportunity for and an interest in more proactive digital innovation policies. This is in part because there is a growing and wide-scale interest in the CAS wave, with many in Europe rightly seeing it as an opportunity, in part to spur industrial competitiveness (through Industry 4.0). The emerging CAS wave plays more to EU strengths than the last two ICT waves—by being more closely related to cyberphysical integration—and this should spur a greater focus on how to proactively spur growth and innovation. As such, in the new CAS wave, there is likely to be a stronger political coalition of EU firms understanding that proactive and supportive policies are needed if they are to be globally competitive. Table 4 provides a SWOT assessment of Europe's science and technology system.

Europe has made significant efforts to grow ICT firms and spur ICT adoption, yet many of the EU's policies over the last decade can be characterized as defensive.

Table 4: SWOT Assessment of the EU's S&T System

| Strengths | Weaknesses |
|--|--|
| Strong engineering capabilities/system Relatively strong corporate managerial practices S&T capabilities built upon 60 years of global leadership Relatively strong broadband and Internet adoption Specific research and development programs for many advanced ICT systems, such as quantum computing and high-performance computing | Lower levels of entrepreneurial risk-taking Orientation to the precautionary principle Lack of integrated internal market Limited global leaders in ICT sectors Lack of strong EU government to both bring stronger policy coordination and invest more in S&T Lower levels of government and business R&D, including in ICT, compared with global leaders Privacy policies that make it more difficult for firms to effectively use data Large differences in ICT competitiveness and adoption between member states A large number of small firms that on average invest less in ICT |
| Willingness to engage in public-private partnerships to drive sector-based and tech-based innovation Weakness of the United States on the global stage allows EU to emerge, including possibly by increasing defense spending on innovation Exceptionally strong industrial engineering capabilities; strong design capabilities in certain clusters | Continual squeeze from U.S. and Chinese technology leaders Difficulty of EU governments to adequately respond to Chinese "innovation mercantilist" practices, including through stronger review of Chinese acquisition of EU companies |
| Opportunities | Threats |

several strategic factors.

Key Strategic Issues for the EU While technological evolution is at some level inexorable, this does not mean it will benefit all nations and regions the same or that nations and regions can afford to not put in place the most effective innovation policies to support and capitalize on emerging technologies. As such, as Europe considers how it wants to fully capitalize on the innovations emerging from the coming CAS transformation, it needs to consider

Europe should do two key things: focus on the industries and technologies of the future, not the recent past, and build on existing core competencies.

Focus on the Future, Not on the Past

The first consideration is European policymakers and firms should recognize that Europe has missed many of the opportunities from the last ICT waves, including in personal computers, smartphones, cloud computing, Internet search, and social media. Because of the enormous economies of scale and scope, and first-mover advantages leading firms have in these technology areas, it will be extremely difficult for Europe to break into these industries in a serious way. It is unlikely Europe can win in these areas. While search, social media, e-commerce, smartphones, and other related areas will continue to evolve, their industry structure is already largely established. If there is a challenge to them, it will come from companies embracing CAS technologies (such as AI). To be sure, China was able break into these industries, but only through aggressive mercantilist policies that essentially shut U.S. firms out of the market, coercing the transfer of foreign firms' intellectual property, and massively subsidizing China's national champions. This is something Europe would rightly never do.

So rather than fight a rearguard action to erect roadblocks in front of U.S. technology firms while attempting to protect and subsidize EU firms, Europe should instead do two key things: focus on the industries and technologies of the future, not the recent past, and build on existing core competencies. Regarding the first, Europe needs to, as hockey star Wayne Gretzky famously said, "skate to where the puck will be." The emergence of new information technology eras has, to date, led to different firms and regions/nations gaining competitive advantage. This trend could very well continue. In other words, the winners in the CAS system (e.g., robotics, autonomous systems, blockchain, quantum computing, artificial intelligence, 5G, Internet of Things, etc.) are not predetermined, and current competitive advantage does not assure future advantage any more than IBM's leadership did not translate into the PC era, and Microsoft's leadership in PCs did not translate into leadership in search and social media. As such, Europe should focus on winning global market share in the emerging CAS technology areas and not worry about the fact that it did not fully capture the last several ICT waves.

Focus on Areas of Competitive Advantage

The second imperative is to focus on areas of existing competitive advantage. Previous digital technology waves were largely about "bits." The next wave will be increasingly about "bits and atoms." In other words, the next technology system increasingly combines digital technologies with physical things and activities (e.g., smart agriculture, smart cities, smart grids, smart manufacturing, autonomous vehicles, etc.). This plays well to Europe's considerable strengths in engineering, provided, however, Europe improves and expands its software capabilities—an area of comparative weakness—especially vis-à-vis the United States. Again, rather than bemoan the fact that there is no European search engine, European leaders should be excited that Europe could win in cyber-physical systems. But this means Industry 4.0 should be defined quite broadly. The digital transformation of atom-based industries is much broader than just manufacturing. All physical systems, including agriculture, logistics, and transportation, are being digitized—and are all areas wherein Europe has real strengths.

The other area of strength and opportunity for Europe is technology-enabled business services, including in accounting and finance, engineering services, supply chain and logistics, environmental compliance, consulting, graphics design, and biometrics. Moreover, this is an area wherein East Asian capabilities are much less developed, although India has some strengths. China is barely a player, and South Korea and Japan are weak. And Europe can build on EU and national government policy innovation in areas such as health IT and genetic records, e-government services, digital IDs, and fintech.

Address Unequal Adoption of Digital Tools Between Firms, Industries, and Nations If Europe is to fully succeed in the CAS era, it needs to successfully address three key gaps. The first is too many EU organizations lag behind in adoption of past and current waves of ICT. There is a considerable gap between leading firms and "zombie firms" (firms with low productivity growth and limited ICT adoption).¹³⁸ And Europe has a much larger share of employment in small, relatively low-productivity, low-ICT-using firms supported by public policies that provide incentives to not get big—as getting big brings with it a host of additional regulatory and tax obligations.¹³⁹

In addition, the gaps are not just between firms, but industries, as ICT adoption is less even between European industries. One measure of this is the standard deviation of measurement of ICT capital services as a share of labor in different industries. In Europe, this is higher (0.14) than in the United States (0.09), suggesting even less ICT adoption across industries.¹⁴⁰ This may be one reason why a recent National Bureau of Economic Research working paper shows the regional dispersion of productivity across firms in the EU is about twice as large as that in the United States. In other words, the gap between the most-productive and least-productive firms in any particular industry was higher in Europe than in the United States.¹⁴¹ This is also why a recent study comparing the productivity of firms across the 28 EU nations and the United States found that "the dispersion in the EU is about twice as large, a finding consistent with the view that the EU economy is far from being highly integrated. Our calculations suggest that by reducing the EU dispersion to the level of the United States would increase EU productivity (GDP) by more than 30 percent."¹⁴²

The third gap is between nations. Some EU nations, such as the Nordic nations, are on par with, or even ahead of, the United States in digital innovation. But many other EU nations, including the EU-10 and southern EU nations, lag significantly behind EU leaders. For example, use of Customer Relationship Management Software (CRM) and e-commerce differs by more than a factor of six between the nation with the highest rate of adoption as share of enterprises (Ireland) and the lowest (Greece), and a factor of five for ICT specialists as a share of total employment.¹⁴³ The difference is even higher (eight times) for cloud computing between the leading nation (Finland) and the laggard (Bulgaria).¹⁴⁴ The adoption rate of ecommerce orders by enterprises varies from just 8 percent in Romania to 33 percent in Norway.¹⁴⁵ In 2016, more than 40 percent of enterprises in Finland, Sweden, and Demark used cloud computing, while fewer than 10 percent in Greece, Latvia, Poland, Romania, and Bulgaria did.¹⁴⁶ In 2017, on the *European Digital Economy and Society Index*, Germany led with a score of 70, while

Romania had a score of just 32.¹⁴⁷ Europe needs to do more to bring lagging nations up on ICT adoption and use.

Shift the Strategic Focus of the EU's Digital Policies

There are three principal types of digital economy policies: foundational, field clearing, and proactive. Foundational policy activities are focused on addressing potential harms from ICT, ICT companies, or individuals. Field-clearing policies are focused on both clearing barriers and limiting future barriers to digital innovation. Proactive policies seek not just to enable open markets and new digital entrants to compete, but to actively support digital transformation. While European nations and the EU have taken steps in all three areas, much of the focus, as discussed above, has been on foundational policies and relatively less on field-clearing and proactive policies.

While well-intentioned and addressing what many perceive as real challenges, going forward additional foundational policies will not help the EU build on its real advantages to take full advantage of the next big innovation wave. Moreover, where they make it harder or more expensive for digital innovators to operate, they can actually hold back EU digital transformation. The reality is that Europe cannot win focusing principally on foundational approaches. One reason is that at least some of the motivation for these policies comes from "analogue" incumbents seeking protection against digital competitors, including from foreign digital firms. Much of this comes in the form of claims that digital players are competing unfairly, and that Europe must "level the playing field." But policies stemming from these demands will only slow digital transformation, including in the EU nations that are already digital leaders, in part because it reduces the competitive pressures forcing old economy firms to transform through digital technologies while at the same time hamstringing digital innovators. If European policymakers want to level the playing field they should do so by reducing or reforming regulations for analogue firms, not increasing them for digital entrants, often in ways that are not required to protect consumer interests. New entrants, either from outside the EU or from EU start-ups, should be welcomed to help fully digitalize the EU economy. In fact, the competitive challenge from foreign digital players provides an opportunity for Europe to embrace competition to either disrupt analogue incumbents or spur them to engage in their own digital transformation. As such, the focus should be on examining the extent to which existing regulations designed for the analogue era are in fact appropriate for a digital world, as they otherwise hold back digital transformation. And erecting roadblocks in front of digital firms, many of whom are U.S., will inevitably mean roadblocks hampering EU digital firms. More EU firms need to embrace CAS to become "digital-first" firms. The odds of this happening are diminished when EU incumbents face fewer pressures to do the hard work of transforming themselves to become digital-first firms.

European policymakers should also consider that some components of a foundational approach reduce the attractiveness of the EU as a destination for foreign ICT investment. To be sure, American digital firms have invested in Europe mainly to gain access to markets and talent, but also, to some extent, to gain goodwill from European governments—showing them they have not only sought access to European markets but also have been contributing directly to the European economy through investment

It is proactive digital policies that represent the next big opportunity for EU digital policy. and jobs. But many now realize this considerable investment bought them almost no goodwill, and as such they are more likely to make future globally mobile investments in more-welcoming regions. Thus, there are two key issue for future EU digital policy: Will Europe continue to focus on fighting for "digital independence" from foreign (e.g., U.S.) digital firms, and will it focus largely on shaping and regulating markets, rather than on enabling and supporting disruptive innovation?

The Commission has also taken field-clearing actions, including efforts to ban data localization; harmonize spectrum policies and allocation across nations; establish more transparency in cross-border package pricing and delivery; modernize the European Electronic Communications Code for broadband investment; and establish a single digital gateway for permits. The establishment of a unified privacy framework across the EU, through the GDPR, is another example of a field-clearing policy that gives business more certainty. But there is more to do here, especially in creating a truly European market for services and ensuring emerging digital business models face the right regulatory regime, not necessarily the one applying to analogue competitors.

However, it is proactive digital policies that represent the next big opportunity for EU digital policy. These include policies to help expand and improve the resources firms rely on for success, including ICT R&D, data, broadband networks, and digital skills. Digital skills are particularly important, as Europe lags behind the United States in the share of the workforce with software skills, which is perhaps the key ingredient for digital economy success. But proactive policies, often implemented through public-private partnerships, also support digital innovation and adoption in key technology areas, such as digital IDs, high-performance computing, AI, and key industry applications such as health IT, smart grids, and smart cities.

Build on Europe's Unique Advantages

While Europe lags behind the United States and China in several areas related to the digital economy, it has several unique advantages, particularly over the United States. To win in the next CAS wave, Europe needs to double down on these advantages. There are two that deserve particular focus. First, unlike the United States, Europe is more open to supporting proactive policies to help drive digital transformation in particular areas, such as the smart grid, smart cities, health IT, E-IDs, etc. In contrast, the United States remains constrained by an ideology which holds that the free market best addresses such issues, and government intervention only retards innovation. This is clearly not the case with many emerging technologies that face a host of market failures, including public-goods issues, high levels of risk and uncertainty, externalities, and collective action problems. Smart government policies can accelerate digital adoption and transformation where these market failures are rampant, enabling EU firms to gain what hopefully could be a sustainable advantage. For example, one factor holding back robust adoption of health IT systems in the United States is few health care providers have such systems, so few patients have personal health records, thus reducing both the pressure on health care providers to become digital and the incentives for third-party companies to develop and sell digital health systems to patients. Some EU nations, particularly those in Scandinavia, have worked to break this "chicken-or-egg" conundrum.148

The second opportunity is to take advantage of the "laboratories of democracy" Europe enjoys, particularly in many of the smaller nations. The notion of laboratories of democracy—a term coined in 1932 by U.S. Supreme Court Justice Louis Brandeis refers to the role U.S. state governments play in developing and piloting new policy approaches that are sometimes adopted nationally. National digital advantage in many technology and application areas depends both on coordination of multiple actors (a task that can be extremely difficult in large nations such as the United States, or even France or Germany) and policy innovation. But Europe has numerous smaller states that have shown a willingness and ability to be more innovative and flexible. The Commission should double down on these innovations, seeking to spur more bottomup policy innovation, and then to bring the innovations fully to market, diffusing them throughout all of the EU. The Commission needs to seed more experiments across the EU and then help those experiments scale and be adopted in an interoperable way by all 28 member states.

Win Through Out-Investing the United States

One reason for America's lead in ICT is significant public investment, including through the Department of Defense, NASA, and the National Science Foundation. Indeed, in the early 1960s, the United States government invested more in R&D than all other governments and all non-U.S. businesses combined. But that advantage has shrunk and in many cases reversed itself. Federal funding for R&D in FY 2017 as a share of GDP was the lowest it had been since the Russians launched Sputnik, almost 60 years ago.¹⁴⁹ And to restore the federal R&D to GDP ratio to levels averaged in the 1980s, the federal investment had to increase by more than 90 percent.¹⁵⁰ This is why the United States now ranks eighth among OECD nations in the ratio of governmentfunded R&D to GDP. This is highly unlikely to get better, and because of the massive U.S. budget deficit and national debt, and the nature of U.S. domestic politics, it is likely get worse.

This should provide Europe with a real opportunity to gain ground on the United States through smart public investment, particularly in R&D related to CAS technologies. To be sure, the Commission has announced plans to do this, but these plans need to be followed through on and even significantly expanded. Only five nations exceed the United States government's investment in R&D as a share of GDP (0.70 percent in 2015): Austria (0.99); Denmark (0.87); Finland (0.84); France (0.79); and Germany (0.81). Overall, the EU-28 nations invest 0.62 percent of GDP in government R&D, which equals 88 percent of U.S. levels. The Commission should set a target to exceed the U.S. level by 20 percent by 2025. This would require an additional investment across Europe of €45 billion in 2025.

Europe will also need more effective technology-transfer and commercialization policies if it is to get more out of its investments in R&D. This is especially true when considering U.S. high-tech firms gain over two-and-a-half times more productivity than European high-tech firms from the same level of R&D investment. Indeed, businesses in the EU lag behind U.S. businesses not just in the amount they invest in R&D, but also in their ability to transform these investments into productivity gains. That was the finding of study by four European economists, which found that between 2004 and 2012, U.S. businesses realized nearly three-times more productivity growth than EU businesses, for a 1 percent increase in business R&D investment.¹⁵¹

Because high-tech firms spearhead economic growth, it should be of even more concern that when the economists isolated only high-tech firms, those in the EU also lagged significantly behind those in the United States when it came to their innovation capabilities. The authors estimate that a 1 percent increase in R&D investment would give U.S. high-tech firms 2.5 times more productivity growth than EU high-tech firms.

In summary, the global competition to succeed in CAS development and adoption is intense. More regions and nations are currently competing than during the last two digital innovation waves, and the level of competitive intensity between nations has increased. This leads to a key question for Europe: To what degree does Europe want CAS transformation, which, if successful, will include not only more "technology firms and jobs" but also more disruption and the replacement of existing firms and business models with new digital ones? If Europe wants to win, it needs to raise its ambitions and the urgency with which it seeks to attain them. It has to do more than just the "easy" things of supporting more broadband or improving digital skills or announcing a new Horizon 2020 program, as important as those activities are. It needs to aggressively break down barriers to CAS transformation while at the same time supporting the digital transformation of whole industries.

POLICIES FOR CAS TRANSITION

Competitive advantage in advanced-technology industries generally, and CAS technologies and industries specifically, as well as rates of CAS adoption, will depend on a host of factors. As David Moschella wrote in *Seeing Digital*, these factors include:

- Which nations have the most skilled programmers, engineers, and workers?
- Which have the most advanced networks and related infrastructure?
- Which generate global technology companies?
- How important and effective are various industrial policies and strategies?
- Where is the national technology ecosystem doing world-class work?
- Are government IT policies mostly effective or counterproductive?
- Is a nation within the Anglosphere or Sinosphere, or on a different path?

Why Does Europe Need a Stronger and More Comprehensive Digital Policy?

There are several reasons why Europe needs to not only continue, but deepen its digital policy efforts. The first is Europe is in competition with other regions that are making digital development and adoption a centerpiece of their policies, and failure to respond means challenges for Europe's digital competitiveness. The second is there are a host of regulatory issues that shape digital transformation, including product and labor market regulations that can limit or slow down digital transformation. The third is firms rely on resources that governments can help produce, such as research and a skilled workforce.

If Europe is to succeed in the CAS transformation, it will particularly need to make ICT-enabled productivity growth rather than vague social missions organized around the amorphous concept of "grand challenges" —a top priority. Fourth, many industries have chicken-or-egg characteristics that make digital progress difficult. For example, the development of connected vehicles would proceed faster if infrastructure were connected, and vice versa.¹⁵² A smart electric grid would help spur Internet of Things-enabled smart appliances and the adoption of electric vehicles, and vice versa. In other industries, success depends on industry coordination. For example, digital health systems would be hampered if all parts of the health system (hospitals, payers, doctors, labs, etc.) did not all work together.

Finally, ICT and business are evolving together, which requires new management practices and new business models. This is true at the societal level as well. As CAS technologies evolve, societies need to embrace not only them but institutional innovation to enable new governance models. For example, 3D printing technology will likely make it eventually possible to physically "print" houses, but unless local zoning and building codes are reformed, innovation will be limited.

Notwithstanding this, firms in Europe will ultimately determine the EU's digital success. European firms have more capital than their counterparts outside Europe, which means they have to figure out the complex process of adopting digital technologies in ways that work economically.

However, smart government policy is needed in several main areas, including framework conditions (i.e., the right regulatory framework, appropriate competition policy, and trade policy); external organizational resources (i.e., R&D, skills, data, and broadband infrastructures); technology, industry, and firm policies; and finally, culture and organizational structures.

Given Europe's unique governance structure, these roles will differ by level of government. The EU will have a significant responsibility for framework conditions. It should also provide funding for key firm resources, particularly R&D. But perhaps one of the key roles the Commission needs to play is to more aggressively foster digital public-private partnerships in a wide array of emerging technology areas in partnership with EU nations (and to some extent subnational governments and firms).

Finally, and perhaps most importantly, if Europe is to succeed in the CAS transformation, it will need to make that transformation, and in particular ICT-enabled productivity growth, a top priority, rather than social missions organized around the amorphous concept of "grand challenges."¹⁵³ There appears to be considerable misunderstanding outside the United States of the role of grand challenges historically in driving U.S. innovation. To the extent the response to Sputnik and the space program led to commercial technology advancement and U.S. success, it had less to do with the fact that they were grand challenges per se, but rather that the needs of government spurred widespread investment in university and federal laboratory R&D, and skills development in areas that had widespread applicability to commercial technology development. This in turn led to developments and advancements in technology such as GPS, semiconductors, supercomputers, AI, and the Internet.¹⁵⁴

As such, if the EU is to go down the mission-focused or grand challenge path for its innovation policy, the mission should be one that will have clear crossovers to the

development of CAS and related technologies. The mission that best enables that is boosting productivity through technological innovation.¹⁵⁵ As a response to the natural question, "What about jobs?" it is important to mention the notion that higher rates of productivity growth come at the expense of job creation should be rejected once and for all, as the evidence, studies, and logic all show clearly that productivity and job creation are, if anything, positively correlated.¹⁵⁶

Framework Conditions

At the base of digital policy lie framework conditions that affect the entire economy and all organizations, and have an impact on organizational competitiveness, innovation, and productivity. These include regulatory, tax, competition, and trade policies.

Regulation

Unlike in past transitions, wherein digital technology enabled firms to grow and prosper with only some industries disrupted by new entrants, technologies, and business models (e.g., travel agents, newspapers, etc.), the coming CAS transformation will likely bring more widespread disruption. The last two transitions were, to use Clayton Christenson's term, "more about incremental and breakthrough technologies, but less about disruptive and game-changing innovations."¹⁵⁷ The coming transformation is likely to be more about disruptive and game-changing technologies that will have more profound impacts on more markets, industries, and organizations. As IT expert David Moschella put it, in past digital transitions, technology firms were "arms merchants" in thatthey sold tools to whomever wanted them to improve their business or organization. Now, tech firms, incumbents, and start-ups alike are seemingly an invading army challenging a host of industries with radical disruption.¹⁵⁸ The disrupted are unlikely to sit back and accept their fate; they are likely to enlist government to help them—albeit framed as a narrative about protecting the public interest.

There are two key types of regulation – social (e.g., privacy) and economic (e.g., audiovisual industry rules) – that can limit or enable innovation. At the same time, there are two overarching orientations to regulation: the precautionary principle and the innovation principle. There is general agreement that Europe lies more toward the precautionary principle and the United States more toward the innovation principle. This is important because in an era when leadership in CAS technologies will be shaped more than in the past by whoever gains first-mover advantage, regions that enable innovators with the most effective environments and supports to get to market at scale first will often win, even if the other regions' regulatory systems provides more protection. Indeed, as more industries are being transformed by digital technologies, there are considerable advantages to being first movers, including network and lock-in effects and moving down both the learning curve and scale economies curve to create sustainable advantages over followers.

A case in point is artificial intelligence. Regions with the most-welcoming and leastrestrictive views toward AI will likely be the ones that produce the most-competitive firms. Yet, some in Europe and, increasingly, the United States seem to have decidedly mixed views of AI. Some advocates and advocacy organizations seek to limit AI and CAS development overall on the grounds of protecting privacy, fairness, jobs, and other social values. While there are valid concerns that AI can be used in ways that are harmful, there is little reason to believe market forces, combined with the appropriate light-touch regulation, would not minimize harms and maximize benefits.¹⁵⁹

A second form of resistance to CAS will come from professions and industries threatened with economic disruption. Such resistance is logical, even if it is against the public interest. But it is the source of much resistance to lowering product market regulation that limits digital transformation in Europe. As an OECD report noted, "Excessive regulation of product markets is a barrier to the diffusion of technology and lowers the speed at which labour productivity catches up to the level of the best performing economies."¹⁶⁰ Likewise, MIT economist Phillipe Aghion and colleagues found that liberalizing product markets is key to enhancing productivity growth in developed economies. ¹⁶¹ London School of Economics economist John van Reenen and colleagues found that both product market and labor market regulations "may be significant determinants of cross-country differences in the impact of ICT," because "high levels of labor and product market regulation are associated with a lower productivity drag on ICT, lowering its impact by 16 percent for each dollar invested.¹⁶³

The evidence suggests that relative to the United States (and likely China), product market regulatory burdens are higher in Europe. Cette, et al. examined product market regulation in six industries (energy, transport, communications, retail distribution, banking services, and professional services). They found that while the undue regulatory burden is lower in the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, and Sweden than the United States, it is higher in Germany, Denmark, Spain, the Czech Republic, France, Finland, Italy, and Austria.¹⁶⁴ When they estimated the negative effect of product market regulation on ICT capital investment, only the United Kingdom was lower than the United States, with Italy the highest. And that in turn lowers potential multifactor productivity growth in the most-regulated EU economies by between 0.4 and 1 percent a year.¹⁶⁵ This may be why the McKinsey Global Institute estimated that, overall, Europe operates at only 12 percent of digital potential, in comparison with 18 percent for the United States.¹⁶⁶

This is why efforts to level the playing field between traditional firms and digital innovators is all too often an effort by incumbents to hobble competitors. So, when the EU stated, "The government believes it is important to have a fair economy and a level playing field between traditional and new players, where new players cannot escape the rules," the result can risk protection for incumbents at the expense of consumers and more-competitive EU digital firms.¹⁶⁷ In fact, seeking a level playing field risks subjecting a wide array of ICT services and applications to increased regulation that would risk raising costs or lowering quality.

As such, in efforts to level the playing field, the EU should be focused more on equivalent protection, not equivalent regulation. In other words, the goal should

One of the key objectives the Commission needs to focus on is more aggressively fostering digital public-private partnerships in a wide array of emerging technology areas. not be to subject new digital business models (such as "over-the-top" video or voice services) to the same regulation as incumbents—something that will often limit innovation. It should be to ensure regulation of new business models provides the same levels of protection, even if the regulatory requirements themselves differ.

The Commission also should actively support national efforts to reform and improve regulation. One example is the Netherland's "Better Regulation and Services" program, which aims to remove obstacles to innovation and create scope for experimentation. Nations should be encouraged to focus on regulatory experiments and "sandboxes," including in relation to statutory provisions on experimentation, in which governments experiment with more flexible regulations in a controlled setting.

Where Europe really needs a level regulatory playing field is with regard to differences between regulation of traded-sector industries across the region. To do that the **Commission should preempt digital regulations that individual member states adopt. A core tool to enable a Digital Single Market is regulatory harmonization.** To that end, the Commission has proposed to enact floors below which member states would not able to go. But the Commission appears not to be seeking a ceiling above which member states also could not go. For example, according to Article 8 of Directive 99/44/EC on consumer sales, member states can use more stringent provisions in the field covered by the directive. If the goal is to ensure a baseline level of consumer protection, then setting an EU floor and allowing member states to institute more stringent regulations will help. But if the goal is a Digital Single Market that makes it easier for digital producers in Europe to sell across borders, then the EU needs to also set a ceiling and a floor that are the same. In other words, it should not let national governments set their own more-stringent standards. Multiple and conflicting standards go against the goal of achieving a Digital Single Market.

In order to ensure a more innovation-focused approach to regulation, the Commission should make sure the EU's Regulatory Scrutiny Board focuses more systemically on innovation impacts from proposed regulations. Too often regulatory review bodies focus on short-term static effects-e.g., whether it will raise costs-and less on how the regulation's impact (positive or negative) will affect longer-term, dynamic effects (e.g., innovation). The Commission should create within the Regulatory Scrutiny Board (RSB) an Office of Innovation Review whose mission would be to serve as an "innovation champion" in the regulatory process. Such an office would have authority to push agencies to either affirmatively promote innovation or achieve a particular regulatory objective in a manner least harmful to innovation.¹⁶⁸ At the same time, when the Commission is proposing regulations that would clearly move digital innovation forward (such as mandating the free flow of data within the EU) the RSB should not require an assessment of employment impacts, as doing so essentially penalizes regulations that lead to higher productivity.¹⁶⁹ At a minimum, if employment impacts are measured, the RSB should also assess expected productivity and wage gains.¹⁷⁰

Moreover, when drafting regulations, Commission directorates need to pay more attention to innovation. For example, although the Commission staff working document, "Better Regulation Guidelines" is 90 pages in length, it gives little attention to the need to and process for evaluating innovation impacts, other than one line that asks, "Have potential impacts on innovation been considered?"¹⁷¹

In addition, the Commission and member states should continue with efforts to develop regulatory sandboxes, which are frameworks that enable fintechs and other innovative entities to work with regulators to test their innovative products, services, and business models with real consumers, in a controlled environment, on a trial basis. In March 2018, the Commission released an action plan to develop best practices for regulatory sandboxes based on guidance from European supervisory authorities.¹⁷² Similarly, the European Banking Authority (EBA) released a roadmap for fintechs, with guidance for regulatory sandboxes released in December 2018.¹⁷³ These efforts are important to create a flexible regulatory framework that enables experimentation in financial services.

The Commission should also consider more formalized approaches to help member state regulators learn from each other around best practices in regulating emerging CAS technologies. Identifying the best and most innovation-friendly way to craft regulations for blockchain or drones, for example, is an extremely complex undertaking. Member states should be able to more easily learn from each other.

Finally, and most fundamentally, Europe needs to make a core decision about whether it sees innovation generally—and CAS transformation specifically—as a fundamentally progressive force that should be supported and encouraged, or as something uncertain, with all sorts of possible downsides. All things being equal, nations that embrace the former view will outpace nations that are more cautious and suspect.

AI and Regulation

Success in the CAS economy requires a "Goldilocks" approach to regulation: not too strong and not too weak. Getting this balance right is important for several reasons. One is ensuring user trust in the technologies. For example, consumers and companies will want to be assured that artificial intelligence algorithms are not biased, and the personal data they share with companies is not abused. A second reason is to enable innovation and ensure regulation does not unduly hamstring companies from developing robust technologies and market offerings.

This is particularly important with AI innovation. European policymakers have recognized artificial intelligence as a key driver of economic growth, but have also adopted regulations, most notably the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). While the GDPR was critical to establishing a common regulatory framework across the EU—something that enables digital innovation—there are some provisions that could limit the value AI can offer the EU, depending on how it is implemented.¹⁷⁴

The GDPR contains a number of provisions that could hinder the development and adoption of AI in Europe, even while providing little useful protections to Europeans.¹⁷⁵ For example, Articles 13–15 of the GDPR create an obligation for companies to provide either detailed explanations of individual algorithmic decisions or general information about how the algorithms make decisions.¹⁷⁶ However, the former would undermine the accuracy of algorithms and, perversely, lead to unfair decisions,

as there is inherently a trade-off between accuracy and transparency in algorithmic decisions.¹⁷⁷

Likewise, the "right to erasure" in Article 17 will also limit the use of AI. All AI systems that operate using unsupervised machine learning—those that improve themselves, without outside help, by learning from the data they process—need to "remember" all the data they used to train themselves in order to sustain rules derived from that data.¹⁷⁸ However, erasing data that underpins key rules in an AI system's behavior can both make it less accurate and limit its benefit to other data subjects—or even break it entirely.¹⁷⁹

There are several steps European policymakers should take to address these challenges. When laws are too difficult to follow, regulators end up not enforcing the standards of behavior the laws were ostensibly written to create. If the EU is serious about building a rules-based single market with high standards, **it should consider simplifying the GDPR by reducing it to a set of easily comprehensible rules that focus on preventing consumer harm**, rather than trying to tightly control how companies manage and use data, at the expense of innovation. More broadly, the Commission should conduct a thorough review of the implementation of GDPR in 2020 to evaluate where it has worked well and where it needs improvement.

Additionally, rather than targeting AI with requirements that do not apply to human decision-making, any requirements for transparency, evidence, oversight, or explanation should be technology-neutral. The EU should ensure that an individual's right to a review or an explanation of a particular decision should depend on the nature and seriousness of the decision in question, not simply on whether the decision was made by a human or an algorithm. Applying these rights exclusively to decisions made by algorithms creates a disincentive for companies to use AI, as it represents an additional compliance cost and makes using the technology less efficient. Moreover, such a requirement would allow for unfair decisions made by humans, which tend to be more open to bias in the first place, to avoid similar levels of scrutiny and accountability. The EU should also take into consideration that different rules may be necessary for different industries, and therefore avoid general requirements.

Regulators should take a liberal interpretation of erasure and allow companies to anonymize personally identifiable data, without impairing algorithmic models. Customers' rights to erase their data should not usurp algorithms' functionality in regard to working for other customers. To that end, rather than a right to erasure, consumers should have a right to anonymity, wherein they can require companies to either delete their information in such a way that does not interfere with an algorithm's behavior or anonymize their data before any additional processing. As "anonymization" means retaining only that which is not personally identifiable, fulfilling the right to erasure through anonymization may be legally permissible within the current wording of the GDPR. Amending the GDPR to clarify this would undoubtedly help remove uncertainty.

European policymakers should identify and implement proactive nonregulatory ways to address challenges related to AI. In particular, they should devote more of their

attention to facilitating the development and adoption of AI. The Commission has already taken some important steps in this direction, adopting its Communication on Artificial Intelligence in April 2018, detailing its plans to increase development and adoption, and prepare for the socioeconomic disruption AI could cause.¹⁸⁰ But more can be done. For example, to address common concerns about the potential for AI to be biased or discriminatory, policymakers should focus on constructive, nonregulatory approaches, such as funding research into explainable AI systems, developing shared pools of training and validation data, and sharing best practices about how to use AI responsibly. These might be some of the issues the proposed AI excellence centers will tackle. Taking these steps could help the EU maximize the value of AI and minimize its harms, without limiting innovation.

Regulatory Policies to Support Emerging Digital Technologies

The EU should enact policies to adopt key digital technologies that support its efforts to become a global leader in areas including fintech, unmanned aircraft systems (UAS), and autonomous vehicles (AVs). Broadly, these policies should include some industry support in the form of research and development, regulatory reform, and harmonization of domestic and international laws. However, there is no universal framework for innovation, and as such, Europe will need to take an industry-specific approach that is tailored to each technology.

Fintech

Fintech, a portmanteau of the words "financial technology," refers to a business that uses the latest innovations in information technology to radically improve financial services.¹⁸¹ These companies are using innovative technology (e.g., artificial intelligence, blockchains, and mobile technology) and different business models (e.g., peer-to-peer networks) to increase productivity in the financial services sector and create more-convenient, higher-quality, and cheaper financial services.

Fintech promises to use technology to lower the cost of financial services and bring more people into the financial system. Robo-advisors use artificial intelligence to give access to personally tailored investment options to individuals who may not be able to afford a financial advisor. Cryptocurrencies, crowdfunding, and alternative lending are opening new markets for both lenders and borrowers to invest and gain access to capital. Blockchains offer the potential to improve the efficiency of financial instruments while lowering costs by cutting out unnecessary intermediaries. European fintechs are already attracting considerable amounts of investment. In the first half of 2018, fintechs in Europe saw an estimated $\in 23$ billion in investment, compared with $\in 12$ billion in the United States and $\in 14$ billion across Asia.¹⁸² With the right set of policies, Europe can continue to capture investment and become the world leader in disruption within the financial services sector.

This transformation within the financial services sector, however, is not without its challenges, such as complex regulations designed for older business models, and the evolving nature of security threats. Public policies that actively support fintech innovation and carefully avoid doing harm by overly constraining new developments

The EU should enact policies to adopt key digital technologies that support its efforts to become a global leader in areas including fintech, unmanned aircraft systems (UAS), and autonomous vehicles (AVs). will position Europe to be a leader in financial services. European policymakers should take four main steps to become global leaders in fintech transformation.

First, EU member states should promote broader adoption of fintech and reduce the risks associated with new technologies and business models by becoming early adopters. The EU and member states should also provide research and development funding to tackle technological challenges associated with improving financial services. Technical financial infrastructures, such as instant-payment systems, rely on standardized technical specifications to allow independent systems to interface and work seamlessly together, which often requires cooperation between the public and private sectors.

Second, the EU should support fintech transformation through regulatory reform, ensuring regulations enable innovation to flourish, while at the same time achieving regulatory goals. To accomplish this, European policymakers should make several policy changes. For one, EU policymakers should draw clear boundaries and set priorities for regulation. For example, regulators may place a higher priority on examining rules for alternative lending than crowdfunding because of the higher risk of abuse. In addition, EU member states should work to remove duplicative regulations. European regulators should also adopt regulatory sandboxes—wherein regulators work with companies to understand how they are incorporating technological innovations into their products and test how regulations would affect these services. Moreover, to maximize the effectiveness of enforcement actions, regulatory agencies should create a system of incentives that promote desirable behavior and discourage undesirable behavior, doing so in a way that limits compliance costs.¹⁸³

Third, the EU should seek to create international harmonization for financial services laws and regulations, especially for those affecting routing transactions, anti-money-laundering, regulatory compliance, and international access to financial data for law enforcement. A sound international framework of cooperation and coordination based on harmonization is essential to effective regulation and supervision of fintech applications, reducing systemic risks to financial stability, and ensuring innovation in financial services proceeds apace.

Finally, the EU should promote fintech cybersecurity. Financial businesses, especially banks, continue to be the target of hacking that has resulted in the exposure of millions of consumer records. Moreover, complex financial systems often lack resiliency. To ensure fintech companies are creating secure services, EU member states should create incentives for better cybersecurity in fintech products through purchasing, regulation, and oversight.

Unmanned Aircraft Systems

Unmanned aircraft systems (UAS), commonly referred to as drones, present significant opportunities for technological innovation. They are lightweight, maneuverable, and capable of carrying cameras, sensors, and other sorts of technologies into places that used to be much harder or more expensive to reach. Both the public and private sectors are using drones to improve their services.

This technology has the potential to boost productivity across a wide number of sectors, such as utility and infrastructure inspections, express shipping and delivery,

geographic mapping of inaccessible terrain, disaster management and response, storm tracking, and more. For example, farmers are using UAS for precision agriculture, enabling them to improve irrigation, crop inspection, and pesticide application.

But to capture the value of many of the more futuristic UAS applications, such as package delivery, EU policymakers will need to make policy decisions that enable effective management of the technology. The policies the Commission creates for UAS will also pay dividends for next-generation autonomous aircraft, such as vertical takeoff and landing, which could revolutionize urban air travel.¹⁸⁴

The EU can benefit from UAS technology by pursuing four policies that actively support its nascent drone industry. While many of these plans are already underway, getting implementation right will be important.

First, the EU should support and expand research and testing for UAS integration into the airspace. The European Aviation Safety Agency (EASA), which is in charge of air traffic safety, should focus its efforts on gathering risk data from UAS operations to incorporate into its rulemaking process. Moreover, with the integration of UAS, air traffic controllers will face a large surge in air traffic. The European Organisation for the Safety of Air Navigation (Eurocontrol) should continue its work on timely development of advanced UAS air traffic control systems.¹⁸⁵

Second, the EU should establish a regulatory system that both enables permissive use of the technology and ensures reasonable safety practices. In December 2017, the EASA took steps in this direction by creating a risk-based regulatory framework that focuses on three categories of operations, and the EASA adopted specific rules for each category of operations.¹⁸⁶ Ideally, EASA should set a risk threshold the private sector would have to meet or exceed to operate UAS, based on the accepted level of risk for each category. This would involve EASA giving the private sector more freedom to make improvements to UAS technology when those improvements reduce the actual risk of an accident. Flexible, risk-based rules are especially important because certain types of UAS, such as micro UAS, pose significantly fewer safety risks than larger models.¹⁸⁷ In addition, these regulations should be technology neutral, neither favoring nor disadvantaging any one technology. Clearly, all technologies are not the same. The safety concerns associated with a 2 kilogram (kg) UAS are not the same as those associated with a 20 kg UAS—and neither bears the same level of risk as a manned helicopter. Where there are differences in technology, European policymakers should establish rules that recognize the risks distinct to each.

Finally, the EU and EASA should try to ensure UAS rules supersede duplicative and contradictory regulatory frameworks from its member states. For example, neighboring France and Belgium have different height restrictions for UAS operations.¹⁸⁸ Member states should be careful not to create a jumble of duplicative, contradictory, or ill-conceived policy responses that slow the deployment of drone technology, as this could unnecessarily curb adoption and inadvertently hinder legitimate uses.

Autonomous Vehicles

Autonomous vehicles (AVs) can improve public safety, advance transportation efficiency, increase autonomy for people with disabilities, and offer many other social and economic benefits. ITIF estimated that if autonomous vehicles were widely adopted, they would provide over \$1 trillion annually in economic benefits to the U.S. economy, largely through reduced accidents and congestion, and to some extent, reduced energy costs.¹⁸⁹ It is therefore incumbent on the EU to establish a policy framework that supports the development and adoption of the technology. European policymakers should take three main steps to become global leader in AVs.

First, an effective European AV industry will only come about if policymakers work to enable development of a range of enabling technologies. To support AV integration, the EU should support research and development of these technologies, such as artificial intelligence and intelligent transportation systems (ITS). Regarding ITS, Europe's strategy should focus on vehicle-to-everything (V2X) communications infrastructure-technology that enables vehicles to communicate with each other, the roadway, and even nearby people and objects.¹⁹⁰ Beyond focusing on the connected vehicle, this strategy should include identifying innovative ways of using related technologies to drive high impact in larger intelligent transportation systems, such as emergency vehicle warning systems, adaptive traffic signal lights, and connected parking meters. Moreover, these systems are most effective when operated at scaleoften at an international level-and must be adopted by the overall system and individual users at the same time to be most successful.¹⁹¹ Therefore, policymakers should promote coordination and interoperability-the ability of different IT systems to communicate, exchange data, and cooperatively use that data-between different EU member implementations.

Second, the EU can also become a leader in AVs through regulatory reform. This can come in the form of performance-based standards around safety, tech-neutral standards for vehicles, and regulatory oversight that creates incentives for companies to protect consumers from harm.¹⁹² Policymakers should ensure regulators have the resources necessary to monitor and understand the industry, and can make timely regulatory decisions that balance safety with innovation.¹⁹³ In addition, safety standards should be adopted uniformly across all EU member states to avoid duplicate and contradictory systems.

Finally, regarding issues related to data protection, EU policymakers should be wary of overly restricting the use of vehicle data. For example, the Commission has already adopted regulations that could reduce the effectiveness of AI, which could have spillover effects that negatively impact innovations that rely on advances in AI, such as AVs.¹⁹⁴ Similarly, due to privacy concerns, EU policymakers restricted the use of safety data from the EU's "eCall" regulation, which automatically requests emergency services in the event of a vehicle crash.¹⁹⁵ Rather than inhibit beneficial uses of data, EU regulators should create rules that allow companies to collect and use vehicle data to improve consumers' well-being. Policymakers should focus on enforceable, transparent, self-regulatory principles for the auto industry to protect the cybersecurity and privacy of vehicle owners. Ideally, these rules would include all stakeholders, be clear and

transparent, and be overseen by an independent organization to assess their effectiveness.

Competition Policy

It is beyond the scope of this report to go into detail on the relationship between competition policy and innovation. However, it is worth noting two things. First, despite technological innovation having changed the structure and function of advanced economies and in many ways, competition policy around the globe has not caught up. Second, a number of competition scholars have attempted to intellectually cope with these changes—and collectively, these scholars constitute an "innovation school" of competition policy.¹⁹⁶ Most of these scholars believe the focus of antitrust measures should be much more on the side of spurring firm productivity and innovation, while worrying somewhat less about allocation efficiency or distributional effects.

These scholars also recognize the importance of dynamic markets and innovation. They see different industries as having different dynamics and therefore requiring different antitrust approaches. Proponents believe there can be many instances wherein the losses in allocation efficiency (from higher prices in less-than-fully competitive markets) will be - dwarfed by the gains in productivity and innovation. Indeed, the focus of antitrust thinking should be on the long-term trajectory of product value and price, not just on current consumer welfare measured by short-run prices.

The innovation school also focuses less on favoring competitive markets and more on examining processes that develop competitive, innovative, and productive firms—particularly firms that can effectively compete in global marketplaces. Moreover, increased concentration can be pro-innovation, even when it hurts other competitors. As U.C. Berkeley scholar and former member of President Obama's Council of Economic Advisors, Carl Shapiro wrote, "If appropriability is low, e.g., due to weak intellectual property rights and significant spillovers to rival firms who engage in imitation, then increased concentration can improve appropriability and promote innovation, weakening the link between concentration and competition."¹⁹⁷ As such Commission officials, particularly in Directorate-General (DG) Competition, need to engage in a robust process of research, debate, and dialogue to explore how both digitally-based innovation is changing markets such that higher levels of concentration may be consumer-welfare maximizing, and EU competition policy can more effectively support innovation in network- and innovation-based industries.

Data and Competition Policy

One aspect of competition policy that is particularly relevant to the digital economy relates to how competition regulators treat the accumulation of large sets of data. Some advocates, pundits, and small and start-up AI companies argue that in order to level the playing field, regulators should force large companies possessing considerable amounts of data to make this data openly available, usually for free. Using value-laden terms such as "open data" and arguments that somehow the possession of large amounts of data is a threat to competition, they argue such policies would release the "oil" of the data economy, now held unfairly by "digital OPECs."¹⁹⁸ Policymakers should reject

Regulators should recognize that because data is nonrivalrous, one company's possession of data does not have to come at the expense of another's. such arguments, in part because, at least for small AI companies, they represent special pleading to get a key resource without paying.¹⁹⁹

More broadly, regulators should recognize that because data is nonrivalrous, one company's possession of data does not have to come at the expense of another's. More importantly, efforts to mandate that firms share proprietary data with other companies can limit innovation by reducing incentives for EU firms to collect and analyze data, essentially turning data into an interchangeable commodity.²⁰⁰

In a recent study economists Anja Lambrecht and Catherine Tucker found little evidence that the mere possession of even large amounts of data can protect a company from a superior product offering because data are seldom inimitable, rare, valuable, or non-substitutable.²⁰¹ One reason is having the right algorithms and business models tends to be much more important than having the right data. Another is much data has a short "half-life." Any market advantage it provides is temporary. A third is large amounts of data are often available privately to any party that wants to buy it. The key constraint is translating the data into a competitive product. Finally, data is easily transferable and nonrivalrous. Sharing it with another party does not preclude that party from sharing it with others.

One area of data policy receiving attention is business data, as increasing amounts of data are being produced or captured by machines. For example, global mining company Rio Tinto has created a "Mine of the Future" program to identify the size, location, and quality of ore by aggregating the data it collects in real time. Rio Tinto collects this data from both the trucks and the drills it uses in its mines all around the world, and processes at its Processing Excellence Centre. In manufacturing, operations are slowly becoming "intelligent," with more and more machines being sensor-based and connected, enabling real-time analytics to be run on machines and even across whole establishments.²⁰² One issue related to such machine data is who owns the it? For a factory, is it the manufacturer who owns the machine? Is it the machine maker who sells the machines to the manufacturer? Is it the third-party system integrator who connects a company's machines?²⁰³

To examine this issue, the European Commission has established a working group of experts.²⁰⁴ The Commission aims: "to ensure fair and competitive markets for Internet of Things objects and for products and services that rely on nonpersonal machine-generated data created by such objects." The Commission also suggests a number of principles for companies to consider when drafting relevant contracts.

But these concerns could very well be premature. First, the norm, at least presently, is for machine buyers to own the data, at least for commercial and industrial applications. Most companies do not want the data going outside of their control. To be sure, some machine builders and system integrators have created lightweight, secure remote virtual private network (VPN) access that allows a company to access data at a manufacturing site, if the company requests it; just like a PC user can let a remote help desk access their PC to fix a problem. But like a help desk helping someone with their PC, when a remote factory task is complete, the connection is closed. There is a second reason why the business model is likely to be one in which machine owners own the data. Pushing

Underlying and helping to shape CAS development and competitiveness is the nature and evolution of the global trading system. all of the data out to a third party increases the threat of hacking as compared with just one company holding it. It is sometimes impractical because of the large quantity of data involved. Some machines, of which there can be thousands inside a factory, have I/O backplanes that operate at 1 GB per second.

Moreover, there are good reasons to believe market forces will ensure fair data relationships. In few industries do machine sellers have a monopoly, and therefore they have an incentive to provide the kinds of products and services customers want. Moreover, bad publicity from "unfair" data practices can be real and something most companies seek to avoid. We see this dynamic in the agricultural sector, regarding concerns by U.S. farmers that big agricultural firms, such as John Deere, would control data from precision and smart agricultural systems. However, working with farm organizations in 2014, a number of large agricultural companies, including John Deere, signed on to a set of data principles, including one on ownership:

We believe farmers own information generated on their farming operations. However, it is the responsibility of the farmer to agree upon data use and sharing with the other stakeholders with an economic interest, such as the tenant, landowner, cooperative, owner of the precision agriculture system hardware, and/or ATP [agricultural technology provider] etc. The farmer contracting with the ATP is responsible for ensuring that only the data they own or have permission to use is included in the account with the ATP.²⁰⁵

But even with these technology and market forces keeping the data in the hands of the machine owners, there may be cases wherein machine sellers have a business model that involves the collection and aggregation of data from multiple factories and companies—with their permission—and performing machine analytics that provide each manufacturer with information that enables them to improve performance. As such, EU regulations prescribing a particular business model or specific contract language are likely to limit, not advance, innovation.

Trade

Trade policy will play a key role in shaping ICT development and adoption, both in Europe and across the world. This section examines global trade policy trends, digital trade policies, and how to develop an integrated European services market.

Trade Policy Trends

Underlying and helping to shape CAS development and competitiveness is the nature and evolution of the global trading system. The last two waves of IT development have led to and supported the emergence of broad global value chains and the disaggregation of production into component parts. Coupled with the policies of low-wage developing nations—particularly China, but also India and other nations—a new global division of labor has emerged, with a higher share of lower-value-added work being done in these nations.

If this new global division of labor were the only major dynamic happening, trade policy would be much simpler. Instead, the global economy has seen an unprecedented rise in "innovation mercantilism": a set of policies put in place to unfairly win in the

Regulations prescribing a particular business model or specific contract language related to data ownership are likely to limit, not advance, innovation. competition for advanced industries. This includes forced technology transfer, cyberespionage, development of domestic-only technology standards, local production requirements for market access, and massive subsidies of technology firms. China is the leading proponent of this type of development strategy, but a number of other nations, including Brazil, India, Indonesia, Russia, and Vietnam have embraced at least a sizeable suite of these kinds of policies.²⁰⁶

Unfortunately, the World Trade Organization (WTO) is not in a position to fully respond to these challenges, in part because many of these unfair trade practices are not covered by WTO agreements (e.g., cyberespionage, subsidies) or are unenforceable because certain nations do not put their unfair policies in written form by which action can be taken against. This is one reason why the current focus by the EU on advancing a WTO reform agenda is so important.

These developments have several important implications for the EU digital economy. The first relates to trade relations with the United States. While it is unclear how U.S. trade policy will evolve under the Trump administration, it does appear the Trump administration's imposition of tariffs on China are not designed principally for protectionist purposes but rather to roll back unfair Chinese trading practices. Whether warranted or not, this also appears to motivate the administration's efforts regarding EU trade, including in automobiles, where the administration believes the playing field is unlevel in part because of differing tariff levels and the use of border-adjustable valueadded taxes by European countries.

Moreover, President Trump has ushered in a new era in U.S. trade policy, and it will be difficult for any subsequent administration—Democratic or Republican—to go back to the old operating framework. This framework was premised on the belief that most nations are evolving to become free traders, and that one-sided trade (free trade on the U.S. side and mercantilism on the other) was still in the United States' national interest. This view has now been seriously called into question, including by many in the trade policy establishment. As such, future U.S. administrations will likely take a tougher stance to push back against foreign mercantilist practices than previous administrations.

At this time, it is not clear whether the Trump administration's efforts with China will succeed. Regardless, unfair trade practices from China pose a threat to the ability of Europe to prosper in the CAS economy. China's goal, in part articulated in its *Made in China 2025* plan, is to wrest leadership in a wide array of advanced industries (including Industry 4.0, AI, 5G, robotics, and electric and autonomous vehicles) not just from the United States but also Europe. As such, the United States and the EU need to work more closely together to fight against the distortions of global trade China is engaging in. This should involve joint pressure on the WTO to have it evolve in ways that allow it to play a stronger role policing mercantilist nations such as China.²⁰⁷ Combined multilateral pressure from the United States and Europe will also be key to limiting the worst of the Chinese government's policies. Failure to do so will not only cede leadership in the industries critical to the next wave, it will also slow the overall pace of global innovation in these areas.

Whether both nations can agree to this—and whether even joint efforts will be successful—is uncertain. What does seem likely, at least over the moderate term, is that there will be some breakdown of globally integrated markets and supply chains. There are simply too many nations today that are demanding local production in exchange for market access, and in response, many multinationals have begun to resign themselves to a world wherein they introduce local production facilities to serve local markets.

Another challenge facing Europe is the threat from Chinese government-backed acquisitions of European CAS firms.²⁰⁸ A core component of China's Made in China 2025 plan is to acquire foreign advanced-technology capabilities through state-backed and subsidized acquisitions of foreign companies.²⁰⁹ Europe experienced this firsthand with the Chinese acquisition of Germany's Kuka, one of the world's leading developers of robotics and automation technologies. The U.S. Congress recently passed the Foreign Investment Risk Review Modernization Act (FIRRMA) that modernized the Committee on Foreign Investment in the U.S. process to significantly strengthen the ability and authority of the U.S. government to limit the ability of firms in statecapitalist economies to acquire, in whole or in part, U.S. advanced technology companies, and potentially to limit forced technology transfer.²¹⁰ The European Commission needs the authority to review and approve or reject investments in the EU—including acquisitions and equity investments—from firms in state capitalist economies. Relying on national governments alone will result in a patchwork of protections, with lower-income EU nations being more willing to sell assets at a premium price to foreign government-backed firms.

Digital Trade Policies

Trade in the 21st century is increasingly digital. But to ensure a robust level of digitally enabled trade, Europe needs to address two key issues: 1) removing barriers to data flows and 2) improving market access for trade in digital services, both within Europe and with the rest of the world.

The EU has not yet fully followed through on its assertion that the free flow of data is a prerequisite for a competitive data economy within the Digital Single Market.²¹¹ Data will naturally flow across borders unless governments enact artificial barriers that prevent it from doing so. But the EU's approach has made this more difficult by introducing artificial differences between personal and nonpersonal data, and between data flows within and outside the region. This has occurred in part because of the EU's focus on the geography of data storage, rather than on the legal framework for holding firms accountable for managing EU citizens' personal data (wherever it is stored) and on how firms ensure they can provide regulatory authorities with timely access to this data when presented with a legitimate request.

In June 2018, the Commission came to a provisional agreement on regulating the free flow of nonpersonal data in the EU. The agreement highlighted a Deloitte study that estimated removing internal barriers to data flows would generate additional economic growth of 4 percent of European GDP by 2020.²¹² Furthermore, the agreement pointed out that some of the main obstacles to data flows are due to data localization by public authorities and the legal uncertainty firms experience regarding the complex

Unfair Chinese trade practices pose a threat to the ability of Europe to prosper in the CAS economy. legal patchwork around cross-border data storage and processing in many different sectors, situations, and countries across Europe.

The EU has recognized the impact of digitalization on trade, as outlined in the EU's *Trade for all: Towards a more responsible trade and investment policy* report, which highlights the growing importance of digital trade and data, and establishes the overarching goal to "set rules for e-commerce and cross-border data flows and tackle new forms of digital protectionism, in full compliance with and without prejudice to the EU's data protection and data privacy rules."²¹³

Europe needs to continue to work to ensure the existence of a free flow of data, including personal data, within the EU. One way to achieve this is to introduce duty-of-care provisions whereby domestic regulators hold companies responsible for any breaches of data-privacy laws—regardless of where the company stores data. For example, if a French firm has data on French persons and stores it in Slovenia, French laws apply to that data. Of course, after the passage of the GDPR, this issue should be moot.²¹⁴

Yet the same principle of "duty of care" for data should also apply for data that flows outside of the EU. The EU should make it clear in law that companies that do business in the EU (and thereby have a legal nexus there) are legally responsible for any failure to protect the personal data of citizens, regardless of whether that failure is the fault of the company in the EU, or of an affiliate or business partner in another nation. In other words, EU protections should travel with the data, regardless of where that data travels.

Embracing this duty of care standard has implications for EU trade policy. The Commission does not directly deal with issues relating to data flows in its trade agreements, as it does not want to expose them to hypothetical legal challenges.²¹⁵ Instead, the Commission prefers to address issues related to data flows, especially of EU personal data, outside the text of trade agreements as part of "adequacy" determinations, most recently with Canada and Japan.²¹⁶ The Commission focuses on certifying that countries provide an adequate level of protection equivalent to what Europe provides at home. Outside of an adequacy determination, the only other tools to manage transfer of EU personal data are the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield Framework and certain legal tools (such as binding corporate rules and standard contractual clauses). However, the possibility that both the Privacy Shield and these legal tools may be invalidated does exist, as they are currently the subject of legal challenges in Europe.²¹⁷

While Europe's adequacy approach can, by definition, work for other nations with similar privacy regulatory regimes, it is more problematic in dealing with the majority of nations that have less-stringent regimes, such as China. Moreover, the EU's own process and criteria for assessing adequacy is not clear, nor is it comprehensive, covering a disparate collection of 11 countries—from Israel to the Faroe Islands, Guernsey to the Isle of Man.

As such, the EU should develop provisions within the text of its trade agreements—not outside them—to protect the role data flows play in digital

The same principle of "duty of care" for data should also apply for data that flows outside of the EU. trade in order to ensure other nations do not use privacy as a cover for digital protectionism, as it would make these measures subject to a trade dispute. It can do this if it embraces a duty of care standard to protect the privacy of EU residents, not by where it allows data to flow, but by holding companies accountable for abiding by the GDPR and other related laws and regulations regardless of where they store and process data.

To its credit, the EU is considering language to include data flows in trade agreements.²¹⁸ The opening sections in the European Commission's draft set of digital trade provisions prohibits digital trade barriers, such as data localization policies, that block cross-border data flows. This is important, because the rise of such data-localization policies globally makes strong and enforceable rules essential to the EU promoting an open global digital economy and allowing EU firms to engage in robust digital trade.²¹⁹

Unfortunately, the European Commission's draft proposal continues to reflect its divided membership. The preceding provision prohibiting barriers to data flows has been rendered problematic by a follow-on section about privacy, stating that any participating nation can enact whatever measures it "deems appropriate to ensure the protection of personal data and privacy, including through the adoption and application of rules for the cross-border transfer of personal data." Essentially, this means that as long as a country states that data localization is for data privacy, it is valid within the EU trade policy framework, thus legitimizing the very policies of other nations the EU vision rightly opposes.

Instead of a broad, self-judging exception for privacy, the EU should develop trade agreement provisions that cover the sizable range of legitimate privacy policies countries use. Most importantly, Europe's digital trade agreement provisions should emphasize that firms will be held accountable for ensuring a country's data protection rules flow with the data, regardless of the privacy policies that exist in the nations where the data is stored.

Developing an Integrated European Services Market

For the EU to improve productivity and fully benefit from digital technologies, it needs to take further action to develop a truly integrated services market. This is particularly important because service industries are ripe for CAS transformation, although this will need to be supported by larger, more-integrated markets to give firms of all sizes greater economies of scale.

Given that most European economies increasingly rely on services for their value added—in Germany, for example, service industries account for 70 percent of value added, and in many other European economies the share is even higher—ensuring services transformation through CAS technologies is key to competitiveness and productivity.²²⁰ While developing a more-integrated services market involves getting individual member states to make many of the necessary changes (given that this involves national, not EU, responsibilities) and address issues pertaining to domestic regulatory practices, this is a challenge the Commission can help address.

Services market integration is critical for digital services, as regulations often limit access for digital challengers, including start-ups.²²¹ These barriers prevent the exploitation of economies of scale and thereby threaten the business models of new, ICT-based services firms. Service trade barriers also reduce imports in restricted sectors, affect local firms' competitiveness in international markets, and reduce foreign firms' access to local markets. There are also negative knock-on consequences for downstream users of these services and the potential for European firms to play a greater role in emerging global value chains.²²²

Accordingly, there is a widespread consensus that Europe needs to do more here. For example, the consulting firm Copenhagen Economics wrote, "From a business perspective, the reality of the Single Market for services falls short of expectations."²²³

The overarching goal for the EU and its member states should be to remove harmful and unnecessary rules, improve existing rules, and help create good rules for new issues. To do this, the Commission needs to develop 1) a clear process to identify barriers to entry and operation in service markets, 2) a tool to assess these barriers to determine whether they are proportionate and in line with best practices, and 3) reporting and transparency mechanisms to publicize relevant rules and regulations, alongside a parallel effort to ensure regulatory agencies have the capability to develop, enact, and enforce relevant rules and laws.²²⁴ The European Commission's recent work on services as part of the Single Market strategy touches on parts of these and provides a solid foundation to build upon, yet also highlights where further ambition, leadership, and policy action are needed to achieve a broad base of consistent action among EU member states.²²⁵

Regulatory restrictions pertaining to services trade should be limited to measures needed for legitimate public-interest purposes—such as for health, education, consumer protection, and environmental or national security concerns. Regulations undertaken in pursuit of such public policy goals target perceived market failures (such as competition policy or such negative externalities as environmental impacts) or a particular social equity objective (such as universal service access). The challenge is to design a regulatory framework for services, especially those involving digital technologies, that is clear, reasonable, proportionate, and non/least-trade distorting. There are clearly principles regulators can rely on to limit the negative impact of regulation on innovation and, in some cases, to spur innovation.²²⁶

The goal of enabling economies of scale and network efforts, as well as improvements in productivity and innovation, for digital services extends beyond the EU to the global market. The economies of scale provided by ICTs mean that expanded services trade will enable higher productivity and lower costs for consumers, and spur further investments in innovation. However, liberalization of trade in services at the global level has long taken a backseat to trade in goods, despite services accounting for approximately 70 percent of the global economy.

New rules are needed as digital technologies are causing many more services can now, with the right rules, be traded across borders. And some services tasks are increasingly splintered into discrete components, some of which can be performed and sourced

Data can transform how the public and private sectors work and deliver services enabling them to adopt more efficient and effective practices. remotely. This is considered the "second unbundling" of international trade, following the geographic separation of consumption and production of physical goods that occurred following the reduction in transportation costs in the 1800s.²²⁷ These two interrelated trends—increased digitalization and increased unbundling of services—have created a global market for services tasks that has contributed to the tripling of services trade over the past 15 years.²²⁸

However, tradable services—such as retail, professional and business services, finance and insurance, and entertainment services—too often face markets that are not (or are only partially) open to foreign competition and subject to "behind-the-border" regulations that limit trade.²²⁹ Too many policymakers are willing to accept a future with too many small, inefficient local service firms and the accompanying low productivity and income growth they produce, rather than opening up domestic markets to global services trade.²³⁰ Again, barriers to services trade are most clearly visible when leading firms—often large and on the cutting edge of technology and business practices—enter service sectors that have traditionally been heavily protected from competition, a protection that results in large numbers of small and inefficient firms. Current services market access rights were largely set in the mid-1990s by the General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS), when the Internet as we know it barely existed and services trade was nowhere near as important.

To address this, the EU should take a leading role in reviving negotiations over an ambitious Trade in Services Agreement (TISA), which stalled at the end of 2016. A prerequisite to do this would be the EU modifying its approach to intraregional and international data flows, as its position on the issue of data was a major cause both for continuous delays in TISA negotiations and in its ultimate stalling. TISA represents the most-relevant vehicle to achieve a more open global market for digital services. The 23 economies involved in TISA comprise the majority of the world's services activity, and also share a broad, high-standard ambition to upgrade international trade rules for the modern era. Among other provisions, an ambitious TISA agenda should include rules that protect the free flow of data for all services and categories of data, improve services market access, introduce a permanent commitment not to levy duties on digital products, and improve transparency and reporting rules for regulations that impact market entry and operations for digital services.²³¹

Resources for Firms

Firms' productivity, innovation, and competitiveness depend in part on the prevalence and quality of external resources, including infrastructure, skills, data, and scientific and engineering research.

Data

Data can transform how the public and private sectors work and deliver services enabling them to adopt more efficient and effective practices. For example, as a result of greater data access and use, the value of the data economy in Europe could increase in value from €300 billion (1.99 percent of GDP) in 2016 to €739 billion (4 percent of GDP) by 2020. In addition, open data initiatives are predicted to have the ability to save Europe's governments €1.7 billion by 2020.²³² Data is also enabling important innovations in many sectors. For example, in education, data can help government leaders create more effective education policy, schools operate more efficiently, families find the best schools, teachers discover the most effective lessons, and students learn better. Data is also critical to the health and well-being of individuals, and is being used to improve virtually every aspect of health care, from developing new drugs to delivering care to patients. Increased use of data in health care offers a broad range of benefits, including more personalized and coordinated care, better quality, faster treatment development, and lower costs. Finally, as noted by European Commission Vice President Andrus Ansip, "Without data, we will not make the most of artificial intelligence, high-performance computing, and other technological advances."²³³

The EU and member nations have taken important steps in this direction. The Payment Services Directive (PSD2) was a helpful policy that has made banking data more accessible and increased competition. And the United Kingdom's Open Banking Standard demonstrates how this approach could be taken further by requiring banks to make their data available in a standardized format and therefore it easier for third parties to access and use to develop further innovations for consumers. In the case of both PSD2 and the United Kingdom's Open Banking Standard, the overriding goal is to ensure consumers can share their personal financial data with third parties and increase market transparency about bank fees—not to force companies to turn over their own proprietary data.

EU policymakers are rightly focused on promoting the adoption and use of artificial intelligence, and many recognize that the widespread availability of data is necessary for many AI applications, particularly those that use machine learning. Policymakers should facilitate the voluntary sharing of data to promote innovation and other societal benefits. Often, the public and private sectors hold valuable sensitive data but lack mechanisms to securely and efficiently share it with one another and academia. The United Kingdom is developing a program of "data trusts" to facilitate the voluntary sharing of data that would not otherwise be made publicly available due to its proprietary or sensitive nature, but has high value for AI applications.

Europe can also do more to promote open government data. While member states must follow the directive on the reuse of public-sector information, which gives citizens the right to access certain public data, this directive leaves it up to member states to determine what information can be made available and in what format. In addition, most EU countries have signed on to the Open Government Declaration, a global open data initiative led by the Open Government Partnership (OGP), an international organization promoting more open, effective, and accountable government. However, OGP's open data initiative focuses narrowly on transparency in government, and overlooks the significant commercial and efficiency payoffs a broader and deeper commitment to open data could deliver for Europe.

A good model for open government data is the G8 Open Data Charter, which, as well as supporting the release of data to promote transparency, is more explicit about the quality and format in which data should be released and, importantly, adds innovation as a reason to release data.²³⁴ As the four EU members of the G8 (now G7)—France,

Discussions about data need to balance legitimate needs for privacy with those for data innovation by EU firms. Germany, Italy, and the United Kingdom—have all signed up to the charter, and even the EU has endorsed the G8 Open Data Charter for its own institutions, all other European countries should make the same pledge. Broadening Europe's open data commitments to include data innovation will be particularly important for countries that are seeking to thrive in the data economy and take advantage of the economic potential of open data.

Policymakers should remember that without data collection, data access has no value. For many years, policymakers have sought to address the "digital divide"—the social and economic disadvantages that may result from a lack of access to technology.²³⁵ Now EU policymakers should begin a concerted effort to address the "data divide"—the social and economic inequalities that may result from a lack of collection or use of data about an individual or community. Already, gaps are appearing where certain groups of individuals do not have data collected about them or their communities because of where they live. If this trend toward a data divide continues, we might even see the rise of "data deserts"—areas characterized by a lack of access to high-quality data that may be used to generate social and economic benefits. To address this, EU governments should ensure official statistics and surveys include all population groups, with a particular focus on including historically uncounted populations. In addition, governments should digitize their civil registration offices to ensure data from key legal documents, such as birth, death, and marriage certificates, can be integrated into national vital statistics.

Data innovation does not receive enough attention. Discussions about data need to balance legitimate needs for privacy with those for data innovation by EU firms. To strike this balance, every EU member state should appoint a chief digital officer to not only champion data innovation domestically, but also serve on a new, independent, EU-wide advisory panel charged with counseling the EU on how to seize opportunities to innovate with data and AI and related tools, and develop a cohesive vision and strategy for capturing the full benefits of data-driven innovation in Europe.

France was the first country in the EU to appoint a chief digital officer—Henri Verdier, director of Etalab, which oversees France's open data portal—to the position in September of 2014.²³⁶ His role is primarily concerned with how the French government generates, governs, and uses data.²³⁷ While data-driven innovation in the public sector is important, EU member states should direct their chief digital officers to also encourage data-driven innovation in society more broadly, including in the private sector.

Finally, there is the issue of data ownership. There is increasing dialogue and debate about the issue, including who can own what data, at what times. In general, instituting data ownership rights (as opposed to rights to creative content) in law or regulation runs the risk of limiting innovation, including of business models.

Data can either be related to a person or a "machine," although the dividing lines are not always strict. An example of machine data would be data from a farmer's sensors in his field reporting data on soil moisture, temperature, and growth rates from a
machine. Personal data is data such as an individual's date of birth, emails, and health records.

It is worth making a distinction between the four main kinds of personally identifiable information (PII), which is information that can be used to distinguish or identify an individual, is linked, or is reasonably linkable to an individual.²³⁸

The first category is observable information, which is personal information that can be perceived firsthand by other individuals. This category includes both observable personal information created by the individual about themselves, as well as observable personal information captured by a third party. An example of the former is personal correspondence, such as letters or emails a person has written. Examples of the latter primarily come from recorded media, such as video surveillance (e.g., CCTV camera footage), photographs (e.g., personal photos), or audio recordings (e.g., recording of a conversation).

The second category of information is observed information, which is information collected about an individual based on a third party's observation, or provided by the individual but does not allow someone else to replicate the observation. This data can encompass a wide variety of information that describes an individual, such as their basic information (e.g., place of birth, date of birth, etc.), physical traits (e.g., weight, eye color, etc.), personal preferences (e.g., likes and dislikes, political views, search history, reading habits, media consumption, etc.), and social traits (e.g., degrees, religious affiliations, nationality, criminal history, etc.).

The third type is computed information, which is information inferred or derived from observable or observed information.²³⁹ Computed information is produced when observable or observed information is manipulated through computation to produce new information that describes an individual in some way. For example, companies construct online advertising profiles for consumers based on many different sources of observed information, such as direct-mail responses, search history, and demographic information. Biometrics are derived through a computational process involving scans of unique physical characteristics on a person's body.

Finally, associated information is information a third party associates with an individual. Associated information, by itself and unlike the other three categories, does not provide any descriptive information about an individual. For example, a library card number alone does not provide any information about its owner. There are many different types of associated information, such as government identification information, contact information, and device identifiers (e.g., IP addresses, MAC address, browser cookies, etc.). Table 5 summarizes these types of information.

| Type of Information | Examples |
|------------------------|--|
| Observable Information | Videos, emails, recordings, etc. |
| Observed Information | Geolocation, date of birth, search history, etc. |
| Computed Information | Advertising profiles, biometrics, credit scores, etc. |
| Associated Information | Social Security numbers, IP addresses, land titles, etc. |

Table 5: Types of Information, With Examples for Each

With observable information, there often can be a clear owner, particularly when it involves an original work of authorship. Clearly, data that collectively forms a video, sound recording, image, or text can be copyrighted. With observed information, the issue of rights relates to the question of who contributed the "labor" to the data (and why). For data that is just "out there," such as someone's date of birth, there should be no rights to control it.²⁴⁰ But a lot of observed data is not widely available and is provided to other parties, such as social networks (e.g., posts/status updates). This involves user input, so clearly the user should have some rights. But when one goes online, organizations (e.g., Facebook, Wikipedia, Amazon, etc.) possess one's information. Here, companies should have the right to use the data, but be governed by their privacy policies, the ability of users to opt out of secondary use, and any privacy rules governing the rights of consumers to data deletion.

While it is also observed data, network traffic or SSID broadcasts are fairly incidental "data exhaust," so if a company is collecting that information, they should have the rights to it.

Overall, to say that the companies a citizen shares information with have no legal rights to that at least some of that data cannot be correct. This is especially true if the company using personal data curates it (fixes errors such as an incorrect birthday, for example) or combines it in a way to make the overall database more valuable. But these companies should no more be able to own the rights to data they have about a person than a person should be able to own data about another person. This is because, as U.K. attorney Jo Joyce wrote, "No one can truly own a piece of data, the only thing that can be possessed is an aggregation or collection of such data, provided there has been a relevant investment in carrying out that aggregation or collection."²⁴¹ To be clear, an aggregation of bits into the form of a photo is something that does and should have intellectual property rights.

With computed information, the rights should accrue to the party that performed the lion's share of the work—e.g., computing. For example, when a company spends time and effort to create an advertising profile for an individual, that company should have the rights to that data, presuming they complied with all relevant privacy laws and regulations. Finally, with associated information, the organizations that produced the

information should have primary rights. But when it represents an individual, that individual clearly has usage rights.

But notwithstanding these differences, there have been broad calls for individuals to have ownership rights to their data. Every day, hundreds of millions of people go online to search the web, watch videos, read content, and catch up with friends—all without paying a single cent. But some critics deride this free ecosystem, claiming that not only are unsuspecting consumers "paying" for these services with their data, but they are also getting a rotten deal. Many argue that individuals should have exclusive legal rights to all "their" personal data so that others can never use it without their permission. For example, a recent article in the *Financial Times* entitled "Digital privacy rights require data ownership" is emblematic of the dominant framing: Ownership implies sovereignty over property, but unlike property, data can be copied, which means sharing it is not a zero-sum game, such as with property transfers.²⁴²

The exchange of data is a fundamentally different exchange of value than other transactions. Data is nonrivalrous; many different companies can collect, share, and use the same data simultaneously. Similarly, when consumers pay with data to access a website, they still have the same amount of data after the transaction as before. As a result, users have an infinite resource available to them to access free online services. In other words, if a person gives another person 10 euros, they have 10 fewer euros. But if they tell another person that they are a football fan, then both simply know that information. Sharing personal data does not preclude a person from sharing the same data to access any number of services.

When consumers allow companies to use their data, they allow value to be created. Adsupported digital services turn data into value by functioning as two-sided markets that connect consumers and advertisers. Users get access to a free service and advertisers get access to an audience for its ads. In most cases, the advertiser does not even know which users see their ad, only that the ad is placed in front of a targeted group of people, such as people who live in Brussels or have an interest in travel. Ad-supported digital services represent a key digital-era business model.

ICT R&D

Support of ICT R&D is an important policy tool to spur more ICT innovation and firm competitiveness. Although the EU lags behind the United States in ICT R&D as a share of GDP, bold increases in funding could help Europe close this gap. To that end, proposals for Europe 2020, as well as R&D proposals from DG Connect, promise to increase support for ICT R&D.

However, to be more effective, the EU should consider significant reforms in two main areas. The first relates to whether projects are bottom-up or top-down. Currently, the Commission sees the process for allocating funds for Open Science as predominantly bottom-up, whereby principal investigators propose projects based on their own interests. In contrast, the Horizon 2020 process for allocating support for industrial R&D is very much top-down, with the Commission identifying specific areas to be funded. The Commission should consider reversing this orientation. In particular, **the Commission should adopt an ICT R&D funding system that lets industry decide** what areas it is most interested in participating in. At the same time, it should identify areas of importance for ICT research and devote funds to individual academic researchers and academic research centers for projects in these areas.

The second issue relates to who gets funded and in what form. Currently, a large share of EU funding goes to individual projects. In the Horizon 2020 program, over 1,900 industrial projects were funded as of late 2018.²⁴³ The challenge is the process of applying for grants can be relatively burdensome. At least in the area of ICT R&D, **the Commission should reduce its role as a "retail" funder and instead fund a modest number of industry-university R&D centers**. One key model is the U.S. Industry-University Cooperative Research Center (I/UCRC) program.²⁴⁴ The I/UCRC program forges partnerships between universities and industry, featuring industrially relevant fundamental research, industrial support of and collaboration in research and education, and direct transfer of university-developed ideas, research results, and technology to incumbent and start-up firms.

While funding is modest, the program has achieved outsized results, not only in terms of commercializing research, but in saving participating companies money on research expenditures.²⁴⁵ The I/UCRCs have also had important impacts on expanding STEM graduate education, including increasing the number of female graduates. One study of I/UCRCs found that these "centers may constitute an institutional context in which some aspects of gender equity in science may be achieved."²⁴⁶

An argument some defenders of the current academic system make against industryuniversity partnerships such as the I/UCRC model is such partnerships limit academic freedom, particularly of the graduate students doing research. However, this does not appear to be the case. One study that used a stratified sample of graduate students from the same two engineering departments at six U.S. universities found that "the results failed to support claims that sponsorship by industry negatively affects student experiences or outcomes," and that there was no statistically significant difference in levels of academic freedom between industry-sponsored research projects and others.²⁴⁷

One key factor contributing to the success of the I/UCRC program is industry must provide matching funds. For every NSF dollar, industry must contribute at least 4.3 dollars. While this match ratio is probably too high, requiring some industry match helps ensure not only that the research is industrially relevant, but also that industry cares about ensuring their investment translates into real bottom-line results. In the I/UCRCs, graduate research projects are often chosen by a vote among the center's industry members, and each project so selected typically has an industry mentor alongside the faculty advisor. Not only is the research itself more product- and team-oriented, but these same industry members become close enough to the university faculty that they are then available to define and lead undergraduate design projects as well. Thus, "real design, by real teams, for real customers" becomes accessible to both graduate and undergraduate students—as evidenced by a study that shows the I/UCRCs are producing a minimum of 1.04 spin-offs per year, or 0.17 spin-off/start-ups per year per million dollars.²⁴⁸

As such, the Commission should establish an ICT-based I/UCRC program, wherein the research areas are determined by universities in partnership with industry, and no funding is available unless industry provides at least half the funding in cash. In order to ensure regional cohesion, the Commission could require that industry supporters come from at least three EU nations.

The Commission should also focus on another challenge. In the United States, large technology companies are increasingly hiring top professors doing research in AI, robotics, and other advanced ICT-related fields. Leading academics spend much of their time grant writing and often face limits on their salaries, making them more likely to move to industry. The problem, of course, is that while individual firms may benefit, it weakens the overall innovation ecosystem as there are fewer top-quality university researchers to train the next generation. As such, the Commission should establish a program that awards €1 million each year for five years to the top 100 or so academic researchers doing work in advanced ICT areas industry values.

Finally, the Parliament and the Commission overall should support the Directorate General for Research and Innovation's efforts to increase funding for research and development in robotics and artificial intelligence. One step to consider would be to establish a new directorate focused on supporting research in these two fields.

Labor Markets and Digital Skills

There is widespread concern that an increasing share of workers will be contingent workers—many doing work through technology platforms—which will necessitate a serious reform of labor market regulations. For example, the U.S. gig worker matching platform Upwork recently predicted, without evidence, that within a decade the majority of U.S. workers will be freelancers.²⁴⁹ Some point to a study by the U.S. Federal Reserve that discovered 31 percent of U.S. adults engage in gig work.²⁵⁰ But a closer examination of this study suggests that most of these people are making very little money. Three-quarters of these workers earn less than 10 percent of household income from this work and typically spend just five hours a month at it. For example, a person would be classified as a gig worker if they were employed full time in an insurance firm but had a hobby making earrings and selling them on Etsy or babysitting a few nights a week for neighbors.

To be sure, gig economy work has grown in the last decade, but much of it appears to have been a fallout of the Great Recession, when full-time, permanent work was scarce. Moreover, even with the growth of Uber, Task Rabbit, and other work-sharing platforms, in 2015, only about 600,000 U.S. workers were employed this way. Moreover, the share of the U.S. workforce that was self-employed in 2016 was at an all-time low of less than 7 percent.²⁵¹ In a widely cited 2016 study, Lawrence Katz and Alan Krueger found an increase in alternative-work arrangements from 2005 to 2015 that included workers in temp agencies, independent contractors, and contract workers. (These are all categories wherein technology has not driven their growth.) Gig economy jobs through online platforms accounted for only around 0.5 percent of U.S. jobs in 2015.²⁵² However, the authors recently issued a retraction, admitting their original study was erroneous and gig economy jobs had grown only one to two

percentage points, rather than the five points they had initially found.²⁵³ Moreover, in the definitive survey of contingent workers, the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics recently found that just 3.7 percent of U.S. workers are contingent workers, a number that has actually declined since 2005.²⁵⁴ And there's no reason to believe self-employment will grow significantly in the future as long as the economy does not fall into recession.

A much more important labor market issue for Europe than the purported rise of the gig economy is the state of ICT skills. In the United States 2015, there were 0.44 computer science degrees awarded per thousand people, compared with 0.33 in the EU countries that reported data. While some nations, such as Ireland, Finland, and Denmark exceeded the United States, most other nations lagged behind, as figure 21 shows. In addition, OECD data shows that on the one hand the share of adults lacking basic computer skills is higher in some EU nations compared with the United States, but lower in other EU nations, including Belgium, Finland, Greece, Poland, Italy, Spain, and France.²⁵⁵ However, according to OECD, increasing the provision of ICT training to low-skilled EU employees from a low level (Greece) to the sample maximum (Denmark) could increase the adoption rates of cloud computing and digital front-office technologies (such as customer-relationship management) by around 7 percentage points in knowledge-intensive industries.²⁵⁶

Figure 21: Computing Degrees per 1,000 People²⁵⁷



It also appears the United States leads Europe in development of AI skills. A study by LinkedIn examined the share of users who have AI-related technologies and skills in their profile. Normalized by the number of LinkedIn users per nation, the United States (0.6 percent) leads major European nations (the Netherlands, 0.5 percent; France, 0.4 percent; and Germany and Italy, 0.3 percent).²⁵⁸

Bolstering K–12 computer science (CS) education is a key step member states and the Commission can take to bolster the ICT capacity of future workforces. In fact, many nations around the world have also begun to reform their CS curricula with an eye toward success in the global marketplace.²⁵⁹ For instance, Finland, Denmark, Australia, Singapore, and the United Kingdom have all taken steps to reform CS education.²⁶⁰

A much more important labor market issue for Europe than the purported rise of the gig economy is the state of ICT skills. These actions include introducing CS to primary school students, adding more deep concepts to curricula, and training more specialized teachers.

Some nations have begun to integrate digital skills and algorithmic thinking into the general curriculum. For example, Finland has worked to integrate algorithmic thinking into its national core curriculum as a skill separate from CS for all children older than five years of age. In 2013, the United Kingdom mandated that students ages 5 to 14 take computer science, and for all high school students to have the option to take the course.²⁶¹ Through this measure, the United Kingdom hopes to be able to address its own impending technology-skills shortage, and help fill the estimated 249,000 tech-skilled jobs that will be available in the United Kingdom by 2020.²⁶² However, though CS is now required, the United Kingdom is still struggling to train the computer science teachers needed to teach every primary student in the country.

There are a number of steps countries—or states, provinces, or regions therein—can take. The EU should make it a goal that every K–12 high school offer computer science education to those who want it (even if it means making courses available online through massively open online courses, or MOOCs). For example, Finland has a free MOOC on computer science operated by the University of Helsinki and Reaktor. In addition, schools need to do more to ensure more high school students take statistics and learn data skills.

One reason computer science sometimes is not offered is a lack of qualified teachers. Where this is a challenge in Europe, the Commission could provide matching grants to relevant states, cities, provinces, or regions for establishing teacher-certification programs in computer science. To provide more students with the opportunity to learn computer science in a rigorous manner from a certified teacher, all EU member states should have certification programs that allow graduate students in education fields to become teachers that specialize in computer science. The EU could also subsidize the cost of certifications and master's programs for prospective teachers who successfully teach computer science for five years. Subsidizing the cost of certification and providing higher wages for teachers who earn certificates can incentivize teachers to acquire them and make teaching a more attractive option for people who are also in high demand in the private sector.

Europe can also further build on public-private partnerships for computer science education and digital skills development. For instance, in the United States, Microsoft's Imagine Academy partnered with the North Carolina Department of Public Instruction to make available Imagine Academy subscriptions, which teach key digital workplace skills, to all 628 public high schools in the state to ensure students are able to earn certification as either a Microsoft Office Specialist (MOS) or Microsoft Technical Associate (MTA).²⁶³ The designations give high school students a strong upper hand in their first foray into the labor market by signaling to prospective employers their training in some of Microsoft's most ubiquitous office productivity software, such as its Office suite. Likewise, in the United Kingdom, Microsoft offers three Early in Career pathways: Graduate, Intern, and Apprentice.²⁶⁴ The pathways, intended for students ages 18 to 24, include a range of different job roles that help

teach digital skills. Microsoft's IT Apprentice program gives participants both a nationally recognized apprenticeship qualification and support to help them continue their careers at Microsoft.²⁶⁵

The Commission should also fund a pilot program that would establish more maker spaces in European high schools. These are spaces where students can use digital tools such as computer-aided design and 3D printing to gain hands-on experience in production and design. This program could be modeled on DARPA's Manufacturing Experimentation and Outreach (MENTOR) program, which introduces new design tools and collaborative practices to U.S. high school students.²⁶⁶

Broadband Infrastructure

A digital economy relies on robust digital broadband infrastructure, both fixed and mobile. But Europe lags behind the United States and some other nations in broadband speeds and investment.²⁶⁷

The strategic objectives for 2025 outlined in the Commission's 2016 Digital Agenda connecting anchor institutions with gigabit networks, widespread 100 Mbps connectivity, and urban 5G deployment—are laudable.²⁶⁸ But it will be difficult to achieve them without either large subsidies or an improvement of market conditions to drive the investment needed—or both. While some EU nations have world-leading broadband and wireless infrastructures—particularly Nordic nations—many EU nations do not. According to Cisco, average 2016 broadband speeds in Central and Eastern Europe were 24.8 Mbps, 30.2 Mbps in Western Europe, and 36.1 Mbps in the United States.²⁶⁹ In 2018, around half of mobile connections were 4G in Europe, compared with over 75 percent in the United States.²⁷⁰ And the market intelligence firm GSMA Intelligence predicts that by 2025, 49 percent of U.S. mobile connections will be on 5G networks, compared with just 29 percent in Europe.²⁷¹

One challenge for the EU is its broadband providers are smaller. But their small size does not mean more competition and lower profits. In fact, profit rates for EU and U.S. broadband providers appear to be nearly the same.²⁷² The mobile wireless sector provides a good example of the challenges-each EU member state generally has at least three or four providers, with only the largest players operating in multiple markets. The largest EU mobile operators, Vodafone and Telefónica, offer services that are available to about two-thirds of the European population, but the scale of operators drops off quickly after that, with many wireless firms operating in only a single member state.²⁷³ Added scale would reduce the costs of provider service per subscriber, greatly reduce the need for roaming charges, encourage investment and more rapid transition to 5G networks, and provide others with larger platforms to innovate on top of the network-a true boon to European businesses and consumers. As GSMA Intelligence wrote, "However, without size or scale, the long-term viability for mobile-only businesses is increasingly challenging."274 Likewise, as Hossein Moiin, former CTO of Nokia Networks, has explained, "In the U.S. you have a country of 300 million people and only four operators, but in the EU you have many operators. Such fragmentation does not help the business case for investors. There are no technological barriers; it's just a question of economics and return on investment."275

Competition in high-fixed cost industries such as telecommunications is not an unalloyed good—a smaller number of providers can more efficiently provide robust service at a lower cost. The European Commission has recognized that spectrum management is a critical issue and that the Commission has a key role to play in advancing spectrum management. The Commission has articulated three main goals for its reforms to spectrum management: 1) harmonization of spectrum access conditions, with the goal of enabling economies of scale; 2) encouraging more efficient use of spectrum; and 3) making available better information about the current and future use of spectrum.²⁷⁶ The Commission should continue with this work.

Another factor limiting investment is price regulations and wholesale unbundling requirements.²⁷⁷ As such, wherever there are at least two competing providers in a market, the Commission should generally aim to deregulate price regulations and wholesale requirements. This is apparently contrary to current policy, judging by recent comments from the Commission on wholesale regulations in the Netherlands.²⁷⁸ In that filing, the Commission supported the finding that both KPN and Vodafone are jointly dominant in the market. The Netherlands enjoys relatively extensive cable deployment compared with the rest of the EU, with cable networks deployed to nearly 95 percent of households.²⁷⁹ The Netherlands enjoys relatively vigorous facilities-based competition in the fixed broadband market. There are well-known trade-offs between more extensive access regulations, with mandatory unbundling or wholesale obligations generating both more choices for consumers and an effective control on prices, but undermining the incentive for firms to invest in deployment, innovate to provide new technologies, or create innovative business models that can contest the market. ²⁸⁰

Access regulations were historically aimed, at least in part, at stimulating the conditions for additional facilities-based competition—the so-called "ladder of investment."²⁸¹ The effectiveness of these regulations to induce additional facilities-based competition has been called into question, especially when it comes to next-generation access networks.²⁸²

Moreover, the ladder of investment theory never adequately coped with the illogic of government regulation-induced costly duplicative "overbuilding" investment simply for the purpose of spurring competition. Indeed, competition in high-fixed cost industries such as telecommunications is not an unalloyed good—a smaller number of providers can more efficiently provide robust service at a lower cost.²⁸³ A market can of course have too few competitors, resulting in monopoly prices or reduced output. But it can also have too many, resulting in fragmentation and duplication of resources. Considering the trade-offs inherent to a mandatory wholesaling regime, and little evidence of success for the ladder of investment, the Commission should lean toward relaxing wholesale access regulations, especially in markets with at least two fixed broadband providers. This is especially prudent if EU nations and localities put in place 5G-friendly policies, as 5G appears to be a viable competitor to fixed, wired broadband, as Verizon is showing in places such as Sacramento, California—a territory where they do not provide fixed wireline service, such as FIOS.

Appropriate access regulations are likely to stimulate investment as new entrants and incumbents alike fight to gain market share they can more easily see a return on. The facilities-based competition focus in the United States has seen more broadband investment and enjoys high-performance networks, despite the high cost of serving relatively low-population densities and detached, single-family suburbanized homes.²⁸⁴ Scholars estimate that if the EU14 mobile network operators invested the same amount per capita as their U.S. counterparts, total annual capital expenditures would be \$27 billion higher by 2020.²⁸⁵ Their study concluded that "ex post regulation and competition policy are better aligned [to achieve successful 5G service in Europe] than traditional forms of ex ante regulation."²⁸⁶

5G will almost certainly accelerate wireless and wired competition, with 5G wireless services functionally substituting for fixed broadband connections to homes. Wireless services are a dynamic, competitive success story, and exactly which direction they will take next is difficult to predict. The long-term trends are clear, however: Services are converging over the IP platform, with the particular access technology—wired or wireless—less relevant, with everything going wireless for at least the last hundred feet or so. Wireless networks need more backhaul—to look more and more like wired networks—while cable networks continue to deploy Wi-Fi access points and explore wireless business models.

In addition to reforming wholesale regulations, and allocating more spectrum for commercial, mobile, 5G services, there are opportunities for the Commission to help streamline the deployment of 5G. Wireless networks are increasingly relying on small cells, especially for extremely high-frequency spectrum above 24 GHz. Arcane bureaucracies that control rights of way and historic preservation have an outsized impact on the deployment of this infrastructure-heavy wireless architecture. The Commission should help reduce administrative burdens and lower costs of deployment for infrastructure such as small cells by reexamining existing regulations and processes designed for yesterday's much larger macro towers, and coaxing local authorities to update their equipment-siting requirements.

5G and other next-generation networks and services will increasingly rely on differentiated and flexibly provisioned network services.²⁸⁷ Network slicing offers the ability to create logical circuits with specified performance requirements, potentially in a way that approaches prohibitions under the Body of European Regulators for Electronic Communications' recommended net neutrality regulations.²⁸⁸ European policymakers should continue to evaluate the benefits of differentiated network services and whether existing net neutrality regulations impede innovative new applications. On the other side of the coin, neither should the Commission look to regulate over-the-top (OTT) providers with legacy requirements applied to telecommunications providers. The goal should be functional facilities-based competition that allows relaxed regulatory requirements and encourages network operators to expand the scope of their business models and effectively compete with OTT services—a leveling down of the playing field that enables dynamic competition by all firms.

Technology/Sector/Firm Policies

While the right business climate and policies to increase the quality and quantity of firm resources can help spur CAS development and adoption, they are not sufficient for success, much less global leadership. One reason is, unlike the last digital waves

The Commission should not look to regulate over-the-top providers with legacy requirements applied to telecommunications providers. (Internet/e-commerce/search and social media/cloud), wherein adoption rates were very fast, in part because adoption involved relatively straightforward actions by producers and consumers, the next CAS wave will likely be longer and more complicated, in part because much of it involves business-to-business (B2B) transactions and more-complicated coordination challenges between original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), suppliers, and customers. For these reasons, governments need to embrace technology-, industry-, and firm-specific ICT policies. One key place for Europe to double down on this is public-private partnerships in specific ICTs and industries.

The Case for ICT Public-Private Partnerships

The EU would be well advised to take advantage of core European competencies, particularly its political and institutional ability to engage in smart public-private partnerships (PPPs). As ITIF has shown in its series *Explaining International IT Application Leadership*, the United States lags in many IT application areas that involve chicken-or-egg dynamics wherein innovation requires complementary action at the same time, in large part because of the lack of an overall government strategy.²⁸⁹ Unlike in China, it is an uphill battle in the United States to enact proactive ICT PPPs, in large part because of a political aversion to anything that smacks of "industrial policy" or "picking winners and losers."

But without such PPPs, in many areas, digital transformation will lag behind the technology opportunity. This is largely because the systemic advances of many ICT applications require coordinated action at the same time. Individual firms acting on their own, even if they are large and committed, can often be stymied when systemic application is brought about. A case in point is digital signature/E-ID technology: Users do not sign up for digital IDs unless there are applications they can use them for and vice versa. In areas such as health IT and digital signatures, some European countries lead the world because they have embraced digital public-private partnerships. Europe has real opportunities in areas such as smart cities, the Industrial Internet of Things (i.e., Industry 4.0), health IT, smart transportation, the smart grid, digital IDs, and many other areas. **EU policymakers should chart out steps articulating how the EU can help member states drive these and other application areas through smart public-private partnerships.**

Technology Strategies

Europe should have strategies for deployment of key, next-wave digital enabling technologies, such as Internet of Things, artificial intelligence, blockchain, and digital IDs. Overarching all of these particular strategies is the imperative that all EU governments become significantly better customers of existing and emerging ICTs. By being robust and smart users of ICTs, EU governments can help expand markets for technology while at the same time better and more cost effectively accomplishing government missions.

Moreover, it becomes easier to know whether and how to regulate technologies when governments are advanced and sophisticated users. However, overall, governments are falling farther behind the leading private-sector players when it comes to creating digital-first organizations. **The Commission should lead an effort to help member** states become lead adopters of emerging CAS technologies. This could include, for example, convening national government chief information officers (CIOs) around particular issues and technology opportunity areas. It could also identify and chart best practices in the adoption, purchase, and use of a variety of emerging CAS technologies, including new models.

The Internet of Things

The Internet of Things offers many opportunities to grow the economy and improve quality of life. Just as the public sector was instrumental in enabling the development and deployment of the Internet, it should play a similar role to ensure the success of the Internet of Things. Because many opportunities to use the Internet of Things are strongly tied to areas of public-sector activity (such as health, environment, transportation, defense, and city management), the EU needs to ensure it has a strategic policy to take full advantage of the Internet of Things and overcome market failures, regulatory challenges, and issues of equity.²⁹⁰ An Internet of Things technology strategy should encompass funding, such as large-scale pilot projects and national challenges; convening and planning, such as to form industry partnerships to deploy sensor networks across multiple jurisdictions and develop industry-led standards for security; government-agency actions to deploy smart technologies within the public sector; regulatory actions, such as to allocate licensed and unlicensed spectrum for connected devices and modernizing regulatory processes for connected medical devices; and trade policy issues, such as ensuring the free flow of data and resisting nationspecific technology standards.

Artificial Intelligence

The EU should ensure it is a lead adopter of AI across important industries.²⁹¹ The Commission is already taking important steps in this direction.

The European Commission adopted its Communication on Artificial Intelligence for Europe in April 2018, which explains its plans to boost technical capacity and to spur public- and private-sector AI adoption, and has outlined its planned activities to support AI, such as by increasing investments and improving research centers, through 2020.²⁹² The Commission aims to design a strand of AI that upholds fundamental European values and rights, and promotes investment in ethical-by-design AI. For this purpose, it has established the European AI Alliance, a public forum designed to foster discussion about the impacts of AI.²⁹³ And in June 2018, the Commission established the High-Level Expert Group on Artificial Intelligence (AI HLEG) with 52 appointed experts from industry, civil society, and academia to support implementation of the Communication on Artificial Intelligence.²⁹⁴

In November 2018, the Commission launched a call for proposals from at least eight member states to establish 30 Digital Innovation Hubs (DIHs) focused on AI.²⁹⁵ Selected DIHs will support particular regions and industries in digitization through the use of AI, and focus on using AI in various sectors such as medical technologies, digital manufacturing, and digital design.²⁹⁶ The group's mission includes identifying mechanisms promoting technology that delivers on European values. Intentions are not to regulate—yet.²⁹⁷

In addition, the Commission is currently assessing with member states all legislation that can be affected by AI, such as the Product Liability Directive and the Machinery Directive. There is no rush to legislate more or modify legislations. Evaluations aim to both potentially formulate recommendations to fix inconsistencies, and ensure existing legislations are fit for purpose and continue to offer legal certainty in the value chain.

With Horizon Europe, the next Framework Program for 2021–2027, research funding for AI will increase significantly relative to the previous program, Horizon 2020. In addition, this time, AI is outlined as a specific research topic, along with robotics. The proposal allocates €15 billion to this cluster. The Commission also created the Digital Europe program, a new investment scheme in which €2.5 billion will be directly allocated to AI. An additional €700 million will be invested in advanced digital skills training and education, which can be seen as indirect investment in AI.²⁹⁸ Lastly, one remaining objective of the Commission is to increase public and private investment in AI by at least €20 billion through 2020.²⁹⁹

One particular challenge for the EU is ensuring small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) can successfully adopt AI. Achieving this should involve a threefold strategy. First, **EU member states should develop local AI skills training by developing partnerships with local universities and industry, including through data science "boot camps."** Second, EU member states should ensure SMEs that may not be able to hire AI experts full-time are able to hire companies providing these services. Achieving this will require training for these companies on AI capabilities and opportunities, as well as on how to successfully manage these types of projects and contracts. Finally, the EU should encourage the development of more off-the-shelf AI tools that do not require extensive knowledge about AI, but instead require only baseline programming or analytical skills.

There are particular areas wherein Europe could have natural advantages, should it be able to overcome its political and institutional hurdles. For example, because most health care in European nations is provided by public health authorities, the EU has an opportunity to amass extremely large datasets on patients and outcomes.

Blockchain

Blockchain refers to a shared, digital ledger that catalogs transactions as they occur in chronological order, using cryptography and public records to validate transactions. Blockchain technology enables safer, more efficient, and easier data exchange and processing. Abuse of this technology is difficult because every transaction is transparent and controlled by several computers. With regard to blockchains, **governments have a role to play in taking a lead and giving direction to technological developments at an early stage.** A good example of this is the establishment of the National Blockchain Coalition (Nationale Blockchain Coalitie) in the Netherlands, through which the Dutch government cooperates with knowledge institutions and companies with various perspectives (i.e., innovation, legal, knowledge, skills, etc.) to stimulate the application of a specific technology and thus seize opportunities for innovation. This coalition lays the foundation (with building blocks such as digital identities, security, legal frameworks, etc.) for the large-scale rollout of blockchain technology with parties from the logistics, energy, financial services, and ICT sectors as well as the Dutch

By being robust and smart users of ICTs, EU governments can help expand markets for technology while at the same time better and more cost effectively accomplishing government missions. government. Based on five cases, an exploratory study is being carried out under the supervision of the Research and Documentation Centre (Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek- en Documentatiecentrum, or WODC, part of the Ministry of Justice and Security) into the scope offered by legal frameworks for exploiting the opportunities of blockchain technology, mitigating possible risks, and exploring points requiring attention for future legislation. The advantage of this approach is, at an early stage, attention is also paid to public values such as privacy and security.

Digital IDs

Some EU members, in particular Estonia, have made great progress in ensuring widespread rollout and adoption of electronic identification. These digital ID systems allow individuals to prove their identity, or attributes about their identity, to information systems. The Commission should encourage each member state to offer an electronic ID to residents who desire one. It could go even further and require all national governments to offer each of their citizens an electronic ID when they apply for their paper passport. These IDs could be offered as standalone products, such as smartcards or software certificates for mobile phones, or on existing identification documents, such as passports.³⁰⁰ These IDs should be more than just links to different information that let people prove with a high degree of certainty who they are, they should be encrypted, secure IDs backed by the government—just as national IDs and passports are. As part of this effort, Europe should continue to make European digital ID systems fully interoperable.

Industry Strategies

One of the key defining aspects of the next ICT wave is it will become more central to transforming a wide range of industries. The mainframe era enabled mostly large corporations in a few industries (e.g., finance, insurance, advanced manufacturing) to process information more effectively. The personal-computer era democratized computing, allowing more industries and a wider array of firms, including SMEs, to use the technology to better process information and cut costs. With the advent of the Internet, social media, and the cloud, virtually all firms have been required to develop an Internet presence to enable sales and information sharing (as well as a social media presence if for no other reason than for better marketing)—and over the last decade, more firms have adopted the cloud to cut IT costs and streamline operations.

The next CAS phase will be more transformative, with many industries using the technologies to generate massive amounts of information in order to improve processes, develop better product and service offerings, use autonomous systems and more powerful automation to dramatically cut production costs, and use smart algorithms to significantly improve, if not transform, offerings. Collectively, these technologies will enable industries to be transformed to become "smarter" (e.g., smart agriculture, smart construction, smart transportation, etc.). Some of that transformation will result from incumbents realizing that if they do not cannibalize their own business, as Harvard Business School Professor Clayton Christensen advises, then someone else will do it for them.³⁰¹ But even though more and more firms understand Andy Grove's aphorism "only the paranoid survive," the reality is a significant share of incumbent firms will be too slow to respond to the change. The forces of inertia will be too great. As a result,

much of the change will have to happen from "gazelle" entrants—new firms with a passion for growing by disrupting existing markets—and from existing technology firms that see their future in using technology as disrupting existing industries (e.g., health care, financial services, education, transportation, etc.). If the competition policy and regulatory environments in Europe protect incumbents and make it harder for the new entrants (starts-ups and "big tech"), Europe will lag behind other regions in both the development of competitive CAS firms and the transformation of industries through CAS.

Regardless of where the transformation comes from—incumbents, new firms, or big tech—Europe should focus on using existing programs and policies that affect particular industries to drive CAS transformation. Increasingly, the focus should be less on digital per se and more on innovation through digital in industries and other areas: The agriculture sector needs to integrate digital, with DG AGRI taking the lead; financial services need digital integrated into the sector, with DG ECFIN taking the lead; transportation needs digital integrated into it, with DG MOVE taking the lead; etc. In other words, the job of digital transformation is far beyond DG CONNECT's alone.

To improve the Commission's ability to implement a digital agenda more broadly, each major directorate, especially those working in industry areas, should have a chief technology officer (CTO) whose job is to work to ensure that the directorates' policies are all aligned with CAS sector transformation. Importantly, their role would not be that of CIO or internal IT director whose job is to manage a directorate's internal ICT systems. Rather, their task would be to craft and implement an innovation strategy as it relates to the emerging CAS technology system. EU directorates can drive innovation not only in their own programs and operations, but also in the broader sphere of the economy they influence. Yet few EU directorates have formal ICT-based innovation strategies. Every directorate should also develop a comprehensive ICT-based innovation strategy. This should cover not only how the directorates themselves will innovate internally, but more importantly, how they can spur innovation in the sectors of the economy they impact.

One other task for CTOs would be to identify ways EU start-ups can pilot technology and technology-related business models, thereby leveraging state-owned infrastructures, including in member states such as the postal system, electric grid, social security agencies, and other platforms.

Health IT

It is beyond the scope of this report to lay out a complete health IT strategy, but there are nevertheless a few areas the Commission should focus on. The first is to **enable the easy movement of health data across borders.** The second is to **identify EU-wide taxonomies for health information so applications can easily work with patients and patient data from all EU nations**. The third is to **provide incentives for all players in the health system to put their data in open-API formats,** with patients at the core in terms of granting permissions, so data can be easily consolidated into patient-centered health information applications. Patients should be able to view and manage personal data being stored in different places in one integrated application, and

The Commission should lead an effort to help member states become first adopters of emerging CAS technologies. then securely share it with the health care provider of their choice. If the EU is looking for grand challenges, enabling this kind of system for every European citizen is such a challenge. Finally, such a system should be designed such that patients can easily opt in to share some or all of their health data with researchers seeking to improve medical care and support medical innovation.

Smart Manufacturing

Some EU nations, including Germany, have made considerable progress toward helping manufacturers become more digital. But more can and should be done. The Commission should fund the establishment of an EU-wide version of America's Digital Manufacturing and Design Innovation Institute (DMDII).³⁰² The DMDII, funded by the U.S. federal government and industry, serves as the United States' central hub for the development, showcasing, distribution, and transmission (especially to SMEs) of knowledge, tools, software, and expertise related to manufacturing digitalization. The Obama administration announced DMDII's formation in February 2014. It was granted \$70 million in federal funding which, with additional 2-to-1 matching from companies, universities, and state and regional governments, has thus far received at least \$140 million. In 2109, it received an additional \$50 million from the Department of Defense. DMDII serves as a state-of the-art proving ground for digital manufacturing and design that links information technology tools, standards, models, sensors, controls, practices and skills, and transitions these tools to America's design and manufacturing industrial base for fullscale application. DMDII works with firms of all sizes, including trying to assist SMEs in navigating their digital transformation journeys.

Another important policy tool to spur greater innovation in European manufacturing, including digital innovation, is if universities were more focused on manufacturing innovation. To do this, **the Commission should fund a network of M Universities.** Engineering departments at most EU universities have shifted to a science-based model of engineering that focuses more on publishing abstract scholarly papers than on working with private-sector firms to solve real-world problems. Moreover, more engineering students need to get hands-on experience with industry before graduation.

The Commission should fund a challenge grant of perhaps €20 million per year for five years to create a core of at least 20 universities that would brand themselves as manufacturing universities. Designated universities would have several responsibilities. First, they would be required to revamp their engineering programs much more around manufacturing engineering, with particular emphasis on work that is relevant to industry. This would include more joint industry-university research projects, more training of students that incorporates manufacturing experiences through cooperative education or other programs, and a Ph.D. program focused on turning out more engineering Ph.D.'s who would work in industry. These universities would view doctoral training as akin to high-level apprenticeships (as is often the case in Germany) and would not allow the conferral of a Ph.D. unless one has done some work within the industry. Likewise, criteria for faculty tenure would consider professors' work with in industry equally as much as their number of scholarly journal publications. In addition, business schools would focus on manufacturing issues, including management of production, and work closely with the engineering program. One can imagine a number of leading engineering universities in Europe readily transforming themselves to embrace this designation. These Manufacturing Universities would complement, not duplicate, any Commission-supported or national government-supported manufacturing institutes. This Manufacturing Universities proposal would work to ensure universities themselves function in ways that are more supportive of the EU manufacturing economy. This program could be modeled in part on a similar program in the United States that is just now being rolled out, called the Manufacturing Engineering Education Grant program.³⁰³

The Commission should also consider a program to provide incentives to large OEMs to partner with their smaller suppliers. The Commission could provide incentives for EU OEMs to help 10,000 SMEs become Internet of Things-enabled (that is, smart-manufacturing-enabled) within 10 years. The OEMs and Tier 1s (the suppliers that sell directly to OEMs) need to press their suppliers to upgrade their equipment (otherwise it is just not on the SMEs' radar screens) and support them in these efforts. The OEMs could host workshops/seminars to guide SME suppliers in digitalization strategies and on how explicitly to integrate digitally into supply-chain management systems. Federal incentives could take the form of grants for a certain number of suppliers. Also, related to this, the OEMs tend to want transparency regarding the parts flowing out from the suppliers, but the suppliers may not desire this, so there are issues regarding who controls and secures the data. By incentivizing OEMs to collaborate with SMEs on these questions, approaches that add value for both parties and frameworks set up with regard to data ownership issues can be found.

Likewise, the Commission should consider funding, in partnership with national governments, regional digital manufacturing hubs and pilot digital manufacturing centers/test beds that can scale. For instance, DMDII's Digital Capability Center and Future Factory Line represent compelling, practical, real-world exemplars showcasing the potential of manufacturing digitalization. But they are one-offs, and lack scale across the United States, which is why ITIF has called on the U.S. Congress to provide funds to replicate these pilot digital manufacturing centers/test beds to connect with smaller manufacturers across the country, such as by embedding them in national laboratories, universities, and regional community colleges. Essentially, manufacturers need to be able to "kick the tires" of smart manufacturing systems to see how they actually work, and understand what specific technologies are involved. At the same time, they need workers with new skills, including both engineers and technicians. Similarly, the Commission should create a competitive grant program that enables technical colleges and universities to bid to serve as digital manufacturing hubs for their regions. To qualify for funding, these institutions would need to obtain a match from either national or local governments of at least 1 to 1 in order to continue receiving at least some funding from industry partners/clients. Funding for such centers should be for at least five years, conditional on center performance.

The Commission should make sure there is an online benchmarking tool for manufacturing digitalization available for all EU SMEs. In 2015, the United Kingdom launched the Mayfield Commission study to find the causes of, and propose

One of the key defining aspects of the next ICT wave is it will become more central to transforming a wide range of industries. solutions to, the "large and widening productivity gap that exists between the UK and leading advanced economies." One of the outcomes of the study has been the launch of the United Kingdom's Be the Business website, an online repository of inspiration, tools, and resources for businesses to get started on their improvement journey. The website includes an online productivity benchmarking tool that allows U.K. SMEs (with at least 10 employees) to assess where they stand vis-à-vis peers, on a sectorspecific basis, in terms of challenges such as digitalization; future planning; employee engagement; and leadership. That is one example to draw from, but it has also been suggested that **the Commission develop such a Digital Manufacturing Readiness Assessment Tool with the ability to benchmark a firm's results against anonymized data from similar peers in the manufacturing sectors in which they compete, and make it available in part online.** This would give EU SMEs the ability to make real-time assessments about how well they are progressing toward manufacturing digitalization, and suggest useful routes toward improvement.

Digitally-Enabled Cleaner Energy Systems

The next IT-enabled innovation wave of technologies holds great potential to facilitate the transition to clean energy. European policy will strongly shape how fully energy systems realize this potential. Whether energy data is accessible and usable, whether opportunities to start and build digital energy businesses are available, and how well smart infrastructures (including clean energy systems) are integrated at the urban and regional levels, including in buildings and industrial facilities, are among the key variables policymakers will influence, either by taking action or failing to do so. Given the United States' lagging position in this area, this represents a potential important growth opportunity for the EU, which it can facilitate through both increased funding and support for national-level regulatory changes to enable digital energy innovation.

Transportation

Surface transportation is poised to be transformed by the next wave of information technology. DG Move should be actively working to encourage member states to embrace smart transportation systems and share best practices from around not only Europe, but the world. This should include making sure digital technologies receive much greater priority in all transportation infrastructure funding. The Commission should also fund innovative deployments of smart transportation technologies in member states.

Smart Cities

Many European cities are striving to become smart cities—cities capable of collecting and analyzing vast quantities of data to automate processes, improve service quality, provide market-signal feedback to users, and make better decisions.³⁰⁴ While local governments can and should manage much of this transformation, the EU and its member states have an important role to play in accelerating and coordinating the development of smart cities. Indeed, the long-term success of European smart cities will likely depend on the extent to which the EU and member states support smart cities development to address issues such as a lack of focus on smart infrastructure, interconnectivity between cities, underdeveloped communities of practice, and security and equity. The EU can support the development of common R&D for smart cities, including for key technical challenges such as cybersecurity, demonstration projects for smart city applications, and the development of common applications and tools that have use in multiple cities. In particular, **the EU should develop an EU Smart City App Store—a common repository of approved commercial applications and opensource code—that other cities can adapt and reuse**. The EU can also develop policies and common standards for smart city technologies that encourage interoperability and data sharing, foster inter-city learning on smart city strategies, and encourage additional pilot projects, including those that address the needs of underserved communities.

Finally, for all of these technology and industry areas related to CAS, much of the innovation will occur in member states. **The Commission should establish a competitive pilot-scale programs to support member states that establish truly innovative CAS-related policies, programs, and projects.** And for those policies, programs, and projects that are successful, the Commission should work to help all governments in the EU adopt them.

Culture and Institutions

While framework, technology, and industry policies are important for spurring CAS transformation, so too are culture and institutions.

Culture

There is much literature on how to establish a culture of innovation within companies.³⁰⁵ But there has been much less written about how nations can create a culture that is conducive to innovation. There are some general themes, however, such as a culture that views science and engineering as positive, and a culture that supports risk-taking and entrepreneurship.

The broader-based embrace of the precautionary principle in Europe compared with many Asian nations and the United States arguably makes innovation harder in Europe. ITIF wrote about this extensively in its report *Comparing American and European Innovation Cultures*.³⁰⁶ One thing the report found is Europeans appear less willing to take risks than Americans and Chinese. For example, when asked about their views on the statement: "One should not start a business if there is a risk it might fail," just 26 percent of Americans agreed, versus 49 percent in the EU-25.³⁰⁷ When asked, "In general am I willing to take risks?" 39 percent of Americans strongly agreed, compared with 16 percent in the EU27 nations (and 18 percent in China).³⁰⁸

It is not readily clear how to change cultural attitudes affecting innovation. One factor is the presence of external threats. In his book, *The Politics of Innovation: Why Some Countries Are Better Than Others at Science & Technology*, Mark Zachary Taylor stresses the importance of what he calls "creative insecurity" and defines as, "the positive difference between the threats of economic or military competition from abroad and the dangers of political-economic rivalries at home."³⁰⁹ Such insecurity leads nations not only to take the politically difficult step of investing for the future, but also to challenge incumbent interests that might stand in the way of innovation. He points to this as a reason why nations such as Israel, Taiwan, and the United States have enjoyed

European policymakers should ensure the benefits and costs of CAS are more widely debated in Europe, and simplistic, negative narratives should not become accepted wisdom—which is already very close to happening. innovation success. There is not much Europe can do about this objectively, but the apparent pullback of the American security shield Europe has lived under for more than 70 years, plus the emergence of China as a technology power, can and should be used to ratchet up the urgency of innovation. This might also spur more spending on defense in Europe, which, depending on how it is designed, could yield important benefits for innovation.

With regards to the precautionary principle, the Council should lead a dialogue in order to at least raise the issue that Europe would be better off it operated on the innovation principle, not the precautionary principle, when it comes to future ICT. In other words, Europe should proceed on the assumption AI and other CAS technologies will be fundamentally good, and while they will present some risks—as every new technology does—policy should focus on addressing risks if and when they arise, and not preemptively regulating the technology in ways that slow its adoption. Living by the innovation principle also means understanding that CAS technologies will involve both Type I and Type II errors, which is to say they will produce some errors, but will also reduce or even eliminate many others.

This will be particularly important now, when the CAS transition is viewed by many in Europe, including many pundits and activists, as a threat to jobs, fairness, dignity, and even human lives. In fact, a major barrier to a whole-hearted embrace of the CAS revolution comes from the growing narrative from a set of vocal techno-Jeremiahs that this technology-driven productivity acceleration is something to be feared and slowed, as it will eliminate a massive number of jobs, leading to mass dislocation and even a jobless future. Nothing could be more wrong, for the simple reason technology spurs productivity, which in turn spurs more spending, thereby creating more jobs.³¹⁰ European policymakers should ensure the benefits and costs of CAS are more widely debated in Europe, and simplistic, negative narratives should not become accepted wisdom—which is already very close to happening.

Also, developing a more entrepreneurial culture is not something a region or nation can do overnight or with the passage of legislation. But it is something that at least could be amenable to change by focused actions. Europe can continue to expand its promising efforts to support and build local technology entrepreneurial hubs and ecosystems. **As such, the Commission should expand support for EU universities and colleges to create or expand entrepreneurship education programs.** Here, the United States is a model. According to the Kauffman Foundation, in 1985, there were about 250 entrepreneurship courses offered across all college campuses in the United States. By the late 2000s, more than 5,000 entrepreneurship courses were offered.³¹¹ In 1975, U.S. colleges and universities offered around 100 formal majors, minors, and certificates in entrepreneurship. By 2006, they offered 500.³¹² EU programs could be modeled on successful U.S. programs such as Stanford University's StartX program or Johns Hopkins University's Fast Forward program.

The Commission should also consider providing challenge grants to universities to reform university engineering curricula toward more project-based learning and entrepreneurship. One model is the Olin College of Engineering in Massachusetts, which reimagined engineering education and curricula to prepare students "to become exemplary engineering innovators who recognize needs, design solutions, and engage in creative enterprises for the good of the world." Olin's results have been impressive. Its new method of teaching engineering has been widely praised among engineering firms, and on a per-student-graduated basis, Olin graduates start more new businesses than even MIT graduates. Olin is a good model for how the EU can transform its colleges into entrepreneurial factories, while encouraging the development of completely new schools based on the needs of the current workforce.

U.S. universities do more than teach courses on entrepreneurship and innovation, they provide extensive innovation support. In 2012, about one-third of business incubators were located at universities.³¹³ This relates to another factor, which is for the Commission to provide stronger incentives for EU universities to become start-up and commercialization friendly, including by such actions as providing students with entrepreneurship leave if they want to put their education on hold to start a business. Universities should define an entrepreneurial leave policy for undergraduate and graduate students in which students could retain full-time student status for one to two years while launching their own company. EU agencies should encourage EU universities to adopt a policy whereby any graduate or postdoctoral student on an assistantship, fellowship, or other form of government support can petition for a no-cost extension to take an "entrepreneurial leave" for one to two years to start a company.

Institutions

One of the defining characteristics of the CAS transformation is, if it is to be successful, more organizations will need to transform their business models, including governments and nonprofits. In this regard, one of the key roles for the Commission will be to support innovative new organizational models in Europe, in areas such as health care, transportation, education, and others.

At the same time, Europe needs to ensure its policies overall are more oriented toward enabling ICT-led productivity. To be clear, in the aftermath of the Great Recession, it was important to focus on job growth. But now the focus needs to shift more to productivity growth. Moreover, as noted, scholarly literature clearly shows there is no negative relationship between higher productivity and job growth.

To effectively identify and analyze productivity-enhancing policies, Europe should consider establishing a dedicated productivity agency or Commission. Europe had a European Productivity Agency in the 1950s, which quickly became the OEEC Productivity and Applied Research Committee—which was eliminated in 1962 with its functions moved to other agencies.³¹⁴ While the Commission encourages the establishment of National Productivity Boards, many key issues can only be addressed at the EU level.³¹⁵ Moreover, the focus of the boards in many nations is often beyond productivity and too often on macroeconomic issues, as opposed to industry-, technology-, and firm-specific productivity issues.³¹⁶ As such, **the EU should form a new European Productivity Agency to**: 1) study how technology can drive productivity growth within European industries; 2) identify specific policies, as opposed to broad-based macroeconomic and framework policies, to spur faster

technology-based productivity; and 3) act as a champion within the EU for stronger productivity policies, specifically, and productivity itself more broadly. This is particularly critical as there is a growing and false narrative on both sides of the Atlantic that productivity not only does not benefit workers, but that it harms them by killing jobs, reducing wages, and spurring inequality. This narrative is wrong.³¹⁷

CONCLUSION

Europe has a significant opportunity to make major strides in the next wave of digital transformation, but will need to adopt a forward-looking policy perspective that focuses foremost on the benefits the next generation of digital technologies can bring to Europe's economy and society. In particular, Europe should leverage its distinct strengths in areas such as collaborative public-private partnerships and advanced industrial engineering to position itself to be a global leader in the coming CAS transformation. While Europe should be attuned to potential digital harms, it should remember that, in total, these are well-outweighed by digital benefits, and manage its digital policymaking framework accordingly.

ENDNOTES

- 1. Robert D. Atkinson and Michael Lind, *Big is Beautiful: Debunking the Myth of Small Business* (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2018).
- 2. For example, see European Commission, *Role and* Mandate of National Productivity Boards,https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/economic-and-fiscal-policycoordination/national-productivity-boards_en#role-and-mandate-of-national-productivity-boards.
- Robert D. Atkinson, "Think Like an Enterprise: Why Nations Need National Productivity Strategies" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, May, 2016,) http://www2.itif.org/2016-think-like-anenterprise.pdf?_ga=2.247953991.1390574203.1551354557-640630452.1503250664.
- 4. Roger Pielke, Jr. "Beyond Manna from Heaven," *Roger Pielke Jr.'s Blog*, May 21, 2012, http://rogerpielkejr.blogspot.com/2012/05/beyond-manna-from-heaven.html.
- 5. Joseph Schumpeter, *Capitalism, Socialism and Democracy* (New York: George Allen & Unwin, 1942), 67.
- 6. Richard G. Lipsey, Kenneth I. Carlaw, and Clifford T. Bekar, *Economic Transformations: General Purpose Technologies and Long-Term Economic Growth* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012).
- 7. Ibid, 68.
- 8. Ibid, 83.
- 9. See Richard Lipsey and Robert. D. Atkinson, *The Past and Future of America's Economy: Long Waves of Innovation that Power Cycles of Growth*, Cheltenham: Edward Elgar, 2005.
- Robert Atkinson, "Don't Fear AI," *European Investment Bank*, June 15, 2018, http://www.eib.org/en/essays/artificial-intelligence?mc_cid=8dec0cd27b&mc_eid=0ac4593ac6#2.
- 11. Sikich, 2017 "Manufacturing Report" (Sikich, June 2017), 7, https://www.sikich.com/2017-manufacturing-report-download/.
- 12. Daniel Bentley, "Why Ford Won't Rush An Autonomous Car To Market," *Fortune*, December 6, 2017, http://fortune.com/2017/12/06/ford-autonomous-cars/.
- 13. Rodney Brooks, "My Dated Predictions," *Rodney Brooks Robots, AI, and Other Stuff,* January 1, 2018, https://rodneybrooks.com/my-dated-predictions/.
- 14. Ibid.
- 15. Manuel Trajtenberg, "AI as the next GPT: a Political-Economy Perspective" (working paper, National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc (NBER), 2018.
- 16. Daniel Castro and Joshua New, "The Promise of Artificial Intelligence" (Center for Data Innovation, October 2016), http://www2.datainnovation.org/2016-promise-of-ai.pdf.
- 17. Irving Waldawksy-Berger, "Soft' Artificial Intelligence Is Suddenly Everywhere," *The Wall Street Journal*, January 16, 2016, http://blogs.wsj.com/cio/2015/01/16/soft-artificial-intelligence-is-suddenly-everywhere/.
- 18. Ibid.
- Robert D. Atkinson, "It's Going to Kill Us!" and Other Myths About the Future of Artificial Intelligence" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, June 2016), http://www2.itif.org/2016-myths-machinelearning.pdf?_ga=1.201838291.334601971.1460947053.
- 20. Carlota Perez, *Technological Revolutions and Financial Capital* (Massachusetts: Edward Elgar Publishing, 2002).
- The Conference Board, Total Economy Database: January 2014 (total GDP [EKS], labor productivity per hour worked [EKS]; accessed July 25, 2018), http://www.conferenceboard.org/data/economydatabase/; author calculations following Marcel P. Timmer et al., "Productivity and Economic Growth in Europe: A Comparative Industry Perspective," *International Productivity Monitor* 21 (2011), 3–23.
- 22. The Conference Board, Total Economy Database.

- 23. Ibid. (Total GDP and total annual hours worked).
- 24. The Conference Board, Total Economy Database. This assumes 2.3 percent productivity growth from 1995 to 2017 compared with 1.41 percent from 1995 to 2007 and 0.60 from 2007 to 2017.
- 25. Based on the EU-15 rate of growth of 0.8 from 2006–2013. This does not account for the aging of the population, which would reduce growth even more.
- Yuasa Mitsutomo, *The shifting center of scientific activity in the west: From the 16th to the 20th century*, in Shigeru Nakayama, David L. Swain, and Yagi Eri (eds.), Science and Society in Modem Japan, Tokyo University Press, Tokyo, pp. 81-103.
- 27. Robert Atkinson, "How ICT Can Restore Lagging European Productivity Growth" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, October 2018), https://itif.org/publications/2018/10/24/how-ict-can-restore-lagging-european-productivity-growth.
- 28. Richard Cuthbertson, Peder Inge Furseth, and Stephen Ezell, *Innovating in a Service-Driven Economy: Insights, Application, and Practice* (London: Palgrave MacMillan, 2015). As then-Nokia CEO Stephen Elop acknowledged in his now-famous Burning Platform Memo of February 2011, "The battle of devices has now become a war of ecosystems, where ecosystems include not only the hardware and software of the device, but developers, applications, e-commerce, advertising, search, social applications, location-based services, unified communications and many other things. Our competitors aren't taking our market share with devices; they are taking our market share with an entire ecosystem." See Sam Gustin, "Nokia Standing on a 'Burning Platform,' CEO Tells Employees," *Wired*, February 9, 2011, http://www.wired.com/business/2011/02/nokia-burning-platform/all/; Marc Andreessen, "Why Software Is Eating the World," *The Wallstreet Journal*, August 20, 2011, https://a16z.com/2011/08/20/why-software-is-eating-the-world/.
- 29. OECD, "OECD Stats: GERD as a percentage of GDP," https://stats.oecd.org/, accessed September 17, 2018.
- Héctor Hernández et al., *The 2017 EU Industrial R&D Investment Scoreboard* (European Commission, 2017), http://iri.jrc.ec.europa.eu/scoreboard17.html, accessed September 17, 2018; World Bank, "GDP (current US\$)," https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD, accessed September 17, 2018.
- 31. Ibid.
- OECD, OECD Digital Economy Outlook 2017, October 2017, https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264276284-en; World Bank, "GDP (current US\$)," https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD, accessed September 20, 2018.
- 33. Ibid.
- 34. David Moschella, Seeing Digital: A Visual Guide to the Industries, Organizations, and Careers of the 2020s (Virginia: DXC Technology, 2018).
- 35. Ibid.
- Fabian, "Global Artificial Intelligence Landscape | Including Database with 3,465 AI Companies," *Medium*, May 22, 2018, https://medium.com/@bootstrappingme/global-artificial-intelligencelandscape-including-database-with-3-465-ai-companies-3bf01a175c5d.
- 37. Ibid.
- Peter C. Evans and Annabelle Gawer, "Global Platform Survey," The Center for Global Enterprise, 2015, https://www.thecge.net/app/uploads/2016/01/PDF-WEB-Platform-Survey_01_12.pdf.
- OECD, "OECD Stats: Patents filed under the PTC, Patents by technology," https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=PATS_IPC, accessed September 17, 2018; World Bank, "GDP (current US\$)," https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD, accessed September 17, 2018.
- OECD, Entrepreneurship at a Glance, 2017 Figure 7.1 (OECD, 2017), http://www.oecd.org/sdd/business-stats/entrepreneurship-at-a-glance-22266941.htm, accessed September 17, 2018; KPMG, Venture Pulse Q4 2016, January 12, 2017, https://home.kpmg.com/cn/en/home/insights/2017/01/venture-pulse-q4-2016.html, accessed

September 25, 2018; World Bank, "GDP (current US\$)," https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD, accessed September 25, 2018.

- 41. "Networked Readiness Index 2016," World Economic Forum, accessed July 7, 2018, http://www.weforum.org/issues/global-information-technology.
- 42. Ibid.
- 43. Ibid, 11.
- OECD, Science, Technology and Industry Scoreboard 2013 (Chapter 2: Figure 2.1.3 ICT investment by asset, 2000 and 2011; accessed January 28, 2014), http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/888932890599.
- OECD, OECD Digital Economy Outlook 2017, October 2017, https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264276284-en; World Bank, "GDP (current US\$)," https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD, accessed September 20, 2018.
- "Worldwide Public Cloud Services Spending Forecast to Reach \$266 Billion in 2021, According to IDC" (IDC, July 18, 2017), https://www.idc.com/getdoc.jsp?containerId=prUS42889917.
- 47. Ibid.
- Robert Atkinson, "How ICT Can Restore Lagging European Productivity Growth" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, October 2018), https://itif.org/publications/2018/10/24/how-ict-can-restore-lagging-european-productivity-growth.
- The Conference Board, Total Economy Database (Total GDP and Total annual hours worked); accessed April 30, 2018), https://www.conferenceboard.org/data/economydatabase/index.cfm?id=27762.
- 50. OECD, Statistics (Productivity, contributions to GDP growth; accessed May 1, 2018), http://stats.oecd.org/.
- 51. Joseph Nahm, "China's Specialization in Innovative Manufacturing" (power point, National Academies of Sciences Innovation Policy Forum, Washington, D.C., May 23, 2017).
- 52. Robert D. Atkinson, "Hearing on Foreign Investment Climate in China," Testimony before the U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, January 28, 2015), http://www2.itif.org/2015-uscc-investment-climate.pdf.
- "The Lives of the Parties," *The Economist*, December 15, 2018, https://www.economist.com/finance-and-economics/2018/12/15/the-lives-of-the-parties.
- 54. Edward Wong, "China Faces Obstacles in Bid to Rebalance Its Economy," *The New York Times*, August 24, 2018, https://www.nytimes.com/2011/08/25/world/asia/25china.html.
- McKinsey Global Institute, *How to compete and grow: A sector guide to policy* (McKinsey Global Institute), March 2010, http://www.mckinsey.com/mgi/reports/freepass_pdfs/competitiveness/Full_Report_Competitiveness .pdf.
- Albert Shih, "China Manufacturing 2025 and Manufacturing Innovation Center in China" (working paper, 2018).
- 57. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, "United Nations E-Government Survey 2018," United Nations, (New York, 2018), https://publicadministration.un.org/egovkb/Portals/egovkb/Documents/un/2018-Survey/E-Government%20Survey%202018_FINAL%20for%20web.pdf.
- Andrew Barclay, "Why China Lags Behind in Global Broadband Speed Ranking," *Digital Life*, July 12, 2018, https://www.abacusnews.com/digital-life/why-china-lags-behind-global-broadband-speedranking/article/215497.
- "New Data Visualization on Internet Users by Region and Country, 2010-2016," International Telecommunications Union (ITU), https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Statistics/Pages/stat/default.aspx.

- 60. EU-Japan Center for Industrial Cooperation, "Digital Economy in Japan and the EU" (EU-Japan Center for Industrial Cooperation [EU-Japan CIC], March 2015), 10, http://www.eu-japan.eu/sites/eu-japan.eu/files/DigitalEconomy_final.pdf.
- Japan Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications (JMIAC), "Announcement of International ICT Competitiveness Index 2015" (JMIAC, December 24, 2015), http://www.soumu.go.jp/main_sosiki/joho_tsusin/eng/Releases/Telecommunications/151224_01.ht ml; JMIAC, "ICT International Competitiveness Index," (JMIAC, 2014), http://www.soumu.go.jp/main_content/000319905.pdf.
- 62. EU-Japan CIC, "Digital Economy in Japan and the EU," 11.
- 63. Ibid.
- Matilde Mas and Juan Fernández de Guevara Radoselovics, *The 2014 PREDICT Report: An Analysis of ICT R&D in the EU and Beyond* (European Commission, 2014), 59, http://is.jrc.ec.europa.eu/pages/ISG/documents/PREDICT2014.pdf.
- 65. Ibid, 9.
- 66. EU-Japan CIC, "Digital Economy in Japan and the EU," 15.
- Marie Yamakawa (ICT Strategy Policy Division, Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications), "Japan's ICT Growth Strategy: Contributing to Domestic Economic Growth and the Global Society," *New Breeze*, Autumn 2013, https://www.ituaj.jp/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/nb25-4_web-2_po-ict.pdf.
- 68. Japan Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications, "Smart Japan ICT Strategy" (MIAC, June 2014), 5, http://www.soumu.go.jp/main_content/000301884.pdf; United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), "Global imports of information technology goods approach \$2 trillion, UNCTAD figures show," news release, February 11, 2014, http://unctad.org/en/pages/newsdetails.aspx?OriginalVersionID=692.
- 69. Dr. Lorenz Granrath, "Japan's Society 5.0: Going Beyond Industry 4.0," *Japan Industry News*, August 29, 2017, https://www.japanindustrynews.com/2017/08/japans-society-5-0-going-beyond-industry-4-0/#lightbox/0.
- 70. Tomohiko Arai (Science Counselor, Embassy of Japan to the United States), "Society 5.0 and Science and Technology Policy in Japan" (presentation to Washington Innovation Network, November 8, 2017).
- 71. Yoshihiro Katagiri, "MIC/NICT's Efforts for Society 5.0" (PPT presentation provided by Japan's National Institute of Information and Communications Technology).
- Marie Yamakawa (ICT Strategy Policy Division, Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications), "Japan's ICT Growth Strategy: Contributing to Domestic Economic Growth and the Global Society," *New Breeze* (Autumn 2013), 1, https://www.ituaj.jp/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/nb25-4_web-2_po-ict.pdf.
- 73. Ibid.
- 74. Justin L. Bloom, *Japan's MITI as a Policy Instrument in the Development of Information Technology* (Center for Information Resources Policy, October 1984), http://www.pirp.harvard.edu/pubs_pdf/bloom/bloom-p84-6.pdf. Bloom notes that MITI's real strength is rather "its ability to bring divergent points of view together in creating national policies that are generally acceptable to various sectors of society."
- Japan Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (METI), "METI: FY2014 Points of Economic and Industrial Policies," (METI, August 2013), 17, http://www.meti.go.jp/english/aboutmeti/policy/fy2014/pdf/0906_001a.pdf.
- 76. Ibid.
- 77. Matilde Mas and Juan Fernández de Guevara Radoselovics, *The 2014 PREDICT Report: An Analysis of ICT R&D in the EU and Beyond* (European Commission, 2014), 72, 77, http://is.jrc.ec.europa.eu/pages/ISG/documents/PREDICT2014.pdf.

- 78. Japan Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications, Global ICT Strategy Bureau (GISB), "Comprehensive planning, drafting and promotion of ICT policy," http://www.soumu.go.jp/english/gisb/.
- 79. Ibid.
- 80. Ibid.
- Ernst & Young, "Japan tax newsletter: Outline of tax reforms to stimulate investment," October 31, 2013, http://www.eytax.jp/pdf/newsletter/2013/Japan_tax_newsletter_Oct31_2013_E.pdf.
- 82. World Information Technology and Services Alliance (WITSA), Global ICT Spending, 2013.
- Japan Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications, White Paper 2014: Information and Communications in Japan, 58, http://www.soumu.go.jp/johotsusintokei/whitepaper/eng/WP2014/2014-index.html.
- 84. Ibid, 82.
- 85. EU-Japan CIC, "Digital Economy in Japan and the EU," 9.
- Daniel Castro, Travis Korte, "Open Data in the G8: A Review of Progress on the Open Data Charter" (Center for Data Innovation, March2015), http://www2.datainnovation.org/2015-opendata-g8.pdf.
- 87. Ibid.
- 88. Ibid.
- 89. Ibid.
- Clarisse Pham, "Smart Cities in Japan: An Assessment on the Potential for EU-Japan Cooperation and Business Development" (EU-Japan Centre for Industrial Cooperation, October 2014), http://www.eu-japan.eu/sites/eu-japan.eu/files/SmartCityJapan.pdf.
- Stephen J. Ezell and Robert D. Atkinson, "Explaining International IT Application Leadership: Intelligent Transportation Systems" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, January 2010), http://itif.org/publications/2010/01/09/explaining-international-it-application-leadershipintelligent.
- 92. "Special Feature 1: Toward Implementation of Educational Rebuilding," Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology Japan (MEXT), http://www.mext.go.jp/b_menu/hakusho/html/hpab201201/detail/1344908.htm.
- 93. Ibid.
- 94. Ibid.
- 95. Kantei, "Japan Revitalization Strategy" (Kantei, June 2014), http://www.kantei.go.jp/jp/singi/keizaisaisei/pdf/honbunEN.pdf.
- Robert D. Atkinson, "Understanding the U.S. National Innovation System" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, June 2014), http://www.itif.org/publications/2014/06/30/understanding-us-national-innovation-system.
- 97. For some broader and deeper views, see Michael Lind, *Land of Promise: An Economic History of the United States* (New York: HarperCollins, 2012), and Charles R. Morris, *The Dawn of Innovation: The First American Industrial Revolution* (New York: Public Affairs, 2012).
- 98. Alfred Chandler, The Visible Hand (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1977).
- A. J. Baime, The Arsenal of Democracy: FDR, Detroit, and an Epic Quest to Arm an America at War (New York, NY: Mariner Books, 2015).
- 100. Stephen Ezell, Frank Spring, Katarzyna Bitka, "The Global Flourishing of National Innovation Foundations" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, April 2015), http://www2.itif.org/2015-flourishing-nationalinnovation.pdf?_ga=2.43905762.639691427.1544302087-719207280.1528225744.
- 101. National Science Foundation, "Cross-National Comparisons of Government R&D Priorities" (Appendix Table 4-39; accessed June 18, 2014), http://www.nsf.gov/statistics/seind14/index.cfm/chapter-4/c4s7.htm.

- 102. "Semiconductor Technology Advanced Research Network," on the Semiconductor Research Corporation website, accessed June 18, 2014, https://www.src.org/program/starnet/.
- 103. OECD, OECD Digital Economy Outlook 2015, 38-39.
- 104. Ibid, 42.
- 105. Peter Singer, "Federally Supported Innovations: 22 Examples of Major Technology Advances that Stem from Federal Research" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, February 2014), 5, http://www2.itif.org/2014-federally-supported-innovations.pdf.
- 106. Matilde Mas and Juan Fernández de Guevara Radoselovics, *The 2014 PREDICT Report: An Analysis of ICT R&D in the EU and Beyond* (European Commission, 2014), 72, 77, http://is.jrc.ec.europa.eu/pages/ISG/documents/PREDICT2014.pdf.
- The Networking and Information Technology Research and Development (NITRD) Program, "About the NITRD Program," http://www.nitrd.gov/about/about_nitrd.aspx.
- 108. The Networking and Information Technology Research and Development (NITRD) Program, "Supplement to the President's Budget, FY 2013," http://www.nitrd.gov/pubs/2013supplement/FY13NITRDSupplement.pdf.
- National Science Foundation, "Directorate for Computer and Information Science and Engineering (CISE), FY 2014 Budget Request," http://nsf.gov/about/budget/fy2014/pdf/18_fy2014.pdf.
- United States Federal Communications Commission, Connecting America: The National Broadband Plan (U.S. FCC, 2010), https://transition.fcc.gov/national-broadband-plan/national-broadbandplan.pdf.
- 111. OECD, OECD Digital Economy Outlook 2015, 23.
- 112. SEMATECH, "About Us," http://public.sematech.org/Pages/About%20SEMATECH.aspx.
- Dr. Linton Salmon, "Semiconductor Technology Advanced Research Network (STARnet)," accessed March 23, 2018, https://www.darpa.mil/program/starnet.
- 114. Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA), "JUMP," accessed March 26, 2018, https://www.darpa.mil/about-us/timeline/jump.
- The White House, "Fact Sheet: National Strategic Computing Initiative" (The White House, July 29, 2015), https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/microsites/ostp/nsci_fact_sheet.pdf.
- 116. "ITIF Technology Explainer: What Is Quantum Computing?" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, September 2018), https://itif.org/publications/2018/09/20/itif-technologyexplainer-what-quantum-computing.
- U.S. Department of Commerce, "A National Advanced Manufacturing Portal Highlighting the National Network for Manufacturing Innovation," http://www.manufacturing.gov/welcome.html.
- 118. Executive Office of the President of the United States, Strategy for American Leadership in Advanced Manufacturing (National Science and Technology Council, 2018), 9, https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Advanced-Manufacturing-Strategic-Plan-2018.pdf.
- Josh New, "Will Obama be the Last Open Data President," *Center for Data Innovation*, November 11, 2014, http://www.datainnovation.org/2014/11/will-obama-be-the-last-open-data-president/.
- 120. Ibid.
- 121. Castro, Korte, "Open Date in the G8."
- Open Government Partnership, "About the Open Government Partnership," https://www.opengovpartnership.org/about/about-ogp.
- 123. Castro, Korte, "Open Date in the G8."
- Phil Goldstein, "DARPA Will Invest \$2 Billion in AI to Benefit Pentagon," *FedTech*, September 25, 2018, https://fedtechmagazine.com/article/2018/09/darpa-will-invest-2-billion-ai-benefit-pentagon.
- 125. Matt O'Brien, "Explainer: The US Push to Boost 'Quantum Computing'" *PHYS.ORG*, September 24, 2018, https://phys.org/news/2018-09-boost-quantum.html.

- 126. Based on schools offering a computer science AP course, accessed April 27, 2015, https://apcourseaudit.epiconline.org/ledger/search.php; http://runningonempty.acm.org/roemap.htm.
- 127. "AP Exam Volume Changes (2003–2013)," The College Board, http://media.collegeboard.com/digitalServices/pdf/research/2013/2013-Exam-Volume-Change.pdf.
- Code.org, "The United States for Computer Science," *Medium*, September 27, 2018, https://medium.com/@codeorg/ae7e2763d699.
- 129. OECD, "OECD Science, Technology, and Industry Scoreboard 2013" (OECD, 2013), http://www.oecd.org/sti/scoreboard-2013.pdf.
- 130. Flash Euro Barometer, 283.
- 131. OECD, *Entrepreneurship at a Glance* (Table 2.2; Table 2.6 [percent]; accessed April 4, 2014), www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/entrepreneur_aag-2013-en/02/02/index.html.
- 132. Ibid.
- Danny Leung, Césaire Meh, and Yaz Terajima, "Firm Size and Productivity" (working paper, Bank of Canada, 2008), http://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/53956.
- Nicholas Bloom, Raffaella Sadun, and John van Reenen, "Americans Do IT Better: US Multinationals and the Productivity Miracle," *American Economic Review* 102, no. 1 (February 2012): 167–201, doi:10.1257/aer.102.1.167.
- 135. Nick Bloom and John van Reenen, "Measuring and Explaining Management Practices Across Firms and Countries," *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 122, no. 4 (2007), 1351–1408.
- 136. Phil Fersht and Jamie Snowdon, "State of the Outsourcing Industry 2013: Executive Findings" (HfS Research, April 2013), http://www.kpmginstitutes.com/shared-services-outsourcing-institute/insights/2013/pdf/state-of-outsourcing-2013-exec-findings-hfs.pdf.
- 137. Fabiano Schivardi and Tom Schmitz, "The ICT Revolution and Southern Europe's Two Lost Decades" (working paper, Social Science Research Network, 2018).
- OECD, "Zombie Firms and Weak Productivity" (OECD, 2017), http://www.oecd.org/eco/growth/exit-policies-and-productivity-growth.htm.
- Robert Atkinson and Michel Lind, Big Is Beautiful: Debunking the Myth of Small Business (Massachusetts: The MIT Press, 2018).
- 140. Calculations based on table 4.1 and 4.2, Wen Chen, Thomas Niebel, and Marianne Saam, "Are intangibles more productive in ICT-intensive industries? Evidence from EU countries," Telecommunications Policy 40, no. 5, (2016), 471–84.
- 141. Yuriy Gorodnichenko et al., "Resource Misallocation in European Firms: the Role of Constraints, Firm Characteristics and Managerial Decisions" (working paper, European Investment Bank, Luxembourg, 2018).
- 142. Ibid.
- 143. Marcin Relich, "The impact of ICT on labor productivity in the EU" (Information Technology for Development, 2017), 23:4, 706-722, https://doi.org/10.1080/02681102.2017.1336071.
- 144. Eurostat, "Cloud Computing Services," accessed July 28, 2018, http://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=isoc_cicce_use&lang=en.
- 145. Eurostat, "E-commerce, Customer Relation Management (CRM) and Secure Transactions," accessed July 28, 2018, http://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=isoc_bde15dec&lang=en.
- 146. Eurostat Statistics Explained, "Cloud Computing Statistics on the Use by Enterprises," (December 2016), http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Cloud_computing_-__statistics_on_the_use_by_enterprises.

- 147. The European Digital Economy and Society Index (DESI), 2017, https://ec.europa.eu/digitalsingle-market/en/news/digital-economy-and-society-index-desi-2017.
- Daniel Castro, "Health IT" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, September 2009), http://www.itif.org/files/2009-leadershiphealthit.pdf?_ga=2.133136840.714623491.1543846499-1559993869.1449863882.
- 149. Robert Atkinson and Caleb Foote, "Dwindling Federal Support for R&D Is a Recipe for Economic and Strategic Decline" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, December 2018), https://itif.org/publications/2018/12/14/dwindling-federal-support-rd-recipe-economic-andstrategic-decline.
- 150. Ibid.
- 151. Davide Castellani et al., "R&D and Productivity in the US and the EU: Sectoral Specificities and Differences in the Crisis," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* Vol 138 (January 2019): 279-291, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162518306942?via%3Dihub.
- 152. Daniel Castro and Alan McQuinn, "A Policymaker's Guide to Connected Cars" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, January 2018), https://itif.org/publications/2018/01/16/policymakers-guide-connected-cars.
- 153. Marianna Mazzacato, *Mission-Oriented Research & Innovation in the European Union* (European Commission, February 2018), https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/mazzucato_report_2018.pdf.
- 154. Peter Singer, "Federally Supported Innovations: 22 Examples of Major Technology Advances That Stem From Federal Research Support" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, February 2014), http://www2.itif.org/2014-federally-supportedinnovations.pdf?_ga=2.62952879.1659842012.1543240415-1559993869.1449863882.
- Marianna Mazzacato, Mission-Oriented Research & Innovation in the European Union (European Commission, February 2018), https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/mazzucato_report_2018.pdf.
- 156. Ben Miller and Robert D. Atkinson, "Are Robots Taking Our Jobs? Or Making Them?" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, September 2013), http://www2.itif.org/2013-are-robots-taking-jobs.pdf?_ga=2.52427374.639691427.1544302087-719207280.1528225744.
- Jim Kalbach, "Clarifying Innovation: Four Zones of Innovation," *Experiencing Information*, June 3, 2012, https://experiencinginformation.com/2012/06/03/clarifying-innovation-four-zones-of-innovation.
- 158. David Moschella, Seeing Digital.
- 159. Joshua New, "Why the United States Needs a National Artificial Intelligence Strategy and What It Should Look Like" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, December 2018), https://itif.org/publications/2018/12/04/why-united-states-needs-national-artificial-intelligencestrategy-and-what.
- 160. OECD Better Policy Series—India: Sustaining High and Inclusive Growth (OECD, October 2012), 8, accessed April 11, 2016, http://www.oecd.org/india/IndiaBrochure2012.pdf.
- Philippe Aghion et al., "Education, Market Rigidities and Growth" (IZA discussion paper no. 3166, November 2007), accessed March 7, 2016, http://repec.iza.org/dp3166.pdf.
- 162. Van Reenen et al., "The Economic Impact of ICT, SMART."
- 163. Ibid.
- Gilbert Cette, Jimmy Lopez, and Jacques Mairesse, "Upstream Product Market Regulations, ICT, R&D and Productivity," *Income and Wealth*, February 2017, vol 63.
- 165. Ibid, 86.
- 166. McKinsey Global Institute, Solving the Productivity Puzzle: The Role of Demand and the Promise of Digitization, McKinsey and Company (February 2018), https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Featured%20Insights/Meeting%20societys%20expe

ctations/Solving%20the%20productivity%20puzzle/MGI-Solving-the-Productivity-Puzzle-Report-February-22-2018.ashx.

- 167. For instance, see similar language in: European Commission, "Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, The Council, The European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: Digital Single Market" (European Commission, May 6, 2015), file:///C:/Users/Stephen%20Ezell/Downloads/DSM_communication%20(1).pdf.
- 168. For an example of how this would work in the United States, see Stuart Benjamin and Arti Rai, "Structuring U.S. Innovation Policy: Creating a White House Office of Innovation Policy" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, June 2009), https://itif.org/publications/2009/06/24/structuring-us-innovation-policy-creating-white-houseoffice-innovation.
- 169. European Commission, Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council: On a Framework for the Free Flow of Non-personal Data in the European Union (European Commission, September 13, 2017), http://ec.europa.eu/transparency/regdoc/rep/1/2017/EN/COM-2017-495-F1-EN-MAIN-PART-1.PDF.
- 170. Ibid.
- European Commission, Commission Staff Working Document: Better Regulation Guidelines (European Commission, July 7, 2017), 31, https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/better-regulationguidelines.pdf.
- 172. European Commission, *FinTech: Commission takes action for a more competitive and innovative financial market*, press release, March 8, 2018, accessed December 5, 2018, http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-18-1403_en.htm.
- 173. "EBA Publishes its Roadmap on FinTech," *European Banking Authority*, March 15, 2018, accessed December 5, 028, https://eba.europa.eu/-/eba-publishes-its-roadmap-on-fintech; Huw Jones, "EU Guidelines on fintech to include 'sandbox' design recommendation," *Reuters*, September 6, 2018, accessed December 5, 2018, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-eu-banks-regulator/eu-guidelineson-fintech-to-include-sandbox-design-recommendations-idUSKCN1LM25V.
- 174. Artificial Intelligence, European Commission, accessed September 9, 2018, https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/artificial-intelligence.
- 175. Nick Wallace, "The Impact of the EU's New Data Protection Regulation on AI", (Center for Data Innovation, March, 2018), http://www2.datainnovation.org/2018-impact-gdpr-ai.pdf.
- 176. Bryce Goodman and Seth Flaxman, "European Union Regulations on Algorithmic Decision-Making and a 'Right to Explanation," presented at ICML Workshop on Human Interpretability in Machine Learning (WHI 2016), New York, NY, June 2016, accessed December 15, 2017, http://adsabs.harvard.edu/cgi-bin/bib_query?arXiv:1606.08813; Innocent Kamwa, S. R. Samantary, and Geza Jobs, "On the Accuracy Versus Transparency Trade-off of Data-Mining Models for Fast-Response PMU-Based Catastrophe Predictors," IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid, Volume 3, Issue 1, March 2012, accessed February 1, 2018, http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/6096427/; Ulf Johannson, Ulf Norinder, and Henrik Boström, "Trade-Off Between Accuracy and Interoperability for Predictive In-Silico Modelling," Future Med Chem, April 2011, 3(6):647-663, accessed February 1, 2018, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21554073.
- 177. Ibid.
- 178. Eduard Forsch, Peter Kiseberg, and Tiffany Li, "Humans Forget, Machines Remember: Artificial Intelligence and the Right to be Forgotten," Computer Security & Law Review, August 15, 2017, accessed December 16, 2017, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3018186.
- 179. Ibid; For definitions of terms such as "personal data," "data subject," and "data controller," see Regulation 2016/679 (General Data Protection Regulation), Article 4, (see page L 119/82-33-35), accessed December 20, 2017, http://ec.europa.eu/justice/dataprotection/reform/files/regulation_oj_en.pdf.
- "Artificial Intelligence," European Commission, accessed September 9, 2018, https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/artificial-intelligence.

- Alan McQuinn, Weining Guo, and Daniel Castro, "Policy Principles for Fintech" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, October 2016), http://www2.itif.org/2016-policyprinciples-fintech.pdf.
- KPMG, "The Pulse of Fintech 2018" (2018), https://assets.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/xx/pdf/2018/07/h1-2018-pulse-of-fintech.pdf.
- 183. Daniel Castro and Alan McQuinn, "How and When Regulators Should Intervene" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, February 2015), http://www2.itif.org/2015-howwhenregulators-intervene.pdf.
- 184. Libby Plummer, "What is VTOL? A Beginner's Guide to Vertical Take-off and Landing Technology," *Wired*, April 28, 2017, accessed December 5, 2018, https://www.wired.co.uk/article/vtol-vertical-take-off-landing-explained.
- 185. eATM Portal, European ATM Master Plan, https://www.atmmasterplan.eu/.
- 186. The "open" category for casual operators, the "specific" category for more advanced, professional operations, and the "certified" category for larger aircraft and riskier operations, https://www.easa.europa.eu/document-library/opinions/opinion-012018.
- Assure, "FAA and ASSURE Announce Results of Air-to-Air Collision Study," press release, November 27, 2017, https://pr.cirlot.com/faa-and-assure-announce-results-of-air-to-air-collisionstudy/.
- Ministry of Ecological and Solidarity Transition, https://www.ecologiquesolidaire.gouv.fr/politiques/drones-aeronefs-telepilotes; https://mobilit.belgium.be/fr/transport_aerien/drones/foreign_dronesoperatorspilots.
- Robert Atkinson, "The Coming Transportation Revolution" (The Millken Institute, 2014), http://assets1c.milkeninstitute.org/assets/Publication/MIReview/PDF/78-87-MR64.pdf.
- Alan McQuinn and Daniel Castro, "A Policymaker's Guide to Connected Cars" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, January 2018), http://www2.itif.org/2018-policymakersguide-connected-cars.pdf?_ga=2.243960897.550393335.1531315203-2007345232.1523368944.
- 191. Stephen J. Ezell and Robert D. Atkinson, "Explaining International Leadership in Intelligent Transportation Systems" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, January 2010), http://www.itif.org/files/2010-1-27-ITS_Leadership.pdf.
- 192. McQuinn and Castro, "A Policymaker's Guide to Connected Cars."
- 193. Joe Kennedy, "How Regulatory Reform Can Advance Automation in the Freight Transportation Sector" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, June 2017), http://www2.itif.org/2017-regulatory-reformtransportation.pdf?_ga=2.19774193.81194693.1536069578-2007345232.1523368944.
- Nick Wallace and Daniel Castro, "The Impact of the EU's New Data Protection Regulation on AI"(Center for Data Innovation, March 2018), http://www2.datainnovation.org/2018-impact-gdprai.pdf.
- Nick Wallace, "EU's eCall Regulation Sacrifices Safety for Privacy," *Center for Data Innovation*, February 7, 2017, https://www.datainnovation.org/2017/02/eus-ecall-regulation-sacrifices-safetyfor-privacy/.
- 196. See Robert Atkinson and David Audretsch, "Economic Doctrines and Approaches to Antitrust" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, January 2011), http://www.itif.org/files/2011-antitrust.pdf?_ga=2.93499934.263746646.1537528783-640630452.1503250664.
- 197. Carl Shapiro, "Antitrust, Innovation, and Intellectual Property," November 8, 2005. http://faculty.haas.berkeley.edu/shapiro/amcinnovation.pdf.
- Robert Atkinson, "IP Protection in the Data Economy: Getting the Balance Right on 13 Critical Issues" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, January 2019), https://itif.org/publications/2019/01/22/ip-protection-data-economy-getting-balance-right-13critical-issues.

- 199. Natalia Drozdiak, "EU Asks: Does Control of 'Big Data' Kill Competition?" *The Wall Street Journal*, January 2, 2018, https://www.wsj.com/articles/eu-competition-chief-tracks-how-companies-use-big-data-1514889000.
- Joe Kennedy, "The Myth of Data Monopoly: Why Antitrust Concerns About Data Are Overblown" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, March 2017), http://www2.itif.org/2017data-competition.pdf.
- Anja Lambrecht and Catherine E. Tucker, "Can Big Data Protect a Firm From Competition?" Antitrust Chronical, vol. 1:12 (January 2017).
- 202. Stephen Ezell, et al., "Manufacturing Digitalization: Extent of Adoption and Recommendations for Increasing Penetration in Korea and the U.S." (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, August 2018), https://itif.org/publications/2018/08/13/manufacturing-digitalizationextent-adoption-and-recommendations-increasing.
- 203. See Stephen Ezell, et al., "Manufacturing Digitalization," for an in-depth discussion of these issues.
- 204. "Building a European Data Economy," European Commission, n.d., https://ec.europa.eu/digitalsingle-market/en/policies/building-european-data-economy.
- 205. AG Data, AG Data's Core Principles, https://www.agdatatransparent.com/principles/.
- 206. Hearing on A Multilateral and Strategic Response to International Predatory Economic Practices (2018) (testimony of Robert Atkinson, President of ITIF), https://itif.org/publications/2018/05/09/testimony-us-senate-responding-international-predatoryeconomic-practices.
- 207. Robert Atkinson, "Parsing China's Bogus Response to the Latest Round of U.S. Tariffs" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, July, 2018), https://itif.org/publications/2018/07/13/parsing-chinas-bogus-response-latest-round-us-tariffs.
- 208. Jost Wübbeke et al., "Made in China 2025: The Making of a High-Tech Superpower and Consequences for Industrial Countries" (Mercator Institute for China Studies, December 2016), https://www.merics.org/fileadmin/user_upload/downloads/MPOC/MPOC_Made_in_China_2025/ MPOC_No.2_MadeinChina_2025.pdf.
- 209. Hearing on Chinese Investment in the United States: Impacts and Issues for Policymaker, (2018) (testimony of Robert Atkinson, President of ITIF), https://itif.org/publications/2017/01/26/testimony-us-china-economic-and-security-reviewcommission-chinese-foreign.
- 210. "The CFIUS Reform Legislation—FIRRMA—Will Become Law on August 13, 2018," Akin Gump, International Trade Alert, August, 10, 2018, https://www.akingump.com/en/news-insights/the-cfius-reform-legislation-firrma-will-become-law-on-august-13.html.
- 211. European Commission, "Free flow of non-personal data," European Commission website, accessed September 20, 2018, https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/free-flow-non-personal-data.
- 212. European Commission, "Measuring the economic impact of cloud computing in Europe," European Commission website, accessed September 20, 2018, https://ec.europa.eu/digital-singlemarket/en/news/measuring-economic-impact-cloud-computing-europe.
- 213. European Commission, *Trade for all: Towards a more responsible trade and investment policy* (Brussels: European Commission, October, 2015), http://trade.ec.europa.eu/doclib/docs/2015/october/tradoc_153846.pdf.
- 214. "Like minded letter on data flows in trade agreements," Government of the Netherlands website, accessed September 20, 2018, https://www.government.nl/documents/letters/2017/05/19/like-minded-letter-on-data-flows-in-trade-agreements.
- 215. The EU has agreed to horizontal provisions on transfers and processing of information across borders as part of provisions related to specific sectors (such as for financial and telecommunications services) and as part of general market access commitments (such as under the WTO's General Agreement on Trade in Services). Yet these provisions usually contain balancing provisions regarding other interests or use general exceptions, such as for privacy, which would potentially account for the local data storage favored by some European Union member states. For example:

Marija Bartl and Kristina Irion, *The Japan EU Economic Partnership Agreement: Flows of Personal Data to the Land of the Rising Sun* (University of Amsterdam report for the European Parliamentary Group, October, 2017), https://www.ivir.nl/publicaties/download/Transfer-of-personal-data-to-the-land-of-the-rising-sun-FINAL.pdf.

- 216. European Commission, "The European Union and Japan agreed to create the world's largest area of safe data flows," press release, July 17, 2018, http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-18-4501_en.htm; Regulation (EU) 2016/679 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, which repealed Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Regulation).
- 217. Marko Popovic, "Standard contractual clauses challenged by GDPR and scrutinized by CJEU," *Lexology*, February 9, 2018, https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=d4a4a515-4868-4445-8b1c-0d358feab8fe.
- 218. "Horizontal provisions for cross-border data flows and for personal data protection (in EU trade and investment agreements)," European Commission website, access September 20, 2018, http://trade.ec.europa.eu/doclib/docs/2018/may/tradoc_156884.pdf.
- 219. Nigel Cory, "Cross-Border Data Flows: Where Are the Barriers, and What Do They Cost?" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, May 1, 2017), https://itif.org/publications/2017/05/01/cross-border-data-flows-where-are-barriers-and-what-dothey-cost.
- 220. Christian Bluth, "Boosting Trade in Services in the Digitalization Era: Potentials and Obstacles for Europe" (Bertelsmann Foundation, 2017), https://www.bertelsmannstiftung.de/fileadmin/files/BSt/Publikationen/GrauePublikationen/NW_Focus_Paper_Trade_in_Se rvices_Digitalisation_01.pdf.
- 221. World Trade Organization, *World Trade Report 2012: Trade and public policies: a closer look at nontariff measures in the 21st century* (Geneva: World Trade Organization, 2012), https://www.wto.org/english/res_e/booksp_e/anrep_e/world_trade_report12_e.pdf.
- 222. OECD, OECD Services Trade Restrictiveness Index (STRI) Policy Brief (Paris: OECD, May 2014), https://www.oecd.org/mcm/MCM-2014-STRI-Policy-Brief.pdf.
- 223. From a business perspective, the reality of the Single Market for services falls short of expectations.
- 224. Erik van der Marel, "Reforming Services: What Policies Warrant Attention?" (European Center for International Political Economy, June, 2017), http://ecipe.org/publications/reforming-services-what-policies-warrant-attention/.
- 225. European Commission, "A services economy that works for Europeans," press release, January 10, 2017, http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-17-23_en.htm.
- 226. David Hart, "When Does Environmental Regulation Stimulate Technological Innovation?" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, July 2018), http://www2.itif.org/2018environmental-regulation-innovation.pdf?_ga=2.151017081.199116300.1544016185-260282954.1537975397.
- 227. The first unbundling describes the reduction of transportation costs from the late 1800s, where consumption and production can be geographically separated. As per Baldwin, Richard, 2011, "Trade and Industrialization after Globalization's Second Unbundling: How Building and Joining a Supply Chain Are Different and Why It Matters." See Richard Baldwin, "Trade and Industrialisation after globalization's end unbundling: how building and joining a supply chain are different why it matters" (National Bureau of Economic Research working paper 17716, December 2011),

http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTRANETTRADE/Resources/Baldwin_NBER_Working_Pap er_17716.pdf.

 World Bank, *Digital Dividends*, (Washington, D.C.: World Bank, January, 2016), http://wwwwds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2016/01/13/090224b08405ea 05/2_0/Rendered/PDF/World0developm0000digital0dividends.pdf.

- 229. World Trade Organization, *World Trade Report 2012: Trade and public policies: a closer look at nontariff measures in the 21st century* (Geneva: World Trade Organization, 2012), https://www.wto.org/english/res_e/booksp_e/anrep_e/world_trade_report12_e.pdf.
- Rob Atkinson, "Thinking Small Misses the Bigger Productivity Picture," *The Telegraph*, April 12, 2018, https://www.telegraph.co.uk/business/2018/04/12/thinking-small-misses-bigger-productivity-picture.
- 231. Nigel Cory and Stephen Ezell, "Crafting an Innovation-Enabling Trade in Services Agreement" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, June 6, 2016), https://itif.org/publications/2016/06/06/crafting-innovation-enabling-trade-services-agreement.
- 232. "Building a European Data Economy," European Commission, n.d., https://ec.europa.eu/digitalsingle-market/en/policies/building-european-data-economy.
- 233. "Data in the EU: Commission steps up efforts to increase availability and boost healthcare data sharing," European Commission, April 25, 2018, http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-18-3364_en.htm.
- Daniel Castro and Travis Korte, "Open Data in the G8" (Center for Data Innovation, March 2015), https://www.datainnovation.org/2015/03/open-data-in-the-g8/.
- Daniel Castro, "The Rise of Data Poverty in America" (Center for Data Innovation, September 2014), http://www2.datainnovation.org/2014-data-poverty.pdf.
- 236. Gijs Hillenius, "France Appoints Chief Data Officer," Joinup, September 25, 2014, https://joinup.ec.europa.eu/news/france-appoints-chief-data.
- 237. Ibid.
- 238. This definition was developed from several sources, including Erika McCallister, Tim Grance, and Karen Scarfone, "Guide to Protecting the Confidentiality of Personally Identifiable Information (PII)," National Institute of Standards and Technology, 2010, accessed October 24, 2017, http://nvlpubs.nist.gov/nistpubs/Legacy/SP/nistspecialpublication800- 122.pdf; The Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. § 552a; and "Comments of the Staff of the Bureau of Consumer Protection of the Federal Trade Commission Before the Federal Communications Commission," Federal Trade Commission, May 27, 2016, accessed October 24, 2017, https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/documents/advocacy_documents/comment-staffbureau-consumer-protection-federal-trade-commission-federal-communications-commission/160527fcccomment.pdf.
- 239. The definitions for "observed information" and "computed information" are similar to the ones the Article 29 Working Group has used for "observed data" and "inferred data." See Article 29 Data Protection Working Party, "Guidelines on the right to data portability," December 13, 2016, revised April 5 2017, 10, https://iapp.org/media/pdf/resource_center/WP29-2017-04-data-portability-guidance.pdf.
- 240. "Robert D. Atkinson," Wikipedia, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Robert_D._Atkinson.
- 241. "Big data and intangible property rights—can IPRs and rights in personal data exist in harmony?" TaylorWessing, March 2017, https://www.taylorwessing.com/download/article-big-data-andintangible-property-rights.html.
- 242. "Digital privacy rights require data ownership," *Financial Times*, March 21, 2018, accessed July 20, 2018, https://www.ft.com/content/a00ecf9e-2d03-11e8-a34a-7e7563b0b0f4.
- 243. "Key Findings form the HORIZON 2020 Interim Evaluation" (European Commission, 2018), https://ec.europa.eu/research/evaluations/pdf/brochure_interim_evaluation_horizon_2020_key_find ings.pdf.
- 244. "Industry & University Cooperative Research Program" (I/UCRC), National Science Foundation, https://www.nsf.gov/eng/iip/iucrc/plan_implement_center.jsp.
- 245. John Wu, Innovation Fact of the Week: NSF Public-Private R&D Projects Saved \$700K in R&D Costs Each in 2014, ITIF, April 28, 2016, https://www.innovationfiles.org/innovation-fact-of-the-week-nsf-public-private-rd-projects-saved-700k-in-rd-costs-each-in-2014/.
- 246. Elizabeth Corley and Monica Gaughan, "Scientists' Participation in University Research Centers: What are the Gender Differences?" Journal of Technology Transfer 30 (2005): 371–381.

- 247. Teresa R. Berhrens and Denis O. Gray, "Unintended Consequences of Cooperative Research: Impact of Industry Sponsorship on Climate for Academic Freedom and Other Graduate Student Outcomes," Research Policy 30, no. 2 (2001): 179–99.
- 248. Robert Atkinson and Merrilea Mayo, "Refueling the U.S. Innovation Economy: Fresh Approaches to Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) Education" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation), 110, http://www.itif.org/files/2010-refueling-innovationeconomy.pdf?_ga=2.130841996.263746646.1537528783-640630452.1503250664.
- 249. "Freelancers predicted to become the U.S. workforce majority within a decade, with nearly 50% of millennial workers already freelancing, annual 'Freelancing in America' study finds," press release, Upwork, October 17, 2017, https://www.upwork.com/press/2017/10/17/freelancing-in-america-2017/.
- Small Business Labs, "Federal Reserve Study Finds 31% of Adult Americans Do Gig," May, 2018, https://www.smallbizlabs.com/2018/05/federal-reserve-study-finds-31-of-adult-americans-do-gigwork.html.
- 251. U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Current Employment Statistics (Employment Level All Industries Self Employed, Unincorporated, and Total Non-Farm, All Employees; accessed March 14, 2016), https://www.bls.gov/ces/.
- 252. Lawrence F. Katz and Alan B. Krueger, "The Rise and Nature of Alternative Work Arrangements in the United States 1995–2015," NBER working paper no. 22667, September 2016, http://www.nber.org/papers/w22667.pdf.
- 253. Lydia DePillis, "There Are Fewer Gig Jobs Than You Think. Economists Walk Back Study That Showed Huge Increase," CNN Business, January 10, 2019, https://www.cnn.com/2019/01/07/economy/gig-economy-katz-krueger/index.html.
- 254. Ibid.
- 255. Dan Andrews, Giuseppe Nicoletti, and Christina Timiliotis, "Digital Technology Diffusion: A Matter of Capabilities, Incentives or Both?" (working paper, OECD Economics Department, Paris, 2018).
- 256. Ibid.
- 257. UNESCO Institute of Statistics, "Distribution of Tertiary Graduates by Field of Study," http://data.uis.unesco.org/index.aspx?queryid=163.
- 258. Ben Lorica, "The State of AI Adoption," *O'Reilly*, December 18, 2017, https://www.oreilly.com/ideas/the-state-of-ai-adoption.
- 259. Adams Nager and Robert D. Atkinson, "The Case for Improving U.S. Computer Science Education" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, May 2016), https://itif.org/publications/2016/05/31/case-improving-us-computer-science-education.
- 260. "A is for algorithm: A global push for more computer science in classrooms is starting to bear fruit," *The Economist*, April 26, 2014, http://www.economist.com/news/international/21601250-global-push-more-computer-science-classrooms-starting-bear-fruit.
- 261. Sam Chambers, "Why Schools in England Are Teaching 5-Year-Olds How to Code," *GlobalTech*, October 15, 2014, http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2014-10-15/why-schools-in-england-are-teaching-5-year-olds-how-to-code.html.
- 262. Ibid.
- 263. Mark Muro et al., "Digitalization and the American Workforce" (Metropolitan Policy Program at Brookings, November 2017), 46, https://www.brookings.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2017/11/mpp_2017nov15_digitalization_full_report.pdf.
- 264. Microsoft UK, "From Education To Innovation," https://www.microsoftstudentsuk.net/apprentices/.
- 265. Microsoft UK, "Apprentices," https://www.microsoftstudentsuk.net/apprentices/#2.
- 266. Dale Dougherty, "DARPA Mentor Award to Bring Making to Education," *Make*, January 19, 2012, http://makezine.com/2012/01/19/darpa-mentor-award-to-bring-making-to-education/.
- 267. Ferry Grikpink et al., "A 'New Deal': Driving Investment in Europe's Telecoms Infrastructure" (McKinsey & Company, 2012), https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/dotcom/client_service/telecoms/pdfs/05_a%20new %20deal_driving_investment_in_europe_telecoms_infrastructure.ashx.
- 268. European Commission et al., "Connectivity for a Competitive Digital Single Market Towards a European Gigabit Society" (Sept. 14, 2016), https://ec.europa.eu/digital-singlemarket/en/news/communication-connectivity-competitive-digital-single-market-towards-europeangigabit-society.
- 269. Cisco, "The Zettabyte Era: Trends and Analysis" (June 2017), https://webobjects.cdw.com/webobjects/media/pdf/Solutions/Networking/White-Paper-Cisco-The-Zettabyte-Era-Trends-and-Analysis.pdf.
- 270. James Robinson and Mayuran Sivakumaran, "The Mobile Economy Europe 2018," GSMA Intelligence (London: GSM Association, 2018), https://www.gsmaintelligence.com/research/2018/09/the-mobile-economy-europe-2018/695/; Jan Stryjak and Pau Castells "The Mobile Economy North America 2018," GSMA Intelligence (London: GSM Association, 2018), https://www.gsmaintelligence.com/research/2018/09/themobile-economy-north-america-2018/692/.
- 271. Jan Stryjak and Pau Castells "The Mobile Economy North America 2018," op. cit.
- 272. Doug Brake, "Spectrum Policy and the EU Digital Single Market: Lessons from the United States" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, December 2015), https://itif.org/publications/2015/12/07/spectrum-policy-and-eu-digital-single-market-lessonsunited-states.
- 273. "EU-OECD competitiveness overview based on the 20GB-4G-Tethering-€ 35 threshold," Digital Fuel Monitor, Rewheel, 2015, http://dfmonitor.eu/overview/.
- 274. James Robinson and Mayuran Sivakumaran, "The Mobile Economy Europe 2018," op. cit.
- 275. "Nokia Networks CTO: Europe 'Natural Leader' for 5G," Mobile World Live, April 2, 2015 https://www.mobileworldlive.com/featured-content/top-three/nokia-networks-cto-europe-naturalleader-5g/.
- 276. European Commission, Digital Agenda For Europe: A Europe 2020 Initiative, "What Is Radio Spectrum
 Policy?" last updated February 20, 2015, http://ec.europa.eu/digital-agenda/en/what-radio-spectrum-policy.
- 277. For discussion, see Martin H. Thelle and Dr. Bruno Basalisco "How Europe Can Catch Up With the US: A Contrast of Two Contrary Broadband Models," *Copenhagen Economics* (June 2013), https://www.copenhageneconomics.com/dyn/resources/Publication/publicationPDF/7/227/0/Europ e%20can%20catch%20up%20with%20the%20US%20-%20A%20contrast%20of%20two%20contrary%20broadband%20models%20v2.pdf.
- 278. European Commission news article, "Commission issues comments on proposed regulation of the wholesale internet access market in the Netherlands" (August 2018), https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/news/commission-issues-comments-proposed-regulation-wholesale-internet-access-market-netherlands.
- 279. Wolter Lemstra, *The Dynamics of Broadband Markets in Europe: Realizing the 2020 Agenda,* Cambridge University Press (November 2014).
- 280. As Jean-Jacques Laffont and Nobel laureate Jean Tirole explained in their 2000 analysis of telecommunications competition, "There is in general a trade-off between promoting [service] competition to increase social welfare once the infrastructure is in place and encouraging the incumbent to invest and maintain the infrastructure." Jean-Jacques Laffont and Jean Tirole, *Competition in Telecommunications* (Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, 2000). Research since then has shown it is incredibly difficult, if not impossible, to calibrate any sort of "ladder of investment" to leverage open-access networks into facilities-based competition. For example, Grajek and Röller

have provided econometric analysis showing the European Union's attempt at local loop unbundling is poorly designed and likely will not lead to expanded facilities-based competition. Michal Grajek and Lars-Hendrik Röller, "Regulation and Investment in Network Industries: Evidence from European Telecoms," *Journal of Law and Economics* 55, no. 1 (2012), http://econpapers.repec.org/article/ucpjlawec/doi_3a10.1086_2f661196.html.

- See Marc Bourreau et al., "A Critical Review of the 'Ladder of Investment' Approach" Telecommunications Policy 34(11):683-696, http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:4777447.
- 282. Ibid; Matt Hunt et al., "Evidence For A Ladder Of Investment In Central And Eastern European Countries," 26th European Regional ITS Conference, Madrid 2015, 127146, International Telecommunications Society (ITS), https://ideas.repec.org/p/zbw/itse15/127146.html; ETNO, "ETNO Reflection Document on re-assessing the 'ladder of investment' in the context of broadband access regulation" (September, 2005), https://etno.eu/datas/positions-papers/2005/rd227-rpolladder-of-investment.pdf.
- Robert D. Atkinson, "Economic Doctrines and Network Policy" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, October 2010), https://itif.org/publications/2010/10/04/network-policyand-economic-doctrines.
- 284. Richard Bennett et al., "The Whole Picture: Where America's Broadband Networks Really Stand" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, February 2013), https://itif.org/publications/2013/02/12/whole-picture-where-america%E2%80%99s-broadbandnetworks-really-stand.
- 285. Johannes M. Bauer and Erik Bohlin, "Roles and Effects of Access Regulation in 5G Markets" (September 2018), https://papers.csrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3246177.
- 286. Ibid.
- 287. Doug Brake, "Paid Prioritization: Why We Should Stop Worrying and Enjoy the 'Fast Lane'" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, July 2018), https://itif.org/publications/2018/07/30/paid-prioritization-why-we-should-stop-worrying-andenjoy-fast-lane.
- Doug Brake "Letter to the Body of European Regulators for Electronic Communications (BEREC) Regarding Net Neutrality Guidelines" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, April 2018), https://itif.org/publications/2018/04/25/letter-body-european-regulators-electroniccommunications-berec-regarding.
- Stephen Ezell, "Explaining International IT Application Leadership: Intelligent Transportation Systems" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, January 2010), https://itif.org/publications/2010/01/09/explaining-international-it-application-leadershipintelligent.
- Josh New and Daniel Castro, "Why Countries Need National Strategies for the Internet of Things," (Center for Data Innovation, December 2015), http://www2.datainnovation.org/2015-national-iotstrategies.pdf.
- 291. For ideas directed at how the United States could do this, see Joshua New, *Why the United States Needs a National Artificial Intelligence Strategy and What It Should Look Like* (Center for Data Innovation, December 2018), https://itif.org/publications/2018/12/04/why-united-states-needsnational-artificial-intelligence-strategy-and-what.
- 292. Tim Dutton, "A Timeline for Europe's AI Strategy," Medium, May 7, 2018 https://medium.com/swlh/a-timeline-for-europes-ai-strategy-d2fc9f7bbcf1.
- 293. "High-Level Expert Group on Artificial Intelligence," European Commission, October 29, 2018, https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/high-level-expert-group-artificial-intelligence.
- 294. "Commission Appoints Expert Group on AI and Launched the European AI Alliance," European Commission, June 14, 2018, https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/news/commission-appoints-expert-group-ai-and-launches-european-ai-alliance.

- 295. "Call for Digital Innovation Hubs on Artificial Intelligence," European Commission, November 14, 2018, https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/news/call-digital-innovation-hubs-artificial-intelligence.
- 296. Ibid.
- 297. Janosch Delcker, "Europe's AI ethics chief: No rules yet, please," *Politico*, (October 30, 2018), https://www.politico.eu/article/pekka-ala-pietila-artificial-intelligence-europe-shouldnt-rush-to-regulate-ai-says-top-ethics-adviser/.
- 298. "EU budget: Commission proposes €9.2 billion investment in first ever digital programme" http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-18-4043_en.htm.
- 299. European Commission, "Artificial intelligence: Commission outlines a European approach to boost investment and set ethical guidelines," press release, 25 April 2018, http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-18-3362_en.htm.
- 300. More details: Daniel Castro, "Explaining International IT Application Leadership: Electronic Identification Systems" (Information Technology and Innovation Foundation, September 2011), https://itif.org/publications/2011/09/15/explaining-international-it-application-leadershipelectronic-identification.
- Clayton M. Christensen, *The Innovator's Dilemma: When New Technologies Cause Great Firms to Fail* (Boston: Harvard Business Review Press, 1997), 21.
- 302. "About the Digital Manufacturing Design and Innovation Institute," https://www.uilabs.org/innovation-platforms/manufacturing/.
- 303. Stephen Ezell and Robert Atkinson, "Cut to Invest Support the Designation of 20 'U.S. Manufacturing Universities" (Brookings, January 2013), https://www.brookings.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2016/06/14-federalism-series-manufacturing-universities.pdf.
- 304. Joshua New, Daniel Castro, and Matt Beckwith, "How National Governments Can Help Smart Cities Succeed" (Center for Data Innovation, October, 2017), http://www2.datainnovation.org/2017-national-governments-smart-cities.pdf.
- 305. See for example, Waguih Ishak, "Creating An Innovation Culture" (McKinsey & Company, September 2017), https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/strategy-and-corporatefinance/our-insights/creating-an-innovation-culture. See also Gary Pisano, *Creative Construction*, (New York: Public Affairs, 2019).
- 306. Stephen Ezell and Philipp Marxgut, "Comparing American and European Innovation Cultures" in Shaping the Future: Economic, Social, and Political Dimensions of Innovation (Austrian Council for Research and Technology Development, August 2015), http://www2.itif.org/2015-comparingamerican-european-innovation-cultures.pdf?_ga=2.73324500.639691427.1544302087-719207280.1528225744.
- 307. "Entrepreneurship in the EU and Beyond," European Commission, December 2009, 85, http://ec.europa.eu/commfrontoffice/publicopinion/flash/fl_283_en.pdf.
- 308. Ibid, 87.
- 309. Mark Zachary Taylor, *The Politics of Innovation: Why Some Countries Are Better Than Others at Science & Technology* (London, England, Oxford University Press, 2016).
- 310. Robert Atkinson, "Don't Fear AI," *European Investment Bank*, June 15, 2018, http://www.eib.org/en/essays/artificial-intelligence?mc_cid=8dec0cd27b&mc_eid=0ac4593ac6#2.
- 311. "Entrepreneurship in American Higher Education" (Kauffman Foundation, July 2008), https://www.kauffman.org/-/media/kauffman_org/research-reports-andcovers/2008/07/entrep_high_ed_report.pdf.
- 312. Arnobio Morelix, "The Evolution of Entrepreneurship on College Campuses" (Kauffman Foundation, October 2015), https://www.kauffman.org/currents/2015/10/the-evolution-of-entrepreneurship-on-college-campuses.
- 313. Ibid.

- 314. "European Productivity Agency," Historical Archives of the European Union, https://archives.eui.eu/en/isaar/40.
- 315. For example, see European Commission, *Role and Mandate of National Productivity Boards*, https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/economic-and-fiscal-policy-coordination/nationalproductivity-boards_en#role-and-mandate-of-national-productivity-boards.
- 316. "Current Members," The European Productivity Network (EANPC), accessed July 25, 2018, http://www.eanpc.eu/en/members/current-members/.
- 317. For example, see Robert Atkinson, "Proceed With Caution When Considering New, Flawed stufy on the Economic Impact of Bonus Depreciation" *Innovation Files*, February 21, 2019, https://itif.org/publications/2019/02/21/proceed-caution-when-considering-new-flawed-studyeconomic-impact-bonus.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank the following ITIF staff for providing input to this report: Doug Brake, Daniel Castro, Alan McQuinn, Josh New, Nigel Cory, and Eline Chivot. Any errors or omissions are the authors' alone.

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Robert D. Atkinson is the founder and president of the Information Technology and Innovation Foundation. He is also the coauthor of the book *Innovation Economics: The Race for Global Advantage* (Yale, 2012). Atkinson received his Ph.D. in city and regional planning from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in 1989.

Stephen Ezell is vice president, global innovation policy, at ITIF. He focuses on innovation policy as well as international competitiveness and trade policy issues. He is coauthor of *Innovating in a Service-Driven Economy: Insights, Application, and Practice* (Palgrave MacMillan, 2015) and *Innovation Economics: The Race for Global Advantage* (Yale, 2012). Ezell holds a B.S. from the School of Foreign Service at Georgetown University.

ABOUT ITIF

The Information Technology and Innovation Foundation (ITIF) is a nonprofit, nonpartisan research and educational institute focusing on the intersection of technological innovation and public policy. Recognized as the world's leading science and technology think tank, ITIF's mission is to formulate and promote policy solutions that accelerate innovation and boost productivity to spur growth, opportunity, and progress.

FOR MORE INFORMATION, VISIT US AT WWW.ITIF.ORG.